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Rebel Journalism
The Writings of Wilfred Burchett

This book is an anthology of the writings of Wilfred Burchett, perhaps the
greatest journalist and war correspondent Australia has ever produced.
He was also one of the most controversial figures of the Cold War, both
here and overseas. Burchett published more than 30 books, and this
volume brings together extracts from most of these, spanning the
entire breadth of his career, from World War II, through Hiroshima,
Eastern Europe, Korea, Russia, Laos, Cambodia, China, Vietnam, Angola,
Rhodesia (Zimbabwe) and other areas from which Burchett reported.
The book presents these documents of reportage mostly in chronological
order, and thus serves not only as a significant historical overview of the
period, but also as a reader in Cold War journalism.

George Burchett is an artist and translator. In 2005 he co-edited, with
Nick Shimmin, Memoirs of a Rebel Journalist: The Autobiography of Wilfred
Burchett.

Nick Shimmin completed a doctorate at the University of Lancaster in
1989 on the Manx writers T.E. Brown and Hall Caine. Since that time he
has worked in sales and marketing and as a subtitling editor at the Special
Broadcasting Service.
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Foreword
by John Pilger1

In the late spring of 1980, shortly before I was due to leave for
Cambodia, I received a phone call from Paris. A familiar, husky
voice came quickly to the point. ‘Can you postpone?’ he said. ‘I’ve
heard about a Khmer Rouge list and you’re on it. I’m worried about
you.’

That Wilfred Burchett was worried about the welfare of another
human being was not surprising; the quintessence of the man lay in
what he did not say. He neglected to mention not only that he was
on the same ‘list’, but that a few weeks earlier, at the age of seventy
and seriously ill, he had survived a bloody ambush laid for him
by Khmer Rouge assassins, who wounded a travelling companion.
(Wilfred’s intelligence was as reliable as ever; I narrowly escaped a
similar ambush at the same place he was attacked.) I have known
other brave reporters; I have not known another who, through half
a century of risk-taking, demonstrated as much concern for others
and such valour on behalf of others.

He took risks to smuggle Jews out of Nazi Germany, to drag
American wounded to safety during the Pacific war, and to seek out
prisoners of war in Japan in 1945, to tell them help was coming; the
list is long. He sustained a variety of bombardment, from Burma to
Korea, to Indochina, yet he retained a compassion coupled with an
innocence bordering at times on naı̈veté. None of these qualities
were shared with the vociferous few who worked to bring him
down.

1 This foreword is a revised version of the author’s essay in B. Kiernan (ed.), Burchett: Report-
ing the Other Side of the World 1939–1983 (London: Quartet Books; Sydney: Australasian
Publishing Company, 1986).
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x Foreword

Wilfred’s politics were both instinctive and shaped by the harsh
poverty of his upbringing more than by intellectual fashion. Shortly
before he died he told me he had never become a communist.
‘How could I be a communist?’ he said. ‘There were so many par-
ties, each drawing on different circumstances, different conditions.
Which one was I to choose? I chose none, because I wanted to
remain just me . . .’ If anyone made real the romantic notion of
the Australian iconoclast it was Wilfred Burchett. And although his
innate decency and affable personality eschewed doctrine (many of
Wilfred’s friends were non-socialists, even anti-socialists) at times
he seemed more diplomat than journalist. Wilfred would have
explained this as being part of the ‘icebreaker’, or go-between, role
he adopted and which was, as he put it, ‘a useful and honourable
thing to do’. If he repeated official explanations uncritically (as
during the disastrous land-reform campaigns in North Vietnam
in the 1950s), the instances of him going against the doctrines of
those he supported are numerous; in any case, he was seldom as
close to governments on the ‘other side’ of the Cold War as many
Western journalists are to governments and institutions, almost
instinctively. Perhaps, like all originals, Wilfred Burchett was also
something of an enigma.

What is beyond question is that the abiding strength of Wilfred’s
character – courage – allowed him to surrender commitment to a
‘cause’ when that cause no longer deserved his support. Although
this withdrawal sometimes suffered from delayed action, as in the
case of the Khmer Rouge, he would not hesitate to say that he had
been wrong. ‘You’ve got to be able to look your children in the eye
and look at yourself and not be ashamed,’ he said. ‘You have to
know when to let go . . . The question journalists, and politicians,
have to ask themselves is, “Do you get off in time, or do you follow a
line out of blind loyalty?” It takes courage to say, “Look, I’m wrong
on this; I’m letting go.”’

In China his friendship with foreign minister and later premier
Zhou En-lai and other vintage revolutionaries was ‘let go’ with
much heart-searching and sadness when he perceived the Chinese
leadership’s hostility to the Vietnamese at the very climax of Viet-
nam’s struggle for independence. He was forced to abandon his old
confrere Prince Sihanouk, whom he had supported for twenty-five
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years, when Sihanouk allied himself with the forces of Pol Pot:
‘The wrench,’ as the historian Ben Kiernan has written, ‘must have
hurt’. I remember well his agonizing over Sihanouk who, he felt,
had betrayed him personally, not to mention his own people.

At the end of his life it was the Vietnamese who remained alone
in his pantheon. Having shared something of the Vietnamese expe-
rience, I can understand that. ‘They have never let me down,’ he
once said in a mellow mood, allowing a glimpse of his vulnerability.

Paradoxically, Wilfred was vulnerable because he was, in the
strictly professional sense, such a fine journalist. His two great-
est ‘scoops’ left no doubt about that, while adding a precarious
dimension to his life. The first was Hiroshima. He was the first
Western reporter to reach Hiroshima after the atomic bomb had
been dropped on 6 August 1945. He had been warned by an official
of the Japanese press agency that ‘no one goes to Hiroshima: every-
one is dying there’. He ignored this of course. He feigned illness
at Allied press headquarters in Yokohama, in order to slip away
from the press ‘pack’, and with his beef ration he bought a ticket to
Hiroshima.

The journey, mostly in darkness, demonstrated the Burchett
courage. Here was a European alone in a train filled with soldiers,
armed and sullen and almost certainly bitter at the moment of
defeat. At two o’clock in the morning he reached Hiroshima and
was promptly thrown into prison. ‘There was some shouting by
the police and the interpreter became pale as she translated my
rare interventions,’ he wrote. The ‘shouting’, he later learned, was
about whether or not he was to be shot. It was only a senior officer of
the ‘Thought Police’ who decided the foreigner should live. ‘Show
him,’ he said, ‘what his people have done to us.’

What Wilfred saw was published all over the front page of the
London Daily Express beneath the headline, I WRITE THIS AS
A WARNING TO THE WORLD. ‘In Hiroshima, thirty days after
the first atomic bomb destroyed the city and shook the world,’
he reported, ‘people are still dying mysteriously and horribly –
people who were uninjured in the cataclysm – from an unknown
something which I can only describe as the atomic plague . . .’

In comprehending and identifying an ‘atomic plague’, he had
rumbled the experimental nature of this first use of a nuclear
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weapon against people. ‘It was a considerable ordeal to reach
Hiroshima,’ wrote the distinguished American journalist T.D. All-
man in his eulogy for Wilfred, ‘but it was an infinitely greater
accomplishment, back then, to understand the importance of
Hiroshima.’

Wilfred returned to Tokyo in time to attend a press conference
especially convened to deny and discredit his story. He later wrote,

A scientist in brigadier-general’s uniform explained that there could be
no question of atomic radiation or the symptoms I had described, since
the bombs had been exploded at such a height as to avoid any risk of
‘residual radiation’. There was a dramatic moment as I rose to my feet
[Wilfred’s sense of the ‘dramatic moment’ was highly tuned], feeling my
scruffiness put me at a disadvantage with the elegantly uniformed and
be-medalled officers.My first question was whether the briefing officer
had been to Hiroshima. He had not . . . He discounted the allegation
that any who had not been in the city at the time of the blast were later
affected. Eventually the exchanges narrowed down to my asking how
he explained the fish still dying when they entered a stream running
through the centre of the city. . . The spokesman looked pained. ‘I’m
afraid you’ve fallen victim to Japanese propaganda,’ he said, and sat
down.

Wilfred had blown a momentous cover-up. Reporters flown to
Hiroshima were kept away from the hospitals he had seen and
where there was clear evidence of the ‘atomic plague’. Burchett had
his accreditation withdrawn and was issued with an expulsion order
(from Japan), although it was later rescinded. Strict censorship was
introduced. Japanese film of the victims of the ‘atomic plague’ was
confiscated, classified ‘top secret’ and sent to Washington; it was
not released until 1968. Three times as many people died from
the effects of radiation in the five-year period after the two atomic
bombs fell on Japan than on the days of the explosions; and the
victims continue to die from it at a rate of at least a thousand a year.
Wilfred Burchett was never forgiven for understanding and telling
this truth, and telling it first. Moreover, as Phillip Knightley has
pointed out, he ‘went totally against everything else being written
from Japan at that time, the “they-had-it-coming-to-them” and
“I-saw-the-arrogant-strutting-Japs-humbled” type of story’.
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He was, for a brief time, a universal hero. This is Jim Vine report-
ing in the Brisbane Courier Mail on 11 September 1945:

A pocket-handkerchief-size Australian, Wilfred Burchett, left all other
correspondents standing in covering the occupation of Japan.

Armed with a typewriter, seven packets of K rations, a Colt revolver,
and incredible hope, he made a one-man penetration of Japan, was
the first correspondent into atomic-bomb-blasted Hiroshima, and ‘lib-
erated’ five prison camps . . .

After Hiroshima, Burchett embarked on his one-man liberation tour
of prison camps, visiting two on the West Honshu coast and three on
the inland sea, before official rescue parties reached them.

At Tsuruga camp he sprang a masterly piece of bluff which caused
hundreds of Japanese to lay down their arms and gave the inmates
their first steak dinner in three and a half years.

Here the inmates were alarmed at the increasing concentration of
Japanese soldiers, all fully armed. Burchett sent for the camp com-
mandant, known as ‘The Pig’, refused to answer his salute and bow,
and, with delighted American marines for an audience, upbraided him
soundly for not seeing that the surrender terms were carried out . . .

However, Western establishment forces never forgave him for
his revelation of the truth of an ‘atomic plague’; and he was to
pay a high price for reporting from the ‘other side’ during the
Cold War. For seventeen years, he and his children were denied
passports by the Australian government. No charges were brought
against him; no ‘crime’ was ever stated. In a letter in April 1956
to Brian Fitzpatrick of the Australian Council for Civil Liberties,
Harold Holt, then Minister of lmmigration and later Australian
Prime Minister, wrote that Wilfred Burchett ‘left Australia fifteen
years ago. He has not since returned, his wife is not an Australian . . .

in addition his activities since his departure forfeited any claim he
might have had to the protection he would receive as the holder of
an Australian passport.’ When later, an Australian judge described
the smearing of Wilfred as a ‘miscarriage of justice’, he spoke the
truth.

In his eulogy to Wilfred, T.D. Allman posed the question, ‘What
is objectivity?’ He answered this by saying that objective journalism
‘not only gets the facts right, it gets the meaning of events right and
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is validated not only by “reliable sources” but by the unfolding of
history’. He then asked whether or not Wilfred Burchett was being
objective

when he perceived a great threat to civilization in Nazi Germany, when
he perceived a great moral test for the whole world in the persecution
of the Jews . . . when he saw Hiroshima as the gravest threat to the
survival of humanity itself . . . when he refused to see the Cold War
as a clear-cut battle between Western good and Communist evil . . .

when he said the Communist Chinese were not the pawns of Moscow
. . . when he said that the revolutionary ferment of Asia and Africa
after World War Two was not the product of some conspiracy to take
over the world, but the product of the legitimate yearnings of the Third
World for freedom, dignity and progress . . . We all, I think, know the
answers to these questions.

I never discerned in him any bitterness, although God knows
he must have felt it at times. He was almost always broke, yet
he laboured at his work, ‘pounding on my ancient typewriter’, as
he used to say, with unflagging cheerfulness and optimism which
endeared him to so many people in so many countries – coun-
tries where, until shortly before he died, he had followed his old-
fashioned dictum of being ‘on the spot’.

I once asked him about his optimism and the scars that did not
show.

We were in Vietnam at the time and he was pounding on that
ancient typewriter, surrounded by screwed-up balls of paper (I
think he was writing his thirtieth book at the time), festoons
of washing and cans of beer cooling on equally ancient air-
conditioners.

‘To be happy,’ he said, ‘you’ve got to learn to slay only one bloody
dragon at a time.’ This was followed by a burst of impish laughter,
and a beer, and another, and another . . . Wilfred was kinder to his
‘bloody dragons’ than he was to himself. Alas.

John Pilger, July 2007



Foreword
by Gavan McCormack

One of the paradoxes of 20th century Australia was that the
man who stirred greater public hatred and abuse than any other
should also have been one who embodied its supposed core values:
independent-mindedness, multiculturalism (long before the word
became familiar), pragmatism, love of argument and of food, and
a preference always for the common man and the underdog against
authority.1

Born into a family of dissenting, cosmopolitan farmers and
laborers, Wilfred Burchett grew up in an atmosphere of deep respect
for learning and self-improvement. Before he became reporter and
foreign correspondent, he was a cow cocky (dairy farmer), carpen-
ter, cane cutter and vacuum cleaner salesman. He educated himself,
learned languages, and travelled widely, keeping his eyes and mind
open. He mixed easily and in later life earned the gratitude and
respect of people from Vietnam’s Ho Chi Minh and Cambodia’s
Prince Sihanouk to American General William Dean (when Dean
was a prisoner in Korea), and Henry Kissinger (who sought his
advice and help in negotiating an end to the war in Vietnam). But
in Australia he was Public Enemy Number One, for much of his life
subject to the unique sanction of exclusion from his own country.

1 For details and documentation, see my essays: Gavan McCormack, ‘An Australian Drey-
fus? The Strange Case of Wilfred Burchett, Journalist,’ Australian Society (Melbourne),
Vol. 3, Number 8, 1 August 1984, pp. 6–12; Gavan McCormack, The New Right and Human
Rights: “Cultural Freedom” and the Burchett Affair,’ Meanjin (Melbourne, University of
Melbourne), 1986, No. 3, pp. 389–422; Gavan McCormack, ‘Korea: Wilfred Burchett’s
Thirty Years’ War’ in B. Kiernan (ed.), Burchett: Reporting the Other Side of the World
1939–1983 (London, Quartet Books; Sydney, Australasian Publishing Company, 1986),
pp. 162–211.
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His was a peculiar kind of Australian bush socialism, not
informed by any formal ideology or membership of any party but
grounded in a moral sense of the dignity of the common man
and of the righteousness of struggle against oppression. ‘Authori-
ties’ are uncomfortable with such people, and the family attracted
their attention long before Wilfred ventured onto the world stage.
In the 1920s, the Ballarat sermons of Wilfred’s father George were
reported as subversive (of the empire) for their references to human
equality, and the same term was applied in the 1930s to Wilfred’s
Poowong Discussion Club (comprised of poor farmers, the local
butter factory manager, a blacksmith and a school teacher in ‘back-
block’ rural Victoria) when it began hosting discussions with vis-
iting speakers on subjects including life in the Soviet Union.

In 1938, Wilfred journeyed to Nazi Germany. The experience of
fascism so horrified him that he mobilized his Poowong group to
become immigration sponsors, opening a rescue line for German
Jews that was in due course responsible for funnelling thirty-six
of them to Poowong and Melbourne. But suspicions were stirred,
and surveillance initiated, for what was an ‘uneducated’ Australian
farmer doing in Berlin? One letter he wrote describing the horrors
of Nazism, confiscated by the Australian censor, was not delivered
until 47 years later, in 1985.

Few people – perhaps none – accumulated so voluminous an
intelligence file across so many government departments, and no
such file could be more revealing of the foibles, obsessions, cruelty,
and petty-mindedness of a generation of Australian politicians and
bureaucrats. He was accused of:

a. being a paid agent of the KGB, and of the Chinese, North Korean,
Vietnamese and possibly other intelligence or military organi-
zations;

b. of interrogating and/or brainwashing and/or torturing Aus-
tralian and/or British and American POWs in Korea during
the Korean War (1950–1953);

c. of cooperating in, or actually masterminding, a campaign by
China and North Korea during the Korean War falsely alleging
the American use of germ warfare;

d. of being a blackmarketeer, an alcoholic, and attractive to women
[sic].
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The charges were unproven, contradictory and improbable,
when not positively absurd. Or – as in the alleged attractiveness
to women – hinting at deep personal bitterness or jealousy on the
part of those campaigning against him.

After long pleading with the Australian government to let him
know details of the charges against him so that he could rebut
them and return to his own country, in 1974 Burchett launched a
court action for defamation. He won, but it was the most Pyrrhic of
victories. The court of first instance held that he had been defamed,
but that the defamation was protected by parliamentary privilege,
and the Court of Appeal then ruled that although he had suffered ‘a
substantial miscarriage of justice’ he was not entitled to any redress
because his counsel had failed to protest in the appropriate way
and at the appropriate time. Since costs were awarded against him,
and he could not pay, his attempt to clear his name in effect made
his exile permanent.

His gravest offense may have been his refusal to toe any official
or government line. Such was the fear and loathing this inspired
that, on a 1951 visit to his home town, Melbourne, the Lord Mayor
cancelled a Burchett lecture on world developments, expostulating
that ‘the letting of the town hall for a meeting in support of peace
would be against the principles of the United Nations’. Later, when
some of the family chose to live alongside Port Phillip Bay in a
Melbourne suburb, government spies speculated that the choice
might have been designed to facilitate communication with ‘the
enemy’ (by submarine).

No single episode in his life caused him such trouble as the
decision to report the Korean War (1950–1953) peace talks and the
POW issues from the other side, as a journalist whose accreditation
came from the press department of the Chinese Ministry of Foreign
Affairs. What he reported was diametrically opposed to the way
the political and military leadership of the West saw the war and
tried, falsely, to present it. When the false, garbled, and malicious
stories of his activities in Korea are discounted, what remains is
the portrait of an honest man who tried to tell the truth, who was
almost alone in seeing the war primarily from the viewpoint of the
suffering Korean people rather than of great powers or his own or
any other government, and who, by helping to crack the censorship
and lies propagated by other journalists when they were told to by
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‘responsible military authorities,’ may well have helped shorten the
war.

My attempt just over twenty years ago to reopen the debate
on Burchett in Australia was dismissed with characteristic Cold
War smear – that I was teaching ‘a neo-Stalinist version of post-
war Asian history’ to my students and ‘doctoring history.’2 Prize-
winning opinion leaders and media groups showed no sense of
the fair play that was supposed to be embedded in the national
character. Hopefully, with the publication of the present collection
of essays, together with the recent publication of a new edition
of Wilfred Burchett’s autobiography and a new critical biography,
those Cold War prejudices can be transcended at last and a new
generation will take a dispassionate look at the life and work of the
20th century’s Public Enemy Number One.

Professor Gavan McCormack
Canberra, 25 June 2007

2 Robert Manne, Left Right Left, Political Essays 1977–2005, (Melbourne, Black Inc, 2005).



Introduction

In the 21st century it is perhaps harder than ever to operate as
a good investigative journalist. The age of ‘embedded’ correspon-
dents and massive government and corporate advertising produces
writing which is influenced or controlled to a greater or lesser extent
by the powers which dominate world events. So for journalists in
both the corporate and public sector it is often a case of toeing
the editorial or government line or losing their jobs. Likewise, for
broadcasters and newspapers it is often necessary to promote or
be silent about the policies and ideology of the incumbent gov-
ernment and its institutional supporters or lose public funding or
political advertising revenue. The internet has countered this by
giving genuinely independent investigative journalists a platform,
but it remains, as yet, a small one.

In this environment it is instructive to have access to a body
of work from a genuinely independent reporter, one who had his
own ideas and politics which were clearly expressed throughout
his career. The writing of Australian journalist Wilfred Burchett
looms large in any history of 20th century reportage, and not just
as a result of one of the great scoops of the century, his solo journey
to Hiroshima after the first bomb was dropped. Burchett covered
most major world conflicts over four decades from World War II
onwards, and this book attempts to represent this immense breadth
of reporting by including chapters from most of his published books
over the entire period of his working life. The chapters are presented
chronologically according to the events being described, but the
selection is bookended by Burchett’s two discourses on Hiroshima:
his first celebrated scoop and his reflection on nuclear war in his
last book.

xix



xx Introduction

The fact that Burchett travelled the world covering so many
of these extraordinary world-changing events means that such an
overview of Burchett’s writing can serve as a reader in the Cold War
and its journalism. Such an idea would be anathema to Burchett’s
critics, however, because he did not report these events dispassion-
ately. When he saw injustice and hardship, he criticised those he
believed responsible for it. He was never shy about expressing pref-
erence, and readers are left in no doubt that Burchett preferred
his revolutionaries in sandals rather than in boots, in tropical jun-
gles rather than on the frozen banks of the Yalu River, and that
his heroes – Ho Chi Minh, Chou En-lai, Sihanouk of Cambodia,
Souphanouvong of Laos, Castro and a few others – were men he
had met in the flesh and with whom he established a close personal
rapport. He could be highly subjective, but he was never ideologi-
cal. His political choices were his personal choices, not dictated by
allegiance to a political party.

Inevitably though, his support for many of the socialist and
Communist regimes who were being characterised as ‘evil’ by
the mainstream Western media led to Burchett himself being
demonised by those same media. Nevertheless, much of what
Burchett reported, which was dismissed by his opponents at the
time, has since proven accurate, and though his political sympa-
thies led him to mistakes and errors of judgement, he admitted
most of these and moved on to correct the record (a clear exam-
ple of this is his writing about the Khmer Rouge and China –
see Chapters 28 and 29). This book naturally includes examples
of Burchett’s more polemical and misguided work, but the over-
whelming majority of the chapters here demonstrate an accurate
insight into current events sadly lacking in so many of his contem-
poraries. The presence of errors and revisions in no way discredits
his work; it simply highlights the difference between the vulnera-
ble immediacy of journalism as opposed to the relative security of
historical distance.

The insight on display partly explains the resonance of Burchett’s
work with new audiences. The recent publication of the unexpur-
gated version of his autobiography provoked strident responses in
the press and on the internet, reminiscent of the Cold War-era
reactions Burchett encountered during his life. The reasons for
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this continued impact are not hard to find. Readers of the present
volume will be startled by the similarities between much of what
Burchett describes and many of the events they are reading about
in the news. Parallels with the US-led invasion and occupation of
Iraq are immediately apparent while reading his accounts of the
Vietnam War (Chapter 19, for example, in describing the motiva-
tions of the Vietnamese, gives as good an insight into the attitudes
of the Iraqi resistance as any contemporary account). Issues such
as military abuse, government censorship, imperialist intentions,
public perceptions of military conflicts, attacks on civilians, cor-
ruption and many more are as crucial in this book as they are in the
more informed coverage of the Iraqi occupation. This too confirms
the relevance of the present volume as a contribution to the study
of journalism and the issues it confronts, which are ongoing and
not confined to any one historical period.

Nick Shimmin, June 2007
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The Atomic Plague [1945]

On 6 August 1945, as I shuffled along in the ‘chow line’ for lunch with
fifty or so weary marines at a company cookhouse in Okinawa, a radio was
spluttering away with no one paying attention to it as usual . . . I strained
my ears to pick up a few snatches from the radio – enough to learn that the
world’s first A-bomb had been dropped on a place called Hiroshima.1

Wilfred Burchett’s international reputation as a journalist and war correspon-
dent was built upon one of the great scoops of 20th century reportage. After the
second atomic bomb was dropped on Japan in August 1945 and the Japanese
had announced their surrender, the Americans issued accreditation to several
hundred correspondents to report on the signing of the surrender documents.
All the accredited journalists dutifully made their way to the USS Missouri,
but Burchett ‘slipped the leash’ and in the small hours of the morning of
2 September 1945, he boarded a train for Hiroshima.

The story of his journey to the bomb site and his efforts to get the despatch to
London is one of the epic tales of modern journalism. General MacArthur had
not yet sent official US Army journalists to the bomb site to manufacture a
propaganda story (they arrived while Burchett was there), and so the following
report was the first independent account of the results of the nuclear attack to
appear anywhere in the world.

The impact of the following article on world opinion and the subsequent debate
about nuclear weapons cannot be overestimated.

∗ ∗ ∗

1
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The Atomic Plague

‘I Write This as a Warning to the World’

Doctors Fall as They Work

Poison gas fear: All wear masks

Express Staff Reporter Peter Burchett [sic] was the first Allied staff
reporter to enter the atom-bomb city. He travelled 400 miles from
Tokyo alone and unarmed carrying rations for seven meals – food is
almost unobtainable in Japan – a black umbrella, and a typewriter.
Here is his story from –

HIROSHIMA, Tuesday.

In Hiroshima, 30 days after the first atomic bomb destroyed the
city and shook the world, people are still dying, mysteriously and
horribly – people who were uninjured by the cataclysm – from an
unknown something which I can only describe as atomic plague.

Hiroshima does not look like a bombed city. It looks as if a
monster steamroller had passed over it and squashed it out of exis-
tence. I write these facts as dispassionately as I can in the hope that
they will act as a warning to the world. In this first testing ground
of the atomic bomb I have seen the most terrible and frightening
desolation in four years of war. It makes a blitzed Pacific island seem
like an Eden. The damage is far greater than photographs can show.

When you arrive in Hiroshima you can look around and for 25,
perhaps 30, square miles you can hardly see a building. It gives you
an empty feeling in the stomach to see such man-made devastation.

I picked my way to a shack [sic] used as a temporary police
headquarters in the middle of the vanished city. Looking south
from there I could see about three miles of reddish rubble. That
is all the atomic bomb left of dozens of blocks of city streets, of
buildings, homes, factories and human beings.

Still They Fall

There is just nothing standing except about 20 factory chimneys –
chimneys with no factories. I looked west. A group of half a dozen
gutted buildings. And then again nothing.
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The police chief of Hiroshima welcomed me eagerly as the first
Allied correspondent to reach the city. With the local manager of
Domei, a leading Japanese news agency, he drove me through, or
perhaps I should say over, the city. And he took me to hospitals
where the victims of the bomb are still being treated.

In these hospitals I found people who, when the bomb fell, suf-
fered absolutely no injuries, but now are dying from the uncanny
after-effects.

For no apparent reason their health began to fail. They lost
appetite. Their hair fell out. Bluish spots appeared on their bodies.
And the bleeding began from the ears, nose and mouth.

At first the doctors told me they thought these were the symp-
toms of general debility. They gave their patients Vitamin A injec-
tions. The results were horrible. The flesh started rotting away from
the hole caused by the injection of the needle.

And in every case the victim died.
That is one of the after-effects of the first atomic bomb man ever

dropped and I do not want to see any more examples of it. But in
walking through the month-old rubble I found others.

The Sulphur Smell

My nose detected a peculiar odour unlike anything I have ever
smelled before. It is something like sulphur, but not quite. I could
smell it when I passed a fire that was still smouldering, or at a spot
where they were still recovering bodies from the wreckage. But I
could also smell it where everything was still deserted.

They believe it is given off by the poisonous gas still issuing from
the earth soaked with radioactivity released by the split uranium
atom.

And so the people of Hiroshima today are walking through the
forlorn desolation of their once proud city with gauze masks over
their mouths and noses. It probably does not help them physically.
But it helps them mentally.

From the moment that this devastation was loosed upon
Hiroshima the people who survived have hated the white man.
It is a hate the intensity of which is almost as frightening as the
bomb itself.
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‘All Clear’ Went

The counted dead number 53,000. Another 30,000 are missing,
which means ‘certainly dead’. In the day I have stayed in Hiroshima –
and this is nearly a month after the bombing – 100 people have died
from its effects.

They were some of the 13,000 seriously injured by the explosion.
They have been dying at the rate of 100 a day. And they will probably
all die. Another 40,000 were slightly injured.

These casualties might not have been as high except for a tragic
mistake. The authorities thought this was just another routine
Super-Fort raid. The plane flew over the target and dropped the
parachute which carried the bomb to its explosion point.

The American plane passed out of sight. The all-clear was
sounded and the people of Hiroshima came out from their shelters.
Almost a minute later the bomb reached the 2,000 foot altitude at
which it was timed to explode – at the moment when nearly every-
one in Hiroshima was in the streets.

Hundreds upon hundreds of the dead were so badly burned in
the terrific heat generated by the bomb that it was not even possible
to tell whether they were men or women, old or young.

Of thousands of others, nearer the centre of the explosion, there
was no trace. They vanished. The theory in Hiroshima is that the
atomic heat was so great that they burned instantly to ashes – except
that there were no ashes.

If you could see what is left of Hiroshima you would think that
London had not been touched by bombs.

Heap of Rubble

The Imperial Palace, once an imposing building, is a heap of rubble
three feet high, and there is one piece of wall. Roof, floors and
everything else is dust.

Hiroshima has one intact building – the Bank of Japan. This in
a city which at the start of the war had a population of 310,000.

Almost every Japanese scientist has visited Hiroshima in the past
three weeks to try to find a way of relieving the people’s suffering.
Now they themselves have become sufferers.

For the first fortnight after the bomb dropped they found they
could not stay long in the fallen city. They had dizzy spells and
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headaches. Then minor insect bites developed into great swellings
which would not heal. Their health steadily deteriorated.

Then they found another extraordinary effect of the new terror
from the skies.

Many people had suffered only a slight cut from a falling splinter
of brick or steel. They should have recovered quickly. But they did
not. They developed an acute sickness. Their gums began to bleed.
And then they vomited blood. And finally they died.

All these phenomena, they told me, were due to the radio-activity
released by the atomic bomb’s explosion of the uranium atom.

Water Poisoned

They found that the water had been poisoned by chemical reaction.
Even today every drop of water consumed in Hiroshima comes from
other cities. The people of Hiroshima are still afraid.

The scientists told me they have noted a great difference between
the effect of the bombs in Hiroshima and in Nagasaki.

Hiroshima is in perfectly flat delta country. Nagasaki is hilly.
When the bomb dropped on Hiroshima the weather was bad, and
a big rainstorm developed soon afterwards.

And so they believe that the uranium radiation was driven into
the earth and that, because so many are still falling sick and dying,
it is still the cause of this man-made plague.

At Nagasaki, on the other hand, the weather was perfect, and
scientists believe that this allowed the radio-activity to dissipate
into the atmosphere more rapidly. In addition, the force of the
bomb’s explosion was, to a large extent, expended into the sea,
where only fish were killed.

To support this theory, the scientists point to the fact that, in
Nagasaki, death came swiftly, suddenly, and that there have been
no after-effects such as those that Hiroshima is still suffering.

[The Daily Express, London, 5 September 1945.]
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With Mick Griffith to the Plaine
des Lacs [1941]

In 1937 Burchett boarded a ship to England and in 1938 he travelled to Nazi
Germany and experienced first hand the horrors of fascism while helping Jews
escape its terror. On returning to Australia he bombarded the newspapers with
letters warning against the danger posed by German and Japanese militarism,
but they were ignored. The mood at the time was one of appeasement and
conciliation, but when Hitler attacked Poland and Chamberlain declared war
on Germany, Burchett was suddenly in demand as ‘one of the last Australians
to leave Germany before the war’.

Then on New Year’s Eve 1940 he set out to investigate Japanese activities in
New Caledonia, recognising the French colony’s strategic importance in the
event of war with Japan. Pacific Treasure Island is the result of this trip. It
was also Burchett’s first book and he was obviously enjoying himself and his
newly discovered writing talents, making the most of the exotic locations and
colourful locals. The following chapter demonstrates this, but it also displays
Burchett’s acute sensitivity to geopolitical circumstances.

By the time this book was published, Burchett was on his way to Burma and
China, and the start of his career as a war correspondent.

∗ ∗ ∗
Mick Griffith is one of the best known mining characters in New
Caledonia – and one of the best liked. Mick admits that he likes a
drink or two – or more – but always hastens to tell you that when
he’s in the bush he’s ‘off the likker.’ With his brother he came to
New Caledonia in the early 1900’s – as a timber-getter – helping
to deplete the giant kauri forests which existed in the early days
of the colony. When timber-getting began to be played out, Mick
turned his attention to prospecting and mining, and found that
one can have much more luxurious debauches from the results of

6
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a successful prospecting tour, than after years of toil as a timber-
getter.

Thus when he returned to Sydney and Melbourne in 1939 after
having sold his nickel mine to Krupps’ representative he was able
to go through £1,500 in six weeks with the greatest of pleasure. He
borrowed his fare back to Noumea, and regarded his new situation
quite philosophically. ‘There’s plenty more holes in the ground
where a man can pick up a few more quid when he wants them,’
said Mick, and promptly went bush again for a few weeks. The
result of this trip caused a well-known Australian mining engineer
to rush across to New Caledonia, and caused another even better-
known industrial concern to send over their expert a few weeks
later to check up on the report brought back by the first engineer.

When I met Mick he wasn’t very sober, but he had such an open,
likeable face that it was difficult not to take notice of what he said,
even if his language was a little thick.

‘So yer’n Australian journalist are yer, hic?’ he asked.
‘Well, I can show yer something that’ll make yer ****** eyes pop

right out of yer ****** head . . . We’ll get a car, shove a bit of kai kai
in a bag.

‘Uve yer got any blankets?’ he demanded suddenly. ‘Well it don’t
matter, Priday and I’ll get enough of ’ern.’ (Mr. Priday, by the way,
is Reuter’s and United Press’ correspondent in New Caledonia, and
formerly well known in West Australian journalistic circles.)

‘Yer don’ mind sleepin’ on the ground? Good. We’ll get the ******
car to Plum, to the Forestière if we can, an’ I’ll ring the Jap so’s
he’ll have the choot-choot motor ready for us to go up to the
23 kilometre.’

All these directions meant nothing to me, but as Priday nodded
to me every now and again to agree, I made intelligent noises of
assent. Without having the slightest idea of where we were going
or what we were going to see, I agreed to be ready at 5 o’clock next
morning for a three days’ excursion – somewhere.

At 5 a.m. I was sitting on the edge of the bed waiting for a motor
car to hoot, as arranged. At 6 a.m. I was still sitting there. At 6.15
I went down and had coffee, and commenced searching for Mick.
Arrived at his hotel – everybody in New Caledonia who hasn’t a
home lives in a hotel – I found Priday vainly trying to remind Mick
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of the excursion he had promised for the three of us. My entrance
clinched the discussion, and Mick jumped out of bed, apologising
for his lapse of memory.

Blankets were rolled up into swags, Mick searched for and found
his compass, while Priday went looking for a taxi. The next thing
was the purchase of kai kai – which in any part of the Pacific signifies
food. Priday, who had a bad cold, was in favour of taking along a
bottle of rum, but Mick, to my surprise, was strongly opposed to
this. He knew his limitations. Kai kai consisted of half a dozen long
rolls of bread, 6 tins each of beef, pate (type of beef paste) and
preserved fruit, with a couple of dozen small lemons with which to
fight Priday’s cold.

The 5 a.m. became 10.30 a.m. by the time our taxi rolled
out of Noumea and turned south-eastwards towards our first
destination – Plum, about 30 kilometres from Noumea. On the
way we passed the St. Louis mission station, one of the earliest mis-
sion settlements in the island – and possessing 10,000 acres of the
richest land within miles of Noumea. It was obtained by giving a few
axes to tribal chiefs. Most of the colony’s sugar used to be grown at
St. Louis, but now there is only enough cultivated for the monks to
distil the famous St. Louis rum, known by connoisseurs the world
over. As we drove past, a new crop was flourishing on the flat level
acres bordering the road – the monks’ first attempt to grow rice in
New Caledonia. Arrived at our Plum, we had to obtain permission
from the gendarme before we could proceed. There had been an
outbreak of the plague in a Catholic mission station at Touaourou,
in the direction of our excursion, and a ‘cordon sanitaire’ had been
placed around the entire district. As we were able to convince the
gendarme that we weren’t going within the prescribed distance of
the plague spot, we were allowed to continue.

Mick and Priday explained to me then, that in normal circum-
stances we would have gone by boat to within a few miles of our
destination, but the plague had interrupted the coastal steamer ser-
vice, and as we had to reach the far side of the island we would have
to go as far as possible by car and ‘choot-choot motor,’ and walk the
rest. I was kept guessing as to the identity of ‘choot-choot motor’
until we arrived at ‘La Forestière,’ the site of a huge timber mill.
My guides informed me that an Australian company had worked
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a kauri concession in this district and taken out millions of feet of
some of the best timber in the world.

The place had something of the air of a ghost camp about it,
with the engines, and lines of sideless trucks which had been used
for bringing the timber down from the forests miles inland, all in
perfect condition. The whole equipment was left just as it had been
when the last log was handled. Tremendous transport difficulties
would make the cost of dismantling and transferring the plant to
Noumea heavier than importing a new one from Sydney. There
were several neatly built houses but no sign of life, until we walked
half a kilometre up the line and could see blue smoke curling up
from one of the cottages.

Mick was hailed with a great shout, and a couple of Japanese who
were at work in a nearby shed, repairing a boat’s bottom, dropped
their tools to come over and welcome Mick, and be presented to
Priday and me. We dropped our packs on the ground alongside
the railway line, and followed the Japanese up to the source of the
blue smoke. Following our guides’ example we slipped our boots
off before we stepped on the spotlessly white, kauri floor of a tidy
verandah. A couple of gravely smiling Javanese women came out.
There were more introductions and we were invited into another
spotlessly clean kauri-planked room.

Tablecloth and plates were laid, a tin of beef, loaf of bread and
a litre of wine produced by the silent bare-footed Javanese. Anti-
mosquito coils were lit, and while Mick, between mouthfuls of
bread and beef, conversed with Japanese and Javanese alike in a vile
mixture of French-Melanesian and Javanese, Priday and I concen-
trated on having a good meal and observing the cleanliness and
tidiness of the bush establishment. Mick’s French was enough to
make any French scholar retch, but, as he said, it was based on
utility rather than grammar, and Mick could certainly make him-
self understood anywhere on the island, whether he was amongst
Javanese, Arabs, Chinese, natives or French. Of course his expres-
sive hands played their part too.

The meal finished, we were introduced to the ‘choot-choot
motor’ – a motor-bike engine geared to a small railway trolley.
There was room for four passengers, one seated on the driver’s
seat, and three more on a long coffin-like narrow box mounted
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directly on the trolley floor. Our provisions were stacked in the
box, a bag thrown over the top for upholstery and we were ready
for our 23 kilometre journey. With a Javanese boy in the saddle and
myself as cameraman installed on the front of the box we set out
along the 24-inch gauge line, while Mick regaled us with stories of
terrible accidents that had occurred along the line.

When the line was laid it seemed they had no curved rails, and the
process of rounding the many hairpin bends en route was extremely
painful, as we lurched round in a series of jumps as the wheels met
the join in the straight rails. Mick explained that it was usually at
these places that the accidents occurred. The ‘choot-choot’ some-
times didn’t make the curve and went straight over, to land in the
river a few hundred feet below us. While my legs were dangling
down in front of the box, Mick remembered another accident that
occurred to a native, who was sitting like me, when a truck load of
ore swung round a corner, hit the ‘choot-choot’ head-on, and cut
the native’s legs off at the knees.

‘You should have seen him as his legs went flying down into
the creek,’ he said enthusiastically. He relieved my feelings and
incidentally Priday’s too, by telling us that the line was out of use
at the present time, so we weren’t likely to encounter any traffic.
Nevertheless I tucked my feet up and sat on them, as apparently the
system of signalling wasn’t very efficient and there seemed no way
of telling if something was travelling in the opposite direction. The
grade was uphill, so no record speeds could be attained, although
I was mentally trying to work out how fast the contraption would
travel when we were coming back with the weight of four men to
give it impetus. For most of the journey the track skirted the Blue
River, a wide rushing stream. With the river on our right, and steep
barren-looking hills on our left, the track wound in and out, skirting
deep gorges on crazy bridges – on which most of the sleepers had
been gouged out by bushfires. The swaying of the bridge reminded
Mick that sometimes sleepers get burnt, the pegs holding the rails
in place get loose in their sockets, the line spreads and ‘away goes
the “choot-choot” over the bridge.’

The Javanese boy sat impassive at the controls, a cigarette
drooping from the corner of his mouth, as we chugged up sidings,
through great red-earthed cuttings, and past the poorest country
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I had seen since arriving in New Caledonia. Practically the only
vegetation was a few stunted – mainly dead – niaouli trees, and a
poor type of ti-trees.

Just as the hills opened out into level country, and the seat seemed
to have made common cause with my tail-bone, we sighted a small
tin shed on our right. This marked the terminus of our ‘choot-
choot’ ride. Mick arranged with the Javanese to pick us up a couple
of days later, we helped him lift the ‘choot-choot’ round and point
it homewards, then shouldered our swags – and the excursion had
really begun.

Our first difficulty was the weight of our swags. With bedclothes
and 12 or 15 pounds each of provisions they were heavy enough,
and Mick’s experience told him that by the time we had covered 10
or 15 kilometres they would be heavier still. We decided to leave a
cache of food in the tin hut, and even if we went short en route,
we would have a glorious ‘beano’ on the night and morning of our
return to the terminus.

Mick took a compass reading, and we set off across the plain
towards what I was convinced was Mick’s gold mine. After about
a kilometre of walking we had to strip off our trousers, and made
across the coldest strip of water I have ever dipped feet into. Another
compass reading by Mick, and within a few hundred yards of the
river we struck a well-worn narrow trail. Except for the numerous
trees along the banks of the river which we crossed and recrossed
several times, the vegetation was mainly waist high reeds, with a
lonesome giant kauri tree towering up in splendid isolation.

Mick relaxed his mysterious silence about our destination suf-
ficiently to tell me that we were on the Plaine des Lacs (Plain of
Lakes) to which in the old days many escaped convicts had fled,
and were either recaptured or lost their way and died of starvation.
After walking fairly solidly for an hour or more, the earth began to
take on a more reddish tinge, vegetation became even sparser, and
there was no living plant more than a few feet high.

Mick stopped us on a little hillock, where there had been a slight
landslide and the subsoil had slipped down, uncovering bare rocks
the colour of dried blood, with the same suggestion of red under-
neath. In a depression in the rocky bottom lay a pool of clear bluish
water.
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‘There y’are,’ said Mick. ‘That’s the beginning of the biggest
****** iron field in the world. See those rocks, they’re dam’ near
pure iron. What you’ve been walking over’s iron, only it’s covered
up with silt washed down from the mountains. But that’s nothing.
That’s only the beginning of it.’

We trudged over a few more kilometres of the crumbly red soil,
with Mick pointing out new outcrops of iron and signs that showed
that iron existed.

‘You see these dead trees,’ and he snapped off a brittle grey tree
that had grown up to five feet and died. ‘Know why they can’t grow?
‘Cause their roots can’t go down. They go down a couple of feet,
then hit the iron floor and – k-r-a-a-a-k, finish. Some of ’em are
lucky and find a crack in the iron. But that doesn’t last long. They
soon hit the solid stuff and that finishes ’em.

‘Know why this place is called Plaine des Lacs?’
‘I suppose because there’s lots of lakes here,’ I offered humbly.
‘Course there’s plenty of lakes here, but why? ’Cause the water

can’t get away. It just sits there on that iron bottom as safe as it if
was in an iron bath tub. Iron – there’s millions of tons of it. But
you’ve seen nothing yet.’

That night we camped alongside a small lake. Firewood was no
problem with all the stunted dead trees lying about. Mick produced
a couple of onions from one of his pockets, and with a little manip-
ulation with beef and fruit tins – we ate the fruit first to provide
a billy – he dished up a first rate bully beef and onion stew. With
a red coal fire to turn our feet towards we slept on the hard iron
floor with a cool breeze on our faces, and the black sky stabbed
with white stars above us.

Next morning we entered the iron field proper. For hours we
trudged over solid iron, with hardly a score of stunted trees to
the acre. Of grass or reeds there was not a sign. In some places
the rusty-coloured iron floor was almost as smooth as if one was
walking the decks of a battleship, in others it was broken up into
boulders varying from the size of a cricket ball to huge pieces that
must have contained many hundreds of tons . . .

The river seemed to cut a channel through the centre of the field.
Along its banks were huge round boulders of iron, the river bottom
was solid iron, and as far as one could see in either direction up
and down the river was iron.
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‘Wherever a river cuts through it, she’s like that,’ Mick offered.
‘That’s the only indication we’ve got of her depth. There’s mil-
lions and millions of tons of it here. The engineers that came here
said it’s the biggest thing of its kind in the world. They came here
and camped on it. Both of them, and I brought ’em here. The
first one came and camped out here for nine days with me. We
tramped over the whole field, longways, crossways, every ways.
When he had finished he said to me: “Mick, I’ve seen iron before,
in many parts of the world. There’s only one thing anywhere like
this and that’s in Mexico. But this beats it. This is the biggest show
that I know of in the world. There’s at least 250,000,000 tons in
it.”’

‘Well, he went back to Australia and a big crowd over there got
interested in it, and they sends an engineer over here. Smart bloke
he was too, but no fancy business about him. We come out here
and camped just like we done this time. I tried to get out of him
what he thought of it, but he kept saying, “Mick, you’re a seller, but
I’m a buyer. I’m not saying anything. I make my report when I get
back to Melbourne.” So after we had been out here for a few days,
I said to him: “Well, the last engineer that was over this field says
there’s 250,000,000 tons of 55% ore here. What d’yer say to that?”
An’ he said: “Mick, I don’t doubt the tonnage, but I do doubt yer
percentage.” So I said: “Well, that’s easy proved. Yuh’ve only gottah
take some back with you and prove that.”’

Mick paused for a while, and wiped away the sweat after such a
long statement.

‘And what did the assay show?’
‘She was what we thought, all right. ****, they had everything

fixed to buy it. Never quibbled at the price or anything. All the
papers were ready an’ all. An’ then that thing happened in France.
France pulls out of the war, and the crowd in Melbourne is fright-
ened that they might lose the field after they’ve shoved their money
in. So the thing was called off.’

‘And why doesn’t someone here work it?’
‘She’s no good to them here. They’ve got no coal. Iron’s only

good when you’ve got coal. Now this’s the way I had it figgered.
There’s boats comes every week from Newcastle bringing coal over
to the Nickel works at Noumea. They go back to Aussie empty.
Why not fill ’em up with iron ore, dump it straight at Newcastle
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where they’ve got the coal to turn her into steel, and bring another
load of coal back here. There’s more iron here than you’ve got in
all Australian fields put together.

‘Where does yer iron come from now? Well, I’ll tell yer. It comes
from Iron Knob in South Aussie. An’ its further to take it from Iron
Knob to Newcastle than it would be from here. An’ she’s lovely to
get at from here. There’s a railway line comes in from Prony Bay
right to the start of the field. Prony Bay, why she’s the best har-
bour in Caledonia. 20,000 tonners can come in there without any
trouble’. . .

Unfortunately we couldn’t reach the far end of the field, where
the valley widened out and entered the Grand Bay of Prony. This
part of the island was taboo, and even had we got there, we might
have been isolated there for a few weeks because of the plague. Over
the other side of the mountains in front of us was Yate, where the
waters of the Yate River had been harnessed to provide power for a
large hydro-electric scheme. Mick had some interesting informa-
tion about the Yate hydro-electric station.

‘That’s the ****** Nickel Company again. You know they built
that plant to smelt their nickel there, and asked the governor if
they could have a concession to use the Yate waterfalls to provide
them with power for their plant. They was told they could have the
concession an’ it would cost them nothing, only they must agree to
put in land lines across to Noumea, and provide the lighting for the
town. They figgered that it’d only cost 60 centimes a unit (about 1
penny). Well, what did they do? After they got their plant up, they
amalgamated with the Hauts Forneaux crowd that was running the
old cobalt smelter at Noumea, and decided it was cheaper to smelt
the nickel there.

‘Well, the people were waiting for the electric light at Noumea,
and the governor asks the Nickel Company when they’re going to
put their land lines across. The Nickel Co. just tells them to go to
****. The deal’s off and they’re not going to put in any lines. Then
they offer to give Noumea electricity anyway, and bring out a bloke
from Unelco in France, and he builds a power house. Lighting and
power too, costs 3 francs (5 pence) now, and Yate’s lying idle –
never been used. Just keep an engineer there to maintain the plant
in running order’ . . .
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Back at the terminus we collected the remainder of our food,
and made camp for the night in the largest of a dozen thatched
huts, which a few years previously had been the headquarters of
the Anna Louise nickel mine. As our last day on the iron field had
been a foodless one, we were able to enjoy the prodigious meal
that Mick turned out of the remaining tins of food. Early next
morning we heard the ‘choot-choot’ labouring up the sidings on
its way to pick us up, and soon we were all aboard headed back to
La Forestière, on the most reckless and the coldest trip of my life.

Light rain which was falling when we left, turned into a steady
downpour, and in a few minutes our saturated shirts were flapping
against our stomachs. None of us had coats on and with a spanking
wind blowing through the wet cloth of the shirts they were turned
into effective refrigerators. To make matters worse, the Javanese
didn’t seem to be worrying about trying to control the ‘choot choot.’
After we had negotiated the first half kilometre of level line he
switched the engine off and ‘let her rip.’ Added to the icy prickling
coldness was the deafening roar of the wind in our ears, and a
sensation like sitting on top of a machine-gun as the trolley wheels
hurtled over the joints in the rails. Every now and again there was a
screaming rending sound as we lurched around a corner in about
seven or eight distinct movements.

Mick roared a few words of encouragement in my ears. ‘She’s
gotta stop when she gets to the bottom. She starts up hill again.’
The Javanese sat there as impassive as Buddha, his cigarette, limp
and wet, still hanging from his lips. Following protests from Priday
and me, Mick shouted something into the Javanese’s ear, and with a
pitying look at me, the latter pointed to a lever, which he motioned
me to pull. After Priday and I had used our united strength, leaning
back against the lever, we succeeded in easing up the 60 or 70 mile
an hour rush. For the rest of the trip we hung on to that lever mighty
hard, giving it an extra pull when a bend or bridge came in sight.

Back at the headquarters, the bajous had breakfast prepared for
us – and as a tribute to the cold of the morning, the wet of our
bodies and our nationality, there was a huge pot of tea ready for
us. From La Forestière our taxi was waiting to whisk us back to
Noumea, where hot baths soon dissolved the red iron dust out of
our bodies.
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‘Well, what did you think of her?’ Mick asked a few hours later,
under the verandah of the Hotel Central.

‘It looks pretty good to me. If the stuff we’ve been walking over
is really iron, why I never thought there was so much in the world.’

‘She’s iron all right. An’ what’s more she’d take nothing to work –
start on an end where the river’s cut a face in her. Bust up with a few
sticks of dynamite an’ yuh can load her into trucks as fast as they
can shoot ’em along. They can take it out of there for hundreds of
years an’ yer wouldn’t see where they’d been working. Why don’t
yuh tell ’em about it when you get back to Aussie? Tell ’em to send
somebody over that knows iron. I’ll show them just what I’ve shown
you. Tell ’em if they don’t get it someone else will. I have people
nosing about here every few months after that lot. But I want to
see Australia working it. It don’t make sense to have this iron here,
when you’ve got the coal just over the water in Newcastle. Marry
the coal and iron an’ you’ve got steel, and when you’ve got steel
you’ve got railway lines, girders for your buildings, plates for your
tanks, and sides for your ships. Tell ’em when yer get back that
we’ve got the biggest thing in the world here, right at Australia’s
front door. I know they haven’t got much iron over there. Why
even the government expert reckoned yer didn’t have more than
25 years’ supply, an’ that was a few years ago. Not that I take much
notice of experts. You tell ’em to send somebody over and if they
don’t mind roughing it a bit, why I’ll take ’em over and tramp ’em
around that field for a ****** month if they want to. Let ’em stick
down drills, an’ see what she’s really got, an’ if I’m any judge she’ll
go down hundreds of feet out there in the middle of the field. For
**** sake don’t forget to tell ’em about it when you get back.’

I hope that Mick will consider that I’ve adequately presented his
case in some half dozen newspaper articles and reports I’ve written
about the Plaine des Lacs iron deposits. At least this chapter is
something like a permanent record that I kept my promise to ‘tell
’em something about it.’

[From Chapter 11 of Pacific Treasure Island: New Caledonia (David
Mckay Company, Philadelphia, 4th edn, 1944), pp. 101–105.]
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Who Is Wingate Anyway? [1944]

Burchett left Australia in August 1941 armed with a typewriter and a camera
to travel the Burma Road into China and cover the Sino-Japanese war.

The morning after Pearl Harbor he interviewed Chou En-lai in Chungking.
When he cabled his story to the Sydney Daily Telegraph, the reply was
blunt – ‘Uninterested in Chinese Communist pronouncements’. But London’s
Daily Express was interested, and Burchett thus became a war correspondent
for one of the world’s leading dailies.

In early 1943 he was in an Indian hospital recovering from wounds received
when Japanese Zeros strafed the sampan in which he was travelling on the
Mayu River in Burma. This was when he first heard of Major Orde Wingate. By
then he had developed a strong distaste for the ‘Colonel Blimps’ and colonial
types in the higher ranks of the British army. Wingate, on the other hand,
was a maverick with a strong anti-colonial stance and a taste for guerrilla
warfare.

They became friends and Burchett spent several weeks with him gathering
material for his book Wingate Adventure. Wingate died in a plane crash before
the book was published and Burchett was re-assigned to cover the war in the
Pacific.

∗ ∗ ∗
Who is Wingate, anyway? By what right is he entrusted to lead an
army of men on such a desperate venture? What is his background?

If one hadn’t seen him before, and came across him standing in
the jungle, in a favourite pose, hands clasped together on the top
of a long stick, head hunched forward and resting on his hands
staring broodingly into space, one would take him for a scholar,
a philosopher, an artist, a religious recluse, rather than a soldier.
And one would not be far wrong. In any other age, he would have
been.

17
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When I first called on him at his hotel in Delhi, I found him
sitting stark naked on his bed, eyes buried deep in a book. He
hardly glanced up as I entered, and rather gruffly asked what I
wanted of him.

I explained with some diffidence that I was writing a book about
his Burma expedition and needed his assistance. He wasn’t inter-
ested in me or my requirements, but seemed most excited about the
book he was reading. He put it down every few minutes and scrib-
bled something on the margins. Then Bernard Fergusson came
in and the two of them started an animated discussion about this
book, which turned out to be a critical commentary of Emily Bronte
and her works, liberally annotated with Wingate’s acid comments
on the commentator. I got no further that night, except for a grudg-
ing permission to see him the following day.

Wingate dislikes any comparison between himself and Lawrence
of Arabia. When I first broached the subject of his relationship to
Lawrence, he said: ‘People must have their heroes and their parallels.
At the time I went to Abyssinia, of course, one only had to take off
one’s hat to an Ethiopian to be called “Lawrence of Abyssinia”.’

Nevertheless, it’s impossible seeing Wingate for the first time
not to note certain obvious similarities to his distant but illustrious
relative, Lawrence of Arabia. He has Lawrence’s deep-set eyes, finely
chiselled lips, and above all the same fierce hawk nose. He has a
goodly crop of fine fairish hair, china blue eyes that are normally
reposeful and slumbrous, but sometimes, when action is called for,
a hood seems to be whisked back, his eyes flash and sparkle and bore
straight through the object of their focus, while his face assumes a
wolfish look. He is not tall and for all his life of soldiering inclines
to stoop slightly. In repose he has a brooding, rather melancholy
expression, and striding up and down his room with his head down
between hunched shoulders, his hands clasped behind his back or
rumpling up his hair, he looks as if he could easier wear the cap
and gown of a mild university don than the uniform of the King’s
armies.

Bit by bit, during the course of a dozen or so interviews, I was able
to piece together something of his life and background. I went to his
hotel room morning after morning and the procedure never varied.
I sat in a chair with my notebook, while he paced up and down the
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room, always naked, and usually rubbing his body meditatively
with a rubber brush, replying to my questions. Often the work
would be interrupted for hours on end while he gave a dissertation
on the current political or military situation, or outlined his plans
for the post-war world.

To my surprise, I discovered that his father was an Indian Army
officer and he himself was born in India, in 1903, at the beau-
tiful hill station of Naini Tal in United Provinces. He was taken
back to England at the tender age of nine months and was reared
and educated there. In 1920, when he was 17 years old, Charles
Orde Wingate attended an Armistice Day lecture on the League
of Nations delivered by Professor Gilbert Murry. He says he was
much impressed by the idea of the League, but saw that it would
only work if it had armed force in the shape of an International
Police Force to implement its decisions. As they were not going to
give the League any Army, he believed another war was inevitable,
so he decided to become a professional soldier.

Accordingly, he entered the Royal Military Academy, and trained
for a gunner at Woolwich, receiving his commission on 31 August
1923. The next few years he spent doing formalised training at
Salisbury Plains, at the same time studying Arabic.

One of Wingate’s uncles, Sir Reginald Wingate, had been Gover-
nor of the Sudan, and partly because his family had been interested
in the Middle East, partly because he felt that the Middle East was
going to play a great part in history during his lifetime, he entered
the School for Oriental Studies in London, to perfect his knowledge
of Arabic.

By 1927 he had acquitted himself nobly in the field of Orien-
tal Studies, and he applied to the Language League for a bursary,
which he received, and was given six months’ Language Leave
to allow him to visit the Arab countries of the Middle East. He
bought a Raleigh all-steel bicycle, took a third class ticket from
Harwich to the Hook of Holland, and cycled through Holland,
Germany, Czechoslovakia, Austria, Yugoslavia, finishing up in
Italy, where he sold his bike for the equivalent of five pounds
sterling.

From Genoa he took a third class passage to Egypt, roamed
around there for 10 days, then went down to the Sudan, where he
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stayed in the Nuba mountains and took a trip down the White Nile.
During this time he mixed with the Arabs as much as possible, slept
in their tents, travelled in their caravans, ate their food, drank their
drinks and smoked their smokes. Although the purpose of his trip
was to learn Arabic, he says he didn’t learn much of the language,
but did learn an awful lot about the Arabs, their habits, likes and
dislikes, and most important of all, the way their minds worked.

His Language Leave was up, but he’d spent all his money. There
wasn’t even enough left to pay his fare back to England, and besides
he still didn’t know sufficient Arabic to take a first class interpreter-
ship.

He applied to General Huddlestone, at that time commanding
the Sudan Defence Force, for a commission. The minimum age
for the Sudan Defence Force was 25 years, and young Wingate 24,
but as the name of Wingate was well known in the Sudan and he
seemed the right type, Huddlestone waived technicalities and took
him on as a ‘Bimbashi’ or Turkish Major, for a period of five years.

This should have completed his ruin. It takes a man of character
to survive five years in a place like the Sudan and come out of it
more or less normal. In the Sudan, even to a greater degree than in
India, young officers have more than normal power and authority.
They have wide administrative powers and are virtually answerable
to nobody. They have an inflated sense of the importance of their
physical well-being. They live on a far higher scale than they would
do at home and drink three or four times their ordinary ration
of whisky. Waited on hand and foot, with rarely enough to do to
relieve the boredom of their existence, they are content to let the
days roll by, and not only do they fail to develop, but any initiative
or resource with which they may have started out quickly melts
away.

Wingate broke away from the established order; he saw and
seized on the possibilities and found plenty of outlet for his sense
of adventure and initiative. He made the fullest use of his time in the
Sudan. He learned the country and the people, studied the border
area between the Sudan and Abyssinia, learned to use the theodo-
lite and to march by compass, studied geology and anthropology,
soaked up local lore, and made valuable contacts on both sides of
the border.
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His first military operation was along the Sudan–Abyssinian
frontier against bands of smugglers and poachers. For the first
time he engaged in long marches across waterless and trackless
jungle with a large body of men, through completely unmapped
areas, without guides or direction of any sort. This was a valuable
preparation for the tasks that awaited him. And, most important
of all, he learned to be a leader of men.

As a result of this and subsequent expeditions, he became con-
versant with the large tract of jungle that runs like a wedge right
into the heart of Abyssinia, and which he made good use of in
1941. He mapped out trails and tracks used by elephant hunters
and poachers, and got to know the border area better than any
other white man. He studied the Abyssinians as formerly he had
studied the Arabs, and formed a great attachment for them. When
he could he slipped across the border and attended services in their
little Coptic churches. Among his men, Wingate was given the title
of ‘His Worship the Judge’ as a tribute to his learning.

After he finished his service with the Sudan Defence Force,
Wingate led an expedition from Libya across the great Sand Sea
looking for the ‘Lost Tribes of Zerzera,’ and then returned to Eng-
land in 1933. Incidentally, it was during his trip back through the
Mediterranean that he met the beautiful fifteen-year-old school-
girl, who two years later dropped her Literature Course at Oxford
University to marry him.

The next few years were uneventful. He joined the 9th Field
Brigade on Salisbury Plains, where he spent a couple of years catch-
ing up with more modern theories of war. Then he got married.
He was stationed for six months at Sheffield as Territorial Adju-
tant, and interested himself in social and economic problems of the
workers there. It was the first time he had lived in an industrial area
and come up against the problems of the working man. He went
down coal mines, visited factories, and, as usual, came away with a
better grasp of their difficulties after a few months than most social
workers would in a similar number of years.

He was enraged at the weak-kneed attitude of the democracies
towards the Italian attack on Abyssinia, and felt that the temper of
the English people was far ahead of the will of the government at that
time during the terrible period of appeasement. Town-workers who
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12 months previously had been strongly pacifist and were slashing
buttons off soldiers’ tunics, by the end of 1935 were rolling along to
enlist in the territorials, wanting to smash the armies of aggression
before they had grown too strong.

In 1936, Wingate was sent to Palestine as an Intelligence Officer
on General Wavell’s Staff, attached to the 5th Divisional Headquar-
ters at Haifa. He had a more or less quiet time there until the Arab
revolt in 1938. Wingate had his own theories about that revolt and
the way it should be settled, but his ideas were at variance with
British policy at the time, and opposed to the idea of most British
officers and the Military Police stationed in Palestine.

The Arab revolt was an ersatz production foisted on Palestine
by the Axis, and more or less winked at by the British. Because
our policy those days was one of fixed appeasement, that is, of
quietening the howling jackals by throwing them any lamb they
fancied, whether of Spanish, Jewish, Czech or Austrian origin, we
allowed Axis money and Axis arms to pour into Palestine to be
used against the people whom we had lawfully permitted to settle
there.

Wingate believed that the Jewish colony in Palestine was the only
bit of real strength in the whole of the Middle East at that time,
and he was appalled to find that Jews had to hide their women and
children behind bulletproof walls, while the menfolk patrolled their
farms with antiquated rifles to protect their crops and livestock. The
whole trouble could be settled overnight if the Jews were allowed
to raise their own army, and most of the Arabs would have been
pleased enough to have peace and order restored. The problem as
Wingate saw it was a simple one. Exploit your friends to confound
your enemies.

After a lot of trouble he was given permission to organise special
light squadrons of British and Jewish soldiers, to form a mobile
force that could be rushed wherever danger threatened. For the
first time he had an opportunity to test his theories of dispersal
groups. His special squads dashed round in fast motor transport.
Wearing rubber-heeled shoes, they dropped off in twos and threes
near their objectives, forming up at an agreed meeting place, and
carried out their assault against a chieftain’s hideout before the
inhabitants had time to flee.



Who Is Wingate Anyway? 23

In Palestine today, five years later, Wingate’s fabulous exploits
still are the subject of countless anecdotes and discussions. In a
few weeks he had squashed the Arab revolt in the area wherein
he was allowed to operate. Speed, mobility, fadeouts, exploiting
a friendly population for purposes of information, these were all
tried out by Wingate for the first time in Palestine. Many of the
General Staff officers, in accordance with the fashion of the day,
had become anti-semitic, and Wingate’s exploits were not looked
upon favourably. To be accounted pro-Jewish was regarded as not
very patriotic in those mixed-up times. The special squads were
disbanded and, after waiting around with nothing to do, Wingate
left for England again at five days’ notice.

He arrived in England shortly after Munich. In November, just
before the famous debate on Palestine in the House of Commons,
a meeting was arranged between Churchill and Wingate. Churchill
encouraged Wingate to talk and listened to his theories on Palestine
with little comment. Wingate told him that the Jews in Palestine
were hard-working and intelligent people, leading good lives, cul-
tivating soil that hadn’t been tilled for thousands of years, raising
orchards where there had been desert; that they were entitled to
our protection or at least to the right to defend themselves; that the
whole Arab revolt was Axis-inspired and financed; ‘give the Jews a
free hand, let them have access to arms, and the Arab revolt would
fade out like snow upon the desert’s dusty face.’

The following day in the House of Commons, Churchill quoted
the opinion of a ‘very high military authority’ that the Jews in
Palestine were perfectly willing and able to handle the situation
themselves, providing they were given the right to arm and train
their own armies.

When war broke out, Wingate was Brigade-Major to a Light
Anti-Aircraft Brigade stationed in south-east England, where he
made a special study of defence of aerodromes and the employment
of Bofors ack-ack guns. He was posted abroad just prior to the fall
of France, but before he left came the evacuation of Dunkirk, and
he was attached to headquarters of the Home Forces.

There he worked out a scheme for a special counter-penetration
force to operate against an invading army. This was submitted
to and approved by General Ironside, then C.I.C., but shortly
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afterwards Ironside was replaced and Wingate found himself out
of a job.

From June till September 1940, Wingate was kicking his heels
around London without a thing to do, apparently an unwanted
man. His mind is too active to remain idle for long, and he filled
in time by preparing a scheme for the reconquest of Libya, but
thinking to cut through a lot of red tape, submitted it through Lord
Lloyd direct to Anthony Eden. It aroused favourable comment, but
nothing came of it.

Shortly afterwards, Wingate was ordered to the Middle East to
take up a staff job at Wavell’s Cairo Headquarters. He hoped at first
that something had come of his Libyan scheme and was, in fact,
negotiating for a job with Colonel Bagnold’s Long Range Desert
Patrol, when he was summoned for special duty in Abyssinia.

Although Wingate had a strong affection for the Abyssinians
and abhorred the way they had been treated, he had no wish to get
mixed up in any of the many peculiar schemes which were being
considered for the conquest of Abyssinia. Cairo and Khartoum
were thick with missions of various kinds, most of them backed
by glorified camp followers who were looking for concessions and
special areas to exploit as soon as the country was occupied. Haile
Selassie was being ignored while financiers, concessionaires and
speculators were falling over each other, drawing up blueprints for
special areas for their investments.

The only people who didn’t appear to have a say in what was
going on were the Abyssinians.

Wingate discovered, however, that he was to be placed in charge
of the whole Abyssinian revolt, with the title of Commander-in-
Chief of the Patriot Armies under Emperor Haile Selassie. His first
job was to fight all the other missions who were hanging around
Cairo. One of them didn’t want Haile Selassie to be allowed back
to his country, and even had a Military Governor of Occupied
Territories (Lt.-General Mitchell, former Governor of Uganda)
ready to march in. Another wanted to carve Abyssinia up between
Kenya Colony and the Sudan. A third had a brilliant notion of
dividing the country by giving the Galla tribes their autonomy.

Poor little Haile Selassie, who had been driven from pillar to post
and suddenly resurrected from a poverty-stricken existence to lead
his armies back into Abyssinia, didn’t know whether he stood on his
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head or his heels, surrounded as he was by a bunch of international
sharks. Finally, the little Emperor, driven almost to desperation by
racketeers and stock market strategists, was persuaded to play one
last card.

‘These militarists and bureaucrats really don’t count, you know,’
one of his advisers told him. ‘You appeal over their heads to the
people – the people of England, America and China. They hate the
Axis just as you do. They are all on your side. They know the shabby
deal you had last time. Appeal to the people of England, through
their Parliament. Cable Churchill and state your case. He’ll back
you up.’

Haile Selassie followed that advice. He sent a cable to Churchill,
and Churchill, man of integrity and vision, cabled back and settled
the hash of the speculators and their bogus missions and assured
Haile Selassie the democracies would see that his country was
restored to him ‘in toto.’

Without waiting for more complications, Haile Selassie jumped
aboard the first available plane and flew into Abyssinia, where
Wingate was already organising patriot armies.

Churchill, incidentally, had taken a personal interest in the
Abyssinian revolt idea; it was one of his earliest ‘babies’ and he
had despatched Anthony Eden to Cairo in November to investi-
gate the reasons for such slow progress. It was as a result of Eden’s
investigations that Wingate was given the job.

Wingate approached the problem of revolt from a different angle
to all his predecessors. He was critical of the orthodox idea of
contacting Abyssinian leaders and offering them pots of money
and plenty of arms and then telling them to go ahead and beat up
the Italians. Courage, faith and self-respect were the qualities we
had to inspire and exploit, he affirmed, and not cupidity. He wrote
in a memo at the time as follows:

First, we have to convince the Ethiopian, that contrary to his previous
experience, these white men with whom he has to treat will give him
a fair deal. He must see us first not fighting by his side, but in front of
him. He must realise not only that we are brave soldiers, but devoted
to the cause of liberties. Cease trying to stimulate revolt from without,
but let’s do something ourselves. Enter the country with small fighting
groups. Example instead of precept is what we want.



26 Rebel Journalism

Within a month of taking on the job, he’d established at Khar-
toum a Military School for training Ethiopian and regular staff offi-
cers, as well as British personnel. He went around among the Arab
tribes, re-establishing contacts he’d made nearly fifteen years ear-
lier. In eight weeks he had raked together 20,000 camels and 5,000
Arabs to look after them. He was in his element again. Organising,
training, moulding a machine which he would soon be able to put
to the test.

He went back to Cairo and submitted his proposals for the han-
dling of the campaign. At a conference of Generals several of these
brilliant exponents of textbook strategy almost had a haemorrhage
when Wingate outlined his plan of campaign, the whole success of
which depended on the loyalty of the local population to our, and
therefore their own, cause. Wingate had little difficulty in disposing
of staff criticisms, and in any case Wavell was prepared to back him.
He was given a free hand.

The results of his campaign are now history. With about two
thousand mixed Sudanese and Abyssinian regular soldiers, an aver-
age of 1,000 Abyssinian patriots and a handful of British officers,
he chased nearly 40,000 Italian and Colonial forces through the
Abyssinian jungle. By decoys and deception groups, by swift forced
marches, ambushes, night attacks, above all by audacious strategy,
Wingate won all along the line.

The final showdown came when the Italians concentrated 14,000
troops on the main road running between Debra Marcos and Addis
Ababa. The roads ran along a broad valley which narrowed down
to a panhandle at one end. Wingate decided to try and force the
Italians to withdraw through this 1000-yard-wide panhandle. He
had 2000 men with him. He sent his second-in-command with
100 regular soldiers and 400 Abyssinian patriots with plenty of
ammunition and food for two days to take up positions on either
side of the panhandle.

Wingate himself had 40 regulars with nearly 1500 patriots under
Ras Kassa, who had rallied to his banner earlier in the campaign.
He prepared plans for attack, drafted out at the same time terms
for unconditional surrender, gave an old peasant a white flag and a
handful of money, and told him to approach the Italian comman-
der the minute he started to withdraw his troops. Then Wingate
attacked with everything he had, and he had insisted on being
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provided with plenty of automatic weapons. After two days’ fierce
fighting, the Italians started withdrawing towards the panhandle.
As soon as their foremost troops were within nice range, Wingate’s
second-in-command Thesiger poured in automatic fire. Mean-
while the old peasant was wandering round according to instruc-
tions waving his white flag and being passed on from one officer to
another. By the beginning of the third day of the battle, on 23 May
1941, the surrender terms had reached the Italian commander, and
had been accepted.

Wingate described to me the final act in his three-day show:

When the great day came for us to receive the vanquished armies I
felt more alarmed than at any time during the battle. Across a level
plain, sloping towards a hidden valley, the Italian commander and his
staff of 30 officers advanced on horseback. Behind them came 800
Fascisti, and then phalanx after phalanx of Colonial troops with their
250 Italian officers, guns, mortars, machine-guns and three million
rounds of small arms ammunition. Altogether 14,000 men marched in
order of battle, while to receive them stood 36 Sudanese. These formed
five lanes through which the enemy poured, laying down his arms in
heaps, to reform in units and pass on over the edge of the valley where
they expected to find the great army that had beaten them.

Instead they found myself with Ras Kassa [Abyssinian military leader
who had been living in exile] and a few patriots; their faces were stud-
ies of baffled chagrin, but their arms already lay neatly piled up under
guard of our Bren guns. Here indeed was a chance for the Abyssinians to
pull off some of the atrocity stunts about which so much nonsense has
been written. We marched these Italians with their beaten battalions
back to the Addis Ababa road with one British officer and 30 Sudanese
marching in front, myself with another 30 Sudanese marching behind.
In between us were 14,000 unarmed Italians, troops who for weeks pre-
viously had been despoiling, looting and raping the very areas through
which they now returned. I appealed to the patriots and through them
to their local populations for Christian forbearance and they responded
wholeheartedly. Every prisoner reached his destination unmolested.

In a few months Wingate with a force of about 3,000 men,
50 British officers and 40 British ranks, defeated 36,000 Italian
and Colonial troops and 800 Italian officers. The Italians had 15
armoured cars, 22 field guns, 22 pack guns. They had 10 to 12
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bombers and three to six fighter planes operating daily. Wingate
had neither armoured cars nor artillery, and the only planes he
had were a few old Junkers during the first few days of the cam-
paign. Three thousand of the enemy were killed, 18,000 captured,
the rest dispersed. Wingate wanted to follow the remnants down
to Gondar, but it was decided to call a halt to the activities of the
patriot armies, and the balance of the enemy were left for General
Platt to deal with at Gondar.

Wingate entered Addis Ababa with Haile Selassie on what must
have been the happiest hour of the Negus’s life. His job done,
Wingate took farewell of the overjoyed Emperor, flew back to Khar-
toum in June, relinquished his command, and flew on back to Cairo.

Wavell had been transferred from the Middle East Command
by this time, and no one else seemed to have any job for Wingate.
Inaction always chafed him. He became depressed and ill, and spent
nearly two months in hospital, finally returning to London where
he remained another three months, before he was sent out with
General Alexander to see what could be done in the Far East.

In the Abyssinian campaign Wingate had evolved the column
as a unit of convenient size and resilience for the new type of war-
fare which he pioneered. For the first time columns were used to
strike deep into enemy territory, living off the country, harassing the
enemy’s communications, making night attacks on his strongholds
and slipping away before he could strike back, exploiting a patri-
otic population’s hate against its military overlords. Step by step,
brick by brick, by his own accumulated experiences the idea of
the practicability of long range penetration groups, composed of
groups of self-supporting and self-propelling columns, took shape.

Wingate has often been described as an idealist, and his advocacy
of the Jews’ case in Palestine and Haile Selassie’s case in Abyssinia
have been cited to prove that he is motivated by ideals and emotions
rather than by realistic policies. With all due respect to idealism and
to Wingate, I don’t think he can be called an idealist. He is actually
an extreme realist, who sees further and more clearly than most
of his colleagues. When he used the Jews to beat the Arabs, he
had the necessary knowledge to know that that was the short cut
to end the Arab revolt. A businessman is not an idealist because
he subscribes to the adage that ‘Honesty is the best policy.’ He
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merely recognises that in the long run honesty pays the highest
dividends. In Abyssinia, Wingate knew the quickest way to defeat
the Italians was to gain the confidence of the local population,
first by demonstrating that we were going to fight the Italians,
secondly by assuring them that when the Italians were driven out
the Abyssinians would be given a fair deal. He has likes and dislikes,
sympathies and aversions like any other man, but he does not allow
these to influence his judgments. He brings an open mind to bear
on problems as they crop up and seeks only the most expedient
means of solving them.

His attitude to instigating revolts is typical. He does not oppose
on moral grounds bribing people and pouring in money and arms.
He believes the method is wrong. It doesn’t produce results. If
buying and bribing people did produce the goods he would be the
first to spend money like water.

He cites the story of a local baron who approached him just as
things were starting in Abyssinia. This chieftain had been used to
the racket of easy money and weapons from previous unsuccessful
instigators of revolt. He asked Wingate for a lot of money and arms,
but Wingate said, ‘No! You’re not a soldier. I’m the one that’s going
to do the fighting. What I want from you is food and information
about the enemy. Don’t forget he’s my enemy as well as yours. Bring
me food and information and you’ll be well paid.’

The chieftain went away sorely disappointed. His old sales talk
had failed to work. The white chiefs must be getting short of cash
and arms.

Two days later, Wingate’s men had a sharp brush with the enemy.
Next morning the chieftain appeared agog for news. They’d really
fought the Italians? Was it successful? How many had they killed?
How many men had Wingate lost? Was he still keen as ever to fight
the enemy?

When all these questions were answered to his satisfaction, not
only did he forbear to ask for money, but he offered Wingate men
and arms which he had hidden away in the jungle. From that time
till the end of the campaign he was one of Wingate’s most trusted
lieutenants.

Wingate is a thinker and a fighter, with a mind nicely bal-
anced between the theoretical and the practical. He has always been
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prepared to back his convictions by carrying out his theories him-
self. He is not the type to sit behind the lines, draw up his plans,
and then send someone else in to see whether they work out or
not. Because he approaches each problem with a fresh mind eager
to ferret out and exploit its inherent strengths and weaknesses he
must be regarded as unorthodox and therefore disturbing to col-
leagues who believe that one formula with slight variations to its
component parts can be made to cure all diseases.

Wingate’s peculiar talents are in demand only when other reme-
dies have failed, and not much harm can be done the dying patient
anyway. And that is why he was asked to try his hand during the
latter stages of the Burma campaign. And that is how on 7 February
1943, he happened to be astride his charger at the head of his men,
leading them along the track which led to Burma.

[Chapter 9 of Wingate Adventure (F.W. Cheshire, Melbourne,
1944), pp. 46–57.]

1: Wilfred Burchett as war correspondent in 1943
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The Trial of Cardinal Mindszenty [1951]

After his World War II reporting, crowned by his Hiroshima scoop, Burchett
returned to London. Daily Express editor Arthur Christiansen suggested he
work in the editorial department of the paper, but Burchett wanted to avoid
this at all costs. Eventually, the Express sent him on assignment in Berlin where
he arrived ‘late on a freezing New Year’s Eve 1945’.

The gloom of post-war Berlin never quite lifted for him during the three years
he reported from there. He wrote ‘Was it so impossibly naı̈ve to think in terms
of a “new world” arising out of the ashes of World War II? It did not seem
so at the time.’1 But instead he observed a steady deterioration of relations
between the Western powers and the Soviet Union, leading to a Cold War, if
not World War III. As a witness to the devastation of Hiroshima, this appalled
him.

In April 1949 Burchett moved his base to Budapest. He found his ideal of a ‘new
world’ and ‘more equitable social order’ in the countries in the Soviet sphere
of influence, the ‘Peoples’ Democracies’ of Czechoslovakia, Hungary, Poland
and Bulgaria – and, to some extent, in Tito’s Yugoslavia. Here, anti-fascist
popular fronts had taken over from fascist dictatorships, helped by the Red
Army. Although material conditions were tough, he found a ‘new spirit’ among
the workers, peasants and intellectuals who were enthusiastically rebuilding
their war-devastated countries.

Peoples’ Democracies, published in 1951, is an account of his travels in these
countries and the political trials in Hungary and Bulgaria which he reported for
the Daily Express and The Times. An optimistic assessment of the new socialist
order emerging in Eastern Europe after the devastation of World War II, the gist
of the book was that the young Peoples’ Democracies were under permanent
threat from the Anglo-American alliance, which was plotting to overthrow the
new regimes to return to power the old capitalist and land-owning classes
supported by the reactionary clergy. Tito played a devious role: his agents had
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infiltrated the ranks of the Communist parties in the Peoples’ Republics to
wrench them away from the Soviet bosom and back into the Anglo-American
orbit. In other words, Burchett had swallowed the Stalinist line and happily
parrots it in a book that, to this day, is used by his critics to present him as a
Stalinist hack.

∗ ∗ ∗

There had never been a trial in world history like that of Cardinal
Mindszenty and Prince Paul Eszterhazy. The last Cardinal to face
a court was Cardinal Wolseley [sic] in England in 1530. But that
was a trial with all the pomp and ceremony that sixteenth century
England could command. Powdered wigs and scarlet ruffles and
maces, courtiers and dandies. And in the end a Cardinal sentenced
to death.

Here in the People’s Court in Marko Street in Budapest there
was a minimum of ceremony and no trappings at all. Except for
the uniformed guards only four people were not in civil dress and
they were the Cardinal, his secretary, Dr. Zakar, Dr. Baranyai, Dr.
Bela Ispanky. They all wore priestly dress and the Cardinal his ruby
cardinal’s ring. The courtroom itself was small and rather gloomy.
The prisoners sat on a long bench opposite the panel of five judges,
separated from each other by grey uniformed prison guards with
purple bands round their caps.

First the Cardinal, morose, ill at ease, and glowering, but in
a slightly obsequious way. Next to him, Dr. Baranyai, ruddy faced
with twinkling eyes behind his glasses, looking like an irritable uni-
versity professor. Prince Paul, tall, languid, fair moustache, and the
long hooked nose and blue eyes which are the distinguishing marks
of the Eszterhazy family. Completely self-possessed and in a way
dignified. Zakar, well satisfied with himself, smiling and seemingly
on good terms with the prison guards. The others were relatively
unimportant except perhaps the sleek Bela Ispanky. Their roles were
incidental to those of the chief accused. Toth, of the Catholic Action
Society, had to listen to all the proceedings with a hearing aid.

Mindszenty and Eszterhazy represented the most powerful
forces in Central Europe for centuries. After the Church, Eszterhazy
was the greatest landowner in Hungary. The Church and the
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aristocracy were brought to bay before a People’s Court. Sitting
alongside the one professional judge, Vilmos Olti, were represen-
tatives of the political parties and trade unions, all in ordinary civil-
ian clothes. Between the accused and their judges on the right sat
the counsels for the defence. On the left was State Prosecutor Gyula
Alapi, swarthy with close-cropped black hair and a sonorous accus-
ing voice. Judge Olti, who directed the proceedings, is a youngish,
pleasant-looking man, whose friendly manner inspires the accused
with confidence, but who is liable at any moment to whip in a sharp
question which will trip up the unwary if he has not been telling
the truth.

The accused were all brought in together to be sworn in, then
they left the room except the one to be interrogated. The Cardinal
looked physically just as he did when I interviewed him four months
previously, but there was a change. Some of the arrogance was
missing. Correspondents were seated ten to twelve feet behind the
accused, and it was particularly interesting for me to sum up in
those first few minutes my impressions of the Cardinal compared
to those of my visit – and I was the last correspondent to see him
before he was arrested.

I was reminded of the bully who used to tease me at school, and
the expression on his face when he was faced with his superior in
weight and punch power in the school playground. An expression
which reflected shame, defiance, fear and appeal for mercy all at
the same time. And that was the expression on the Cardinal’s face,
as he stood and waited for the questions to start, his hands folded
in front of him, leaning slightly forward as though obsequiously
eager to catch every word the Judge spoke.

To understand Cardinal Mindszenty’s behaviour in the Court,
one must delve a little into his personal background and into the
functions of a Cardinal in Hungary. For a thousand years a Cardinal
held the next highest rank to a King. The Kings of Hungary, from
the year 1000 when Stephen was crowned by Pope Sylvester, were
always crowned by the Cardinal with the Holy Crown of St. Stephen.
The Rev. Nicholas Boer, a great admirer and apologist of Cardinal
Mindszenty, explained the position of a Hungarian Cardinal in his
book, Cardinal Mindszenty.
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The Primate is the Premier Prince of Hungary. He ranks immediately
after the King as head of state. His office is the highest under the
constitution. His rights were laid down in legislation dating back to St.
Stephen and the eleventh century. He is the sole person entitled to
crown a king and thereby is in immediate relationship with the Holy
Crown of Hungary and the whole constitutional principle connected
with it. The constitutional idea of the Holy Crown is a unique creation
of Hungarian law, whose roots go back to the fourteenth century. It was
fully developed by Stephen Verboczy in his famous Tripartium, written
in the sixteenth century. In its essence the Principle of the Holy Crown
of Hungary declares that in Hungary the source of all rights is the Holy
Crown, which unites the whole country, people and soil in a mystical
body. The Holy Crown consists of two parts, the head, i.e., the king,
and the members. Up to 1848 only the nobility was included in the
latter; since 1848 it is the whole nation. (The liberal revolution of 1848
under Louis Kossuth, which dealt the first heavy blow to feudalism
in Hungary – and at the Hapsburg domination – was always severely
condemned by Cardinal Mindszenty. – Author.)

The significance which Boer attaches to the Holy Crown is inter-
esting in view of revelations during the trial. Neither Boer nor
Mindszenty accepted the necessity for any changes in the role of a
Hungarian Cardinal from the eleventh century onwards.

Mindszenty, or Joseph Pehm, which is his real name, was a
Swabian of German origin. Until 1944 he was an ordinary priest
and his parish was part of Prince Paul Eszterhazy’s estates. Ten days
after the setting up of the Szalasi fascist government, on 25 March
1944, Pehm was made Bishop of Veszprem, a quick promotion for
a parish priest with no particular talents. He was nominated by the
Papal Nuncio to Hungary, Msgr. Angelo Rotta.

After the end of the war Mindszenty posed as a hero of the
resistance movement, because he was arrested by the Szalasi Fas-
cists and interned for four months. When Mindszenty began to
emerge as a leader of opposition to the government, he was imme-
diately built up in the Western Press, as a martyr who had suf-
fered for his faith under the Nazis. In fact, as Mindszenty later
told the Court and as is proven by documents in the hands of the
Hungarian government, Mindszenty was not arrested for political
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or religious reasons, but over a dispute concerning requisition of
property.

‘My arrest on 21 October 1944, was not for political reasons,’
Mindszenty told the Court, ‘but because Ferenc Schiberna, Lord
Lieutenant for the County of Veszprem, had found 1,800 pairs
of shirts and pants, close on 100,000 pengo’s worth, hoarded in
my palace, and because I had a disagreement with him over the
requisitioning of accommodation. For this reason he interned me.’

Before the Russian troops liberated Mindszenty he wrote several
letters proving his right-wing sympathies in order to try and secure
his release, and pointing out that the Vatican had been the first to
recognise the Szalasi regime.

In October 1945, Mindszenty was appointed Archbishop of
Esztergom by the Pope, which carried with it the automatic title of
Cardinal, Prince Primate of Hungary. For 25 years he had worked
as a parish priest at Zalaegerszeg – and then within the space of
eighteen months he rocketed from priest to bishop, from bishop
to Cardinal. A meteoric rise to such heights was enough to make
even a stronger character than Mindszenty dizzy with success. But
the Cardinal saw even greater fame ahead. A Cardinal has the right
to crown a King, and Mindszenty was an ardent admirer of the
Hapsburgs all his life – a pronounced Monarchist, or Legitimist as
supporters of the Hapsburgs are called in Hungary. From priest to
bishop, bishop to Cardinal, with American help crowner of kings
and emperors . . . and perhaps the next step to be called to Rome as
Pope. Such dreams went like new wine to his head; his new-found
American friends supported and encouraged his dreams. The Holy
Crown of St. Stephen was in American hands; the Pretender to
the Hapsburg throne, Otto, was living in America. The Americans
would make war on Russia, Mindszenty’s friends inside the coun-
try would open wide the gates to greet the ‘liberating’ American
troops, Otto would come back, the Cardinal would set the Crown
of St. Stephen on his head. Church and Crown would be united
again, estates turned back to the Eszterhazys, Batthyanyis, Czirakys.
Life would go back to the seventeenth, sixteenth, fourteenth
centuries.

These dreams were rudely interrupted when officers of the
Hungarian State Security Service called at the Primate’s Palace one
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night and took the Cardinal away for investigation on charges of
conspiracy against the Republic. This harsh reality was very dif-
ficult for the Cardinal to accept at first. He was aghast that the
Hungarians would dare to arrest him, but certain that his Ameri-
can friends would soon rescue him. When that failed, he hoped that
by admitting his guilt and expressing regret for those acts, clearly
proven in the preliminary investigation by documents in the state
prosecutor’s hands, he could prevent the trial taking place.

Up to the last moment before the trial started it seems Mind-
szenty thought he would be released or rescued. It was only after he
had completed his testimony that the prosecutor produced a letter
which Mindszenty thought had been smuggled out of his room
at the Marko Street Prison, to the U.S. Minister, Selden Chapin.
It was obviously a great shock to Mindszenty when the letter was
produced in court. It had been written ten days before the trial
started.

‘Mr. Minister, you must take action by Thursday,’ wrote the Cardinal,
‘and I request you to do so, for a death sentence is likely and the trial
will be pointed against America. They want to prove that I was paid by
America for secret information. Please send a car and a plane, there is
no other way out. With warmest regards. Mindszenty, January 23.

‘P.S. – Please instruct Koczak immediately to meet the bearer of this
letter today to discuss every detail. Mindszenty.

‘P.S. – Please promise the pilot 4,000 dollars in the interest of the
cause. I shall refund it. Mindszenty.’

The first to be heard in the trial was Dr. Baranyai and the Cardi-
nal’s secretary, Dr. Andras Zakar. Although Baranyai pleaded not
guilty, expert cross-examination by Judge Olti brought out a mass
of damaging material which incriminated both Baranyai and the
Cardinal. Baranyai was a lively personality who tried to deny every
charge made against him, but he could not satisfactorily explain
the documentary evidence. Some sections of the Western press,
and especially the Catholic press, tried to present the trial as a
fake, with the accused brought into court drugged and tortured,
mumbling carefully rehearsed admissions of guilt, expressions of
repentance and pleas for mercy. Baranyai and Mindszenty on the
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contrary made use of their priestly training to try and wriggle
out of every charge against them. They did not know what docu-
ments were in the possession of the prosecutor and Mindszenty, of
course, had no idea what Baranyai and Zakar had already revealed
when he stood at the witness stand. Baranyai and Mindszenty were
both rather indignant that the information they had given in the
preliminary investigation would be repeated in the public court.
They seemed to have regarded the investigator as a Father Confes-
sor who would respect their confessions as confidential, as a good
priest should. Baranyai was being questioned about a meeting with
other Legitimists when they selected the new Royalist cabinet which
should govern the country after the Americans had overthrown the
Republic.

Judge Olti: Now let us speak of the first meeting at the Csekonics’
apartment. What was the object of that meeting? What was
discussed there? Was it mentioned that you were to make
reports on Legitimists working in the different Ministries and
pass them on to Sandor Cserto, who would hand them on to
Jozsef Mindszenty?

Baranyai: This was not mentioned here.
Olti: But you yourself said so in your statement to the police during

the investigation – here it is.
Baranyai: Are those the minutes of the investigation?
Olti: Yes. Is this your signature?
Baranyai: Yes.
Olti: Please look at the text also.
Baranyai: Well, if you please, this was not drafted by me.
Olti: But it is your statement which was taken down. The minutes

which are kept by the clerks of the Court now are not drafted
by you either.

Baranyai: I made this statement in the belief that only the minutes
kept at the trial would be of importance.

Olti: Then you do not confirm what is written here?
Baranyai: No. I was late at the meeting because of official duties.

Dr. Baranyai then went on to discuss details of what happened
at the meeting after he arrived, how responsibility for propaganda
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work was divided up among the various members of the Legitimist
circle; of how each was allotted a certain number of counties in
which to recruit new adherents, of how a shadow cabinet was drawn
up with himself as Minister President.

Olti: Now in the spring of 1945 you prepared a plan in case the
democratic State were overthrown here and a vacuum would
have to be filled. Your plan named the persons who were to
take over power and how they were to do it. Is that correct?

Baranyai: Please permit me to go back a little in time. The possi-
bilities of solving the present world conditions, as everybody
knows and sees that these conditions cannot last . . .

Olti: Now what exactly do you mean by this? That different forms
of State are evolving?

Baranyai: I speak of world politics. I feel that the tension existing
between East and West . . .

Olti: The international political tension will evidently be solved
sooner or later.

Baranyai: Sooner or later. But it may well occur that the tension
is solved by means of war. Well if this should happen through
a war – this was our first supposition. Secondly, at the end of
the hostilities the Western powers should come out victorious.
The third supposition was that the Americans might take over
here as military occupation authorities. The whole plan which
figured in my confession and the documents were based on
these suppositions only. The proclamation, the list of cabinet
members, and the plan to found a party.

Olti: And do you think it right that high-ranking clerical person-
alities should speculate on war?

Baranyai: I beg your pardon . . .

Olti: And not only speculate but prepare for it?
Baranyai: No, I don’t think it right at all.

Baranyai strenuously denied throughout, however, that he had
actually helped to bring war about. He maintained he only made
plans should the war start. He read to the Court a memorandum
he had sent to Mindszenty.
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When the great vacuum has come about (sic, the overthrow of the
Hungarian Republic) the first most important and difficult problem
will be the institution of a regime resting on an ethical basis. It would
be a political impossibility to base ourselves on the ruins of defeated
Bolshevism. Only one point of departure would carry in itself the pos-
sibility of evolution – the Prince Primate. The dignity of the Prince
Primate is consecrated in this country by the traditions of almost a
thousand years. According to ancient national laws the Prince Primate
is the repository of the King’s power in his absence. He seems to be
the only acceptable and competent authority to appoint a new govern-
ment, like the Metropolitan of Athens two years ago. He would have to
appoint the new government at the beginning of the American occu-
pation. The government appointed by him must naturally accept this
decision without reservations, without manoeuvres, unconditionally
and honestly. Here there are names . . . (and follows the list of the
proposed cabinet).

This document, like so many others produced in Court, was
contained in a tin cylinder buried by Dr. Zakar, on instructions
from the Cardinal, in a cellar in the Cardinal’s Palace at Esztergom.
Zakar disclosed the hiding place to the police a few days after he
was arrested.

Zakar filled in the details of Mindszenty’s intrigues with Otto
and Spellman in New York. He was taken to the United States and
Canada as secretary and interpreter to the Cardinal. He was not
present at the hour-long interview between Otto and Mindszenty,
but was present at the interview with Cardinal Spellman where
Mindszenty gave a detailed account of his meeting with Otto. With
Zakar’s statement on the court record, it was difficult for Mind-
szenty to deny his meeting with Otto or the details of his conversa-
tion with him, when he was later questioned on these points. Zakar
gave also details about meetings between the Cardinal and the U.S.
Minister to Hungary, Mr. Chapin, about reports prepared for the
U.S. Legation, and collected, usually late at night, by the First Sec-
retary, Mr. Koczak. Zakar himself prepared the reports which were
compiled from data selected by himself and material handed him
directly by the Cardinal.
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An amusing sidelight was presented by Zakar when he described
Cardinal Mindszenty bartering a car with the Vatican Radio Station
for space on the air for Hungarian language broadcasts. The car
was one of three bought by Mindszenty during his trip to the
United States.

Olti: Tell me please, why did Jozsef Mindszenty give a car to the
Vatican Radio Station? After all, there were the dollars. There
were many dollars; why did you leave this car there?

Zakar: Well, partly in order to . . . to bring home the dollars.
Olti: But you did not bring them home and the car was left behind

also.
Zakar: On the other hand, and this was the main point, because

the director of the Vatican Radio named this concretely as
something they needed.

Olti: Yes. And what did the Vatican Radio give in return.
Zakar: This was not, so to speak, a formal deal. But the Prince Pri-

mate declared that there are news broadcasts in every tongue
and why not in Hungarian. The director said there is not
enough coal in Rome and not enough money either, and not
enough cars to bring over the individual speakers on schedule
for the programme.

Olti: And this is what it was needed for?
Zakar: So the Prince Primate thought it best that he donate a car.
Olti: So he left it there. And what happened after this?
Zakar: Then they started Hungarian news broadcasts.

Zakar concluded his evidence by relating the numerous black-
marketing activities of the Cardinal in bringing dollars into the
country without declaring them, and selling them at high rates on
the black market.

As noted earlier the Cardinal thought he could avoid being
brought to trial by a repentant statement addressed to the Min-
ister of Justice a few days before the trial was due to start.

‘Dear Sir,’ he wrote, ‘I beg the Minister of Justice to consider this
announcement, or request. For some time publicly and repeatedly,
there had been raised against me the complaint that I stand in the way
of an agreement between State and Church, and that my attitude is
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hostile to the present order of the State. As for the former, it is a fact
that I always emphasised the prerequisites. Now I want to contribute
to an improvement in the general situation. Before the trial which is
soon to open, I voluntarily admit that I have committed the acts I am
charged with according to the penal code of the State. In the future I
shall always judge the external and internal affairs of the State on the
basis of the full sovereignty of the Hungarian Republic.

‘After this admission and declaration, the trial regarding my person
does not seem to be absolutely necessary. Therefore, not because of
my person, but considering my position, I ask that my case be exempted
from the trial on February 3. Such a decision more than anything else
would facilitate a solution, even more than the wisest judgement of
the court.

‘After 35 days of constant meditation, I also declare that apart from
other reasons, it may have been due to my attitude as described above,
that reconciliation has been delayed; and also that I consider the estab-
lishment of true peace between the State and the Church necessary, as
long as it has not been made. I too, would take part in the realisation
of the reconciliation, according to the teachings of laws of the Church,
were there not complaints against me just in this respect. But in order
that I should not be an obstacle to reconciliation and that all efforts
should be concentrated on avoiding the usual material obstacles, I
declare hereby, of my own accord, without any compulsion, that I am
ready to withdraw for a time from exercising my office.

‘If the wisdom of the Bench of Bishops considers it best to make
peace, I do not wish to stand in the way at all. Even at the Apostolic
Holy See, which has the last word in the matter, I would not oppose
the materialisation of the cause of peace. I make this statement in
the knowledge that a true state of peace can be only to the good of
both the State and the Church and without it the life of the country is
threatened by discord and decay.

‘Please accept my sincere respect.

‘Jozsef Mindszenty, Cardinal.’

The court decided, however, after a short recess, that the Cardinal
would stand trial with the rest of the accused. Mindszenty had
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played his last card and failed! He tried to make the best of a bad job
in court, however, by evasions and half replies, by an amazingly poor
memory when it served his purpose. Asked whether he pleaded
guilty or not guilty, he answered, in low, measured tones:

To the extent that I did commit a considerable part of the activities
charged to me in the indictment, or as I indicated in my letter to the
Minister of Justice, which you kindly read out this morning, substan-
tially, to that extent I feel guilty. What I have done, I do not wish to
try to place in a favourable light. Of course this does not mean that I
accept the conclusion of the indictment. For example with regard to
the offences mentioned in Section A, I do not deny one or another
part of it, but I do not subscribe to the conclusion that I might have
been involved in the planning of the overthrow of the democratic State
and the Republic, even less as the indictment states, that I might have
played the leading role . . .

The small courtroom was packed, with relatives of the accused,
correspondents and the ordinary public, workers, peasants, petty
government officials, a cross section of the Hungarian popula-
tion. Most of them were Catholics who a few weeks previously had
regarded the Cardinal as their supreme spiritual leader. His moral
stature was gradually destroyed before their eyes, as he disclosed
himself to be a clumsy intriguer who would not hesitate to plunge
Hungary into a war and destroy everything that had been accom-
plished since 1945. Stripped of his scarlet and privileges, standing
before the People’s Court he appeared as a common criminal, a
shifty parish priest caught out in anti-social crimes, trying to deny
proven facts, shifting the blame on to others where he could. He
was put to shame in his conduct in court by the more dignified
Prince Eszterhazy and the fiery Dr. Baranyai who at least admitted
openly much that they had done, and spoke up in support of their
own reactionary convictions. Mindszenty showed himself to be an
enemy of the people in every one of his dealings, but in an oily
speech at the end of the trial claimed he was never an enemy of the
Hungarian workers or peasants. At the time when Hungary was
struggling against unprecedented inflation, when the State needed
every ounce of foreign currency it could lay hands on, Cardinal
Mindszenty was trading with dollars on the black market . . .
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Mindszenty was questioned for five hours by Judge Olti. He
was repeatedly asked if he was tired, if he would like a break, but
always answered that he felt fit. There were, however, two half-hour
intervals during the session.

During those five hours, Judge Olti established for the court
record from Mindszenty’s own lips that the Cardinal conspired for
the overthrow of the Hungarian Republic with American help; that
he openly demanded armed intervention; that he tried to ensure
Hungary’s defeat in the event of war by sending out espionage
reports on questions of military, political and economic impor-
tance; that he plotted for the restoration of all estates up to 2,000
acres to their former owners; to re-establish Fascist officials in office
and drive out all Jews of public life; that on Cardinal Spellman’s
initiative, and without the knowledge or approval of the Hungarian
government or Hungarian Catholics, he gave a written declaration
appointing Otto Hapsburg the leader of all Hungarian Catholics in
the event of Mindszenty himself being removed from office; that
by secret correspondence with the U.S. Minister and U.S. Army
authorities, he prevented the return of the historic Holy Crown to
Hungary; that he had dealt extensively on the black market with
currency speculation.

Many of these conclusions the Cardinal denied, but the facts and
documents produced, the Cardinal’s own testimony and that of his
fellow-accused made it apparent to every observer in the Court that
these conclusions were established.

[From Chapter 6 of People’s Democracies (World Unity Publica-
tions, 1951), pp. 101–119.]
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Liberty in Eastern Europe [1951]

Burchett’s coverage of show trials such as that of Cardinal Mindszenty was
certainly something he later regretted. But People’s Democracies was written
at a time when the propaganda war on both sides of the Iron Curtain was
increasingly shrill. It falls into the category of simplistic partisan Cold War lit-
erature, but it remains of interest as an example of such writing from someone
on the spot, a journalist observing the emergence of a new ‘socialist’ world
that was closer to his ideals than, say, the old British Empire. The following
short conclusion is a summary of what he, like many others on the Left, saw as
a whole new value system being writ large in the countries of Eastern Europe.

He was not alone in subsequently discovering that those ideals were betrayed
and subverted by regimes such as those he praises in this book. There were,
however, exceptions to these betrayals. Tito, for example, was soon reinstated
in his pantheon of heroes when Yugoslavia joined the Non-Aligned Movement,
which Burchett wholeheartedly supported till the end of his life. But by the
time the book came out, Burchett had parted company with Fleet Street and
moved on to write about China and later report from Korea.

∗ ∗ ∗
Bulgaria and Hungary about which I have written most in this book
are countries which are virtually excommunicated by the Western
world. They have been denied membership to the United Nations.
Their crimes are that they have defended their independence, have
resolutely brought to trial those who plotted and intrigued against
them – even British and Americans, as Mr. Sanders and Mr. Vogeler
found to their sorrow when they became involved in espionage
against the Hungarian State.

For this they are ostracised by the Western nations. Bloody coups
and counter-coups could be permitted in other countries, in South
America or in Syria, in countries where America and Britain had
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much closer interests than in Bulgaria or Hungary. But suppression
of coups could not be tolerated in the People’s Democracies. The
Anglo-American official conception of Democracy in the Balkans,
seemed to be on the Greek pattern with overflowing prisons and
firing squads executing the country’s best citizens at the rate of
ten or twelve daily. The truth of the matter is that any country
which can guarantee safety for British and American investments,
no matter what the colour of its regime, is acceptable to Whitehall
and the White House, whether it be a personal dictatorship in Santo
Domingo, clerical Fascist in Spain, semi Fascist in South Africa, or
a gangster regime in a South American republic.

The corrupt regimes of Eastern Europe before the war, the peri-
odic massacre of a few thousand Communists, the complete sup-
pression of civil and political liberties, were never the subject of
official criticism from England and America. If the dictator were
a Horthy, a Tsankoff or Filov, a King Boris or King Carol, with
their feet well planted on the neck of the people, there were no
protests about denial of liberties. If it were a Dimitrov, a Rakosi, a
Pauker flung into jail for years without trial, there was no flutter of
excitement in the Foreign Office or State Department.

The difference is that today the people, an alliance of workers,
peasants and intellectuals, are in charge in these countries, they
are building the new life that their poets have written about for
centuries. There is no place in this new life for foreign trusts or
for foreign influence which can be used against the interests of
the people. The money-changers have been driven out and given
something of a scourging into the bargain. One after another, the
reserves of British and American capitalism have been marched into
the front line against these governments and one after another they
have been shot down. Their last trump card, Marshal Tito (proba-
bly played unwillingly because he was at best cutting their losses),
failed as miserably as did the local opposition and the Church, and
the traitors in the Party ranks. Bitter disappointment and tragic
blunders in the past have forced men like Rakosi and Dimitrov to
build on a sure foundation this time and to maintain that eternal
vigilance which is the price of liberty.

Liberty itself is a relative term. There is a suppression of liber-
ties in Bulgaria and Hungary. When one type of regime has been
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violently destroyed and another has taken its place it would be
courting suicide for the new government to grant full rights to
the supporters of the regime it has supplanted. The French revolu-
tionaries adopted the great human slogans of ‘liberty, equality and
fraternity,’ the slogan of the bourgeois revolution, glowing words
that kindled hope in the hearts of Europe’s masses struggling to free
themselves from the shackles of feudalism. The slogan blazed across
Europe like a forest fire sweeping away feudal privileges and inspir-
ing revolutions in a dozen states. But the French revolutionaries
certainly had no intention to grant ‘liberty, equality and fraternity’
to the Royalists. They quite properly chopped their heads off and
prevented as many as possible from leaving the country to plot a
counter-revolution with British and German help . . .

The whole of Bulgaria’s working population get free medical and
dental attention, their children free education and the possibility
for higher university education. There are three times as many
university students as under King Boris, and most of them children
of workers and peasants . . .

Try and tell the artists who receive monthly advances for their
uncompleted work, to whom the government has given studios,
for whom the finest villas and castles in the country have been
thrown open to work in, that their liberties have been taken away
from them. Try and tell the Hungarian factory workers who have
been selected for their capabilities and are being trained for posts
in the foreign office that their liberties have been suppressed. Visit
workers in their rest homes in the mountains or on the coast all
over the People’s Democracies, former villas of the landowners and
industrialists, and ask them where are their liberties. Ask the coal
miners of Pernik (now Dimitrovo) where Georgi Dimitrov grew
up and organised the first great strike in 1906, if they have been
robbed of their liberties. They will tell you that liberty in the days
between the wars meant to work on an average of two or three days
a week only, to live in miserable hovels miles away from Dimitrovo,
to see their families starve, to be shot down if they tried to organise.
Liberty in 1950 meant a full working week, wages equal to twice
that of a Cabinet minister for underground workers, the finest
education for their children, new apartments into which they were
being moved at the rate of 20 families weekly throughout the year
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in the city itself, for which they paid no rent, no gas or electric light
bills; four weeks’ paid holiday every year, constant free medical
attention.

I spoke to one miner who had been a university student at the
time of the 1923 revolt. He was suspected of being a sympathiser
and expelled. In the end he drifted to the mines as an underground
worker. He had worked there ever since and was still working. ‘My
sons now have the chance which I was denied,’ he said. ‘One has
just graduated in Slav studies from Sofia University, the other will
graduate next year in Law’ . . .

Ask the hundreds of thousands of youths who turn out each
summer to work on the great construction projects, on roads, dams
and railways in the People’s Democracies, what restrictions there
are on their liberties. They are joined by thousands of youths from
all over Western Europe, England and the New World each year,
who work with them for a spell to go back to tell of the new life,
but not of suppression of liberties. The truth is that each of these
youths can look forward to a full and creative life. He will be trained
according to his abilities at the expense of the State and he can be
sure of a job awaiting him when the studies are over. The job will not
depend on his social background, not on the colour of his tie, not on
his accent, but on his qualifications. Liberty is a relative term with
different values as it moves East into the People’s Democracies.
Under English liberty who could think of a career in the British
Foreign Office without the correct tie, accents and contacts? The
son of a Welsh miner, a Scottish shepherd, a Cockney taxi-driver?. . .

There are suppressions of liberty in the Western sense of the
word, but nothing which can offset the undreamed of liberties
which have been brought to 90 per cent of the people by the Peo-
ple’s Democracies. If you want an affirmative answer to your ques-
tion, join the landowners and former Horthy officials in the Vaci
Street cafes in Budapest. Their liberties have been suppressed. They
cannot leave the country; their estates have been taken away from
them; they have been dismissed from their jobs; in short they are
oppressed. Better still go to the country and talk to the kulaks in
Hungary or Bulgaria. They are the ones who are really finding life
hard today. Their liberties are disappearing. Landowners, bankers
and officials probably have some hobbies or are at least adaptable
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in idling the time away and are not bound to stay in one place. The
kulak, the wealthy peasant, is a man with no spiritual resources, no
interest in life but adding another few decares of land to his hold-
ing, a few more cows to his herd, a little more money in the bank
(or more likely in a hole under the fireplace). The only pleasures he
knows are adding to his property, eating himself full and drinking
himself stupid. Avaricious and gross, he is traditionally the most
merciless employer, a would-be large landowner with none of the
saving social graces. And today, bluntly expressed, he has no future,
and the present is hard. If he read books, he would know that he
had no future, even if he read the newspapers he would know it. But
each individual kulak thinks he is cunning enough to trick the gov-
ernment by hoarding his grain, hiding his machinery, slaughtering
his livestock illegally, salting his money away, leasing his ground to
straw men, and other devices tried and condemned as useless as
far back as the time of the Soviet revolution. But each one in each
district in each country goes through the same motions and slowly
but surely he comes to a bad end . . .

If one adds the kulaks, the large landowners, dispossessed indus-
trialists and dismissed Fascist officials together, one would have a
figure well under 10 per cent of the population who really suffer
from a restriction of their liberties. They are much more articulate
however than the 90 per cent, so their voices are heard more abroad.
The restrictions on their liberties will increase in direct proportion
to the war preparations made by the Western powers and to the
Western efforts to develop espionage and sabotage networks in the
People’s Democracies. The leaders of this 10 per cent would imperil
the historic extension of liberties to the 90 per cent. The injustice
to the overwhelming mass of the people in Hungary and Bulgaria
has lasted for centuries, the injustices to the former privileged 10
per cent will endure at most for a generation.

Over a period of four and a quarter years, from the end of World
War II, I have been constantly travelling into the countries of East-
ern Europe. For the first three and a quarter years, I was based in
Berlin but travelled to Poland, Czechoslovakia, Eastern Germany,
Greece, Yugoslavia, Hungary and Bulgaria. For the past year I have
been based in Budapest, dividing my time between Hungary and
Bulgaria, with an occasional trip to Yugoslavia. I have been forced
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to the startling conclusion that while in Eastern Europe, with the
exception of Greece and Yugoslavia, the mass of the population
has been granted an extension of basic liberties on a generous and
ever-expanding scale, the opposite is the case in Western Europe.
The mass of the people there are faced with a constant shrinkage of
their basic liberties, which surely include the right to work and to
human happiness, the right to lead a creative life, to care for their
young and be cared for in their old age.

What liberties have two million unemployed in Italy and two
and a half million unemployed in Western Germany? Does it help
a starving Ruhr worker that a director of his factory has the liberty to
get a passport and travel to the United States? What does a landless
peasant in Italy care if the absentee landlords have the right to
passports to the gaming casinos of Monte Carlo, while he starves
or is shot down for daring to seize the unused land?

Liberty is a relative term! Let Mr. Bevin and Mr. Acheson be sure
what they are talking about.

Over a great part of the earth’s surface today, millions of people
are beginning to understand the difference of liberty in its East-
ern and Western concepts. The Korean people understand what
the Western world means by liberty as their towns and villages are
destroyed, thousands of men, women and children are executed
for their political sympathies. The miserable peasants of China
who received land from the Communists understand it and so
does the crowded population of Shanghai bombed almost daily
by American planes with American trained pilots. The partisans
fighting in the Grammos mountains in Greece understood it when
they were burned to death by fire bombs, dropped from Amer-
ican planes, often enough with American observers aboard. The
Vietnamese understand it as they are shot down with American
weapons wielded by German S.S. troops on orders from the Repub-
lic which invented the slogan ‘Liberty, Equality and Fraternity!’ The
Malayans and Indonesians understand well enough what the British
and Dutch mean when they speak of liberty. It is a word to shudder
at. Even Chief Seretse Khama of the Bamangwato tribe in Bechua-
naland understood what liberty in the British sense meant when
he exercised his personal liberty to marry a white woman and was
hounded out of his country for it by a British Socialist government.
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Even the British government is beginning to find out the American
understanding of the word, as pressure is constantly increased by
the groups behind the Marshall Plan for Britain to buy American
oil, American food, and dozens of other items for which she has no
need.

Liberty which is paraded in the West as a holy grail to keep the
masses quiet, descends on their necks as a rubber truncheon when
they organise to demand their real liberties, their basic rights to
work, to land, to a secure future. There are hundreds of millions of
people in the world today who have decided that liberty is some-
thing to do with everyday life and work. They are not interested
in a liberty of the press to promote religious and racial hatreds;
not interested in a liberty for publishers to flood bookstalls with
pornographic literature; not interested in the liberty of scientists
to devote their best brains to inventing hydrogen bombs or other
means of destroying the world; not interested even in the theoretical
liberty of the ballot box to decide between two groups of political
parties both bent on maintaining the privileges of one tiny group
of people over the great majority of the population.

If the same advance is made in the next twenty years as has been
made in the past five years in bringing real liberties to the workers
and peasants of the People’s Democracies, and if the Western pow-
ers give up their morbid plans to destroy the People’s Democracies
by force of arms and the hydrogen bomb, the whole population will
be enjoying liberties of a quality not yet dreamed of in the Western
world.

[From Chapter 16 of People’s Democracies (World Unity Publica-
tions, 1951), pp. 277–287.]
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The Microbe War [1953]

In September 1950 Burchett left Europe and briefly returned to Australia to
campaign against the atom bomb and the ban on the Australian Communist
Party. Then, on 4 February 1951, he crossed into Communist China: ‘My inten-
tions were to stay in China for a few months and gather material for a book
about what was going on in Chairman Mao’s China . . . In fact, things turned
out quite differently. Among other things I was not to see Australia again for
almost twenty years.’1

The reason he would not see his country for almost twenty years was Korea.

As he was ready to go home with enough material for a book, the left-wing
French paper Ce Soir, edited by Louis Aragon, asked him to cover the ceasefire
negotiations in Korea. He set out for Kaesong intending to stay for just three
weeks.

Burchett’s writings on Korea merit special scrutiny because they earned him the
label ‘traitor’ in the country of his birth, Australia. He was accused of fabricating
the germ warfare story detailed in this chapter, and of brainwashing American
and Australian POWs and torturing them to extract confessions.

In February 1952 the Korean Foreign Minister accused the US of waging bacteri-
ological warfare against North Korea. Wilfred Burchett investigated the claims
and came to the conclusion that the US had indeed conducted experiments in
bacteriological weapons delivery. He stood by his story till his death in 1983.
The US has always denied germ warfare allegations. An International Scientific
Commission was set up to investigate the claims. It was headed by Professor
Joseph Needham of Cambridge University and concluded that North Korea
and China had indeed been the objective of bacteriological weapons. To this
day the matter is still contested.

∗ ∗ ∗
When the Korean Foreign Minister announced in February 1952
that the Americans were dropping plague and cholera-infected
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insects from the air in North Korea, my mind went back to a press
conference in Chungking in the autumn of 1941. The Kuomintang
spokesman was Dr. Tsiang Ting-fu of the Chinese Foreign Office.
He charged that Japanese planes had dropped sacks of old rags con-
taining plague-infected fleas in Changteh, Kiangsi province. Com-
petent experts (including bacteriologists who later fought against
U.S. germ warfare in Korea) had made careful investigations, so Dr.
Tsiang assured us, and confirmed that the bundles of rags had been
dropped by Japanese planes, that they contained plague-infected
fleas, and that a plague epidemic had broken out. Most pressmen
filed stories at the time on the basis of Tsiang Ting-fu’s statement.
We knew also that confidential reports on the subject had been cir-
culated by the Kuomintang government to ten western embassies
in Peking.

Confirmation of Dr. Tsiang’s charges came later when the Soviet
government placed on trial, at Khabarovsk, in December 1949,
the chief of the Japanese Kwantung Army and leading Japanese
germ warfare experts. The accused described how germ warfare
was waged against China and the huge-scale preparations for germ
warfare against the Soviet Union. They gave details of the actual
case at Changteh referred to by Dr. Tsiang.

The chief Japanese germ warfare expert, General Shiro Ishii, was
not available for trial at Khabarovsk. He was being sheltered by Gen-
eral MacArthur in Tokyo. MacArthur refused Soviet requests for
his extradition and took it upon himself to deny that the Japanese
had ever used germ warfare or contemplated using it. It was impos-
sible not to connect up this chain of events as soon as the charges
were made that U.S. forces were dropping germ-infected insects
on North Korea, the more so as Reuter had reported that General
Shiro lshii had arrived in South Korea at the end of December 1951.

A little more research provided some more interesting links.
The American Embassy had received a report on Japanese germ
warfare methods in the autumn of 1941. Within a few months germ
warfare research had started in the United States. Confirmation of
this was contained in the report submitted to the U.S. Secretary
of War, Patterson, on 4 January 1946 by George Merck, former
Chairman of the Biological Warfare Committee of the U.S. Army
Chemical Warfare Service. The report was made public at the time,
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but quickly withdrawn as its horrifying revelations were too much
for the public stomach. But for those interested a summary of the
report and other details of American and British bacterial warfare
preparations was published in Keesing’s Contemporary Archives for
2–9 February 1946.

‘Mr. Merck’s report,’ cites Keesing’s, ‘stated that systematic study
of germ warfare started in the U.S.A. towards the end of 1941.’

There was any amount of evidence from American sources that
intensive research was continuing right up till the moment the
Korean Foreign Minister made his accusations. Typical of these
was the remark made by Brig.-Gen. William Creasey, Chief of the
Research and Development Branch of the U.S. Army Chemical
Warfare Service. He was reported in the U.S. press as saying as
late as 25 January 1952, that ‘germs, gas and radioactive materials’
might prove to be the ‘cheapest weapons’ for conquering an enemy,
and he added gleefully ‘without destruction of his economy’ –
heartwarming words for the Wall Street camp-followers. There was
also Mr. Truman’s curious remark at the end of August 1951, just
after the American Air Force had bombed Kaesong and broken off
the talks – just before Dulles was whipping the Allies into shape to
sign the Japanese Peace Treaty.

‘We have fantastic weapons,’ reported Mr. Truman, ‘and ready
for use now.’ To what was Mr. Truman referring? Certainly not the
atom bomb.

With all these facts there was evidence enough for any journalist
to start delving a little further. We were four foreign correspondents
in Kaesong. Alan Winnington of the London Daily Worker, Tibor
Merai of Szabad Nep (Budapest), Lucian Pracki of Zolnierz Wolnosci
(Warsaw), and myself. As journalists we felt we had to be convinced
by our own eyes and ears and not by secondhand reports. For
several months, we took it in turns to leave Kaesong and carry
out independent investigations. We were only laymen, but at least
experienced reporters used to interviewing people and evaluating
their evidence.

We soon realised the difficulty of the work. Reports came in of
raids, but by the time we got to the spot, there was nothing to be
found except strips of burned earth. Insects could not be held until
journalists and photographers arrived. They had to be dealt with
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swiftly, while they were still dazed from their sudden descent. And
the methods being used were designed to leave no trace of material
evidence.

One of the first cases which Winnington and I investigated was
one in which Chinese Volunteers had seen three F.51-type planes
dropping insects at a point about 30 miles east of Kaesong and
10 miles north of the battle-line. ‘They circled low,’ said our C.P.V.
informant, ‘and it looked as if brownish smoke was coming from
their tails. After they had gone, we found clusters of flies and fleas
on the snow-covered hillsides. In one place there were over 1,000
fleas in a square metre of snow.’ We questioned Chen Chih-ping,
head of the local insect-reconnaissance unit, and he confirmed the
account and said that tests at battalion headquarters showed that
the fleas were infected with bubonic plague. We interviewed other
volunteers and Ku Tse-san, an old Korean peasant, and the stories
were all roughly the same. Ku said he had lived in the area for 63
years and had never seen fleas in the open before, and that flies
never appeared until the end of March (it was then February 12).
‘How could there be flies and fleas while there is still snow on the
ground?’ he asked.

The nearest that Winnington and I came to being on the spot
of a germ attack during the first few weeks was at the little village
of Chuk Dong, only six miles south-west of Kaesong. In this case,
as it was close to Kaesong and the incident was fairly promptly
reported, we were on the spot within 24 hours. All there was to
see, however, was a long strip of ground on which straw had been
burned, round clumps of straw on the fields adjacent to the strip
with pin-head size remains of insects on the edge of the ashes. Again,
we had to rely on eyewitnesses, but we were able to question Chinese
Volunteers and Korean schoolchildren independently. Because of
language difficulties (there is no relation between the Korean and
Chinese languages) the Volunteers had not been able to speak to
the children.

Chuk Dong is a village of two tiny hamlets, separated by a hump-
backed hill. At about 11 a.m. on March 9, a group of Volunteers
had seen a plane flying so low they thought it must have been
hit by anti-aircraft fire. It disappeared behind the hump-backed
hill. A patrol was sent to the other hamlet and found along a strip
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of land about 200 yards long and 20 wide, in a direction corre-
sponding to the flight of the plane, hundreds of clumps of flies
and mosquitoes, swirling around on the ground in such a density
that ‘if you put your foot down,’ as the patrol leader expressed
it, ‘you would kill a hundred.’ A patrol had been along the same
path at 8.30 a.m., and there were no insects there then. Sentries
were posted and the rest returned to report to Company head-
quarters. Within 80 minutes of the insects being discovered, Vol-
unteers were on the spot with petrol. By the time they arrived the
mosquitoes were hovering about a yard above ground but the flies
were still swirling around. Samples were taken and then the Volun-
teers – helped by the children – gathered straw and laid it over the
entire area, including on some insect clusters which had fallen off
the main strip. They poured petrol over the straw and set the lot
alight.

When we asked if anybody had seen a container drop, the Volun-
teers said they had not, and they could not speak with the children
or peasants who would be the only ones to know. Through an inter-
preter we spoke to the peasants and children. They had all seen the
plane, but immediately dived into the air-raid shelters and did not
come out until the sound of the plane had faded away. Later they
had seen the Volunteers gathering straw and went over to see what
was happening. Then they too saw the insects – and they described
them just as the Volunteers had done. They then helped spreading
out straw. One child took us over to where a swarm of mosquitoes
had flown off and settled on the warm, white wall of a cottage. The
children had twisted some straw up into torches and jabbed them
into the mosquitoes. We could see the smoke marks on the wall and
the stubs of the improvised torches. There were patches of snow on
the ground and a stream nearby was frozen over – most unusual
climatic conditions for mosquitoes.

Merai and Pracki came back from the rear with similar stories.
They had not had the ‘good fortune’ of being in a germ raid, but
were on the scene shortly after numerous raids.

It is necessary to stress that bubonic plague has never been known
in the recorded history of Korea. The only case of a cholera epidemic
for 60 years was in 1946 and directly traceable to the fact that an
American vessel had dumped ashore at Pusan the bodies of two
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men who had died of the disease. The epidemic which followed
did not spread to North Korea. Cholera and plague follow definite
patterns. Plague is carried by rats and humans and naturally spreads
along communication routes. Cholera usually branches out in every
direction from its focal point. But in North Korea in early 1952
isolated cases of plague and cholera cropped up in places widely
separated and not connected. There was no other explanation for
this phenomenon – even if there were not the evidence of American
air-dropping – than that the diseases were being artificially spread.
And the laboratory tests showed that the bacteria were artificially
cultivated, with different strengths and characteristics from the
natural varieties.

After Winnington returned to Kaesong I left for the P.O.W.
camps – and there had my closest experience of an insect raid.
After lunch on June 6 I had planned to drive from Camp 5, 45
miles to Camp 1, but I was delayed for about an hour by an air
alert. I then had to cross an arm of the Yalu, with my jeep aboard
a ferry. About halfway across, I noticed that schoolchildren aboard
were excited about something in the water, and the two ferrymen
too were gazing fixedly at the water. Thinking it must be a school
of fish, I got out of the jeep and saw the water was covered with
a patch of insects on an area of about 200 by 50 yards. While we
watched they began clambering on to the ferry, shaking their wings
and trying to fly. There were two types, both of them winged. One
an inch long with trailing abdomen and pincer-like jaws which
moved horizontally, the other a smaller one, something like a very
slim house fly. The two old ferrymen were obviously puzzled and
on subsequent investigation said they had never seen such insects
either on the water or any other place before.

Later in the day, reports came from two other points – that insects
had been dropped from American planes. In one case the insects
had landed in the middle of P.O.W. Camp 2, in the other a container
was seen to drop into the Yalu not far from Camp 3, and boatmen
had found many insects in the water. Early next morning reports
came from Camp 3 itself, that the beach was covered for a distance
of about 50 yards with winged insects swarming ashore. In Camps
2 and 3 prisoners of war helped destroy the insects and signed
statements as to what they had seen. The times of the droppings,
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the sighting of the container and the air alert at Camp 5 all tallied
within a few minutes. The air distance between Camp 2 and 3 is
about 50 miles, with Camp 5 in between. The whole area is part
of what are known as the Finger Lakes, formed by the damming
of the Yalu, and providing the water supply for that area of North
Korea.

I interviewed many prisoners in both camps who testified to hav-
ing taken part in dealing with the insects. The raid had taken place
in the South Korean section of Camp 2 and I spoke with a medical
orderly who supervised the activities of his squad in sweeping the
insects into heaps and burning them. Samples had been preserved
and they were identical with the larger type which I had seen. As the
raid took place just after lunch, the P.O.W.s had been enjoying their
post-luncheon two hour rest period, and none had seen anything
drop. But schoolchildren in a school, actually within the prisoners
of war compound – they shared the same basketball court – had
actually seen containers coming down as planes passed overhead.
They described them as ‘shining globes as big as two baseballs.’
(From the report of the International Commission of Scientists,
it is obvious that what the children saw was what was named the
‘egg-shell’ bomb, made of calcareous material, porous enough to
allow insects to breathe and which shatters into a thousand frag-
ments on impact and would pass unnoticed by anyone looking for
containers.)

My main interest in the camps was to interview American air-
men. The testimony of those who admitted to taking part in germ
warfare has already been published. I talked to all of these airmen at
length and on several occasions. I am convinced that the statements
they made are accurate and were made of their own free will.

Many people are puzzled as to why these airmen spoke out and
told everything they knew, even to naming other of their comrades
who had also taken part. The short answer is that they are men who
know they are taking part in an unjust war. (It must be remembered
too, that there are many more airmen prisoners of war who have
undoubtedly also taken part in germ warfare but who have not yet
spoken out.)

A good example of a man who felt he was in an unjust war is
Lt. Paul Kniss of the U.S. Air Force, serial No. A01909070, of 1103
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Southwest Military Drive, San Antonio, Texas. It so happened that
I was the first person to speak to Kniss when he arrived at the
P.O.W. camp, a few days after he was shot down. I was collecting
material for an article on the morale of U.S. airmen at the time,
and I did not raise the question of germ warfare with him. I was
too fascinated with his story of the grumblings in his squadron
when Van Fleet’s son was shot down and every pilot had to turn
out and search for the missing Van Fleet jun. And every plane
in Kniss’s squadron was shot up. Two crashed on the way home,
others landed back full of bullet holes and wounded pilots. ‘Nobody
came looking for me when I got shot down,’ he said wryly, ‘but then
I’m not a general’s son.’ Kniss, in fact, was the son of an agricul-
tural labourer, himself an unskilled odd-jobs man before he joined
the armed forces. He talks in the simple, straightforward way of a
worker, and is an honest-looking man who has known misery and
poverty.

I was surprised shortly after this interview to hear that Kniss
had immediately admitted that he had taken part in germ warfare
and had given a vast amount of factual information which tied
in with everything already known, including specific details given
by another member of Kniss’s own squadron, Lieutenant O’Neal. I
talked with Kniss again and asked him why he had decided to speak
out.

‘Well,’ he said, in his serious way of talking, ‘the last thing before
I left the States, I and the five other pilots travelling with me had
a lecture at Camp Stoneman, our processing centre, about germ
warfare. It was given by a Captain Holleman. The main thing about
it was that we might hear rumours that America was waging germ
warfare, but this was just North Korean propaganda and we must
deny it wherever we heard it. Then he went on to say that other
nations might use it, so America was prepared, and he told us
how we would retaliate, the different ways of waging germ warfare
by using artillery, planes or secret agents to infiltrate behind the
lines.

‘That was fine. I was pleased he’d scotched a rumour, because
I’d seen a paragraph in the paper that the North Koreans said we
were dropping germ bombs. Then we came to K. 46, that’s the 18th
Fighter-Bomber Group base. The day after we arrived, we were
sent for by the Group Intelligence Officer, Captain McLaughlin.
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He took us into his office, locked the door, and after telling us
that what he was going to say was top secret, and not even to be
discussed among ourselves, he told us the 18th Group had been
carrying out germ warfare since the beginning of the year and
that all other Groups were doing the same. Then he went on to
tell us how it was being done.’ Kniss then went into the sort of
details which have already been published, describing the types of
bombs and bacteria McLaughlin said were being used, and other
information.

‘And at the end of the talk,’ continued Kniss, ‘he produced a
statement for each of us to sign promising not to discuss the subject
of the lecture with anyone, under penalty of being prosecuted under
the Articles of War. McLaughlin said he’d keep the statement in his
office and use it against us at a court-martial, if we broke security.’

That is the moment when the U.S. Armed Forces lost a faithful
officer. It was the beginning of Kniss’s disillusionment in his gov-
ernment, in the military hierarchy and in his immediate military
superiors. ‘It knocked me,’ he said, ‘coming right on top of the
lecture at Stoneman. For the first time I began to wonder who was
right and who was wrong in this war, if they’d lie like that to us and
to the people at home.’ He went on to relate his gradual disgust
at the type of missions the pilots were flying. He had been trained
as a fighter-pilot but his missions in Korea were mainly dropping
napalm or high explosive on peaceful villages. ‘And the way they put
it in the communiques,’ he said disgustedly. ‘A village of mud huts
that we’d blown sky high or burned out with napalm was so many
“military barracks.” Raids in which towns were blindly plastered
with high explosive were against “specific military targets.” And on
top of all this, the germ missions. All this, we were being told, was
done to liberate the North Koreans. I never could figger out how it
happened you had to wipe people out so you could liberate them
and teach them democracy.’ And he concluded by saying, ‘As far
as germ warfare was concerned, I’d made up my mind that if I was
ever shot down, I’d tell everything I knew about it as soon as anyone
asked me. I’m ashamed to have had any part in it and I’m sure the
American people would be ashamed if they knew it was going on.’
And Kniss told the whole story as soon as he was questioned.

Other captured airmen helped fill in details. Lt. Floyd O’Neal’s
testimony was particularly interesting because having been trained
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as a scientist, he absorbed much more of the preparatory germ
warfare lectures than the others. He was able to present a vivid and
horrifying picture of American scientists poring over their micro-
scopes and test-tubes, turning back the record of medical science
to the Middle Ages when the Black Death and cholera ravaged the
populations of Europe. He described in detail how these perverted
men worked to develop more virulent types of bacteria than those
naturally spread, of how they were developing bacteria – and insects
to carry them – which would flourish in cold, sub-zero climates
where diseases were formerly unknown.

One of the inhibiting factors which kept O’Neal silent for a time
was, as he expressed it to me, ‘because I was ashamed for the outside
world to know of the degradation of American science. But l soon
realised it was more important that the world should know the
truth so that this black sheep of science could be halted and banned
before these madmen in the laboratories destroy civilisation itself.’

One thing common to these airmen was that immediately they
decided to speak out, they developed a fervour to let the people of
the whole world, but especially the American people, know what
was going on. They felt they only had to speak out and the news
would be flashed throughout every newspaper in the United States
and the American people would take action. It was difficult for
them to imagine that such a stupendous piece of news would be
suppressed, that American journalists in South Korea, either were
prevented or deliberately refrained from going to the various air-
bases to check whether such persons as Captain McLaughlin existed
or to get comments from officers named as having briefed pilots on
germ warfare, or pilots named as having attended such briefings
or as having taken part in germ missions. These airmen who spoke
out were dumbfounded to learn of the shameful conspiracy of
silence.

An extraordinary document published in the Report of the Inter-
national Scientific Commission is a photostat copy of an article on
germ warfare, published in the Japanese newspaper Mainichi, on
Sunday, 26 January 1952. It is typical of the infamous conspiracy
of silence on germ warfare, that no Western pressmen ever cabled
a copy of this article abroad. It is signed by a Sakaki Ryohei, who
describes himself as ex-commandant of the Prevention Epidemic
Corps of Japan’s elite Kwantung Army.
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It starts by describing a night conference in October 1936, when
the decision was reached by the Japanese High Command to start
large-scale production for germ warfare. Preliminary research had
been good. A plan had been submitted to the top military author-
ities and at this conference the go-ahead signal was given.

For a country like Japan, extremely poor in raw materials, germ warfare
is the most appropriate arm. With a few square metres of laboratory
and some test tubes, one can easily produce a weapon capable of
decimating tens of thousands of people.

Sakaki Ryohei goes into precise details of the Japanese develop-
ment of germ warfare and states that it was decided that bubonic
plague was one of the most favourable diseases to be employed. He
names the officer in charge of breeding rats, the officer in charge of
raising fleas and explains how it was possible to increase the viru-
lence of plague bacteria by one-third by passing it first through the
bodies of rats. He gives instructions for the loading of bacteria and
insects into containers and stresses how important it was to pump
a sufficient supply of oxygen into the containers to keep them alive.
The article is illustrated and photostats of the illustrations are con-
tained in the Report. The infamous ‘Ishii’ porcelain bacterial bomb
is shown, named after MacArthur’s war criminal protege.

A few of these bombs were recovered intact from the germ war-
fare factories the Japanese maintained in Manchuria – and which
they blew up when the Kwantung Army surrendered. More interest-
ing even than the Ishii bomb is that Mainichi carries an illustration
of the almost exact counterpart of the four-compartment leaflet
bomb, which was the favourite container used by the Americans
in Korea and North-East China. The Mainichi illustration actu-
ally shows a three-compartment bomb, split lengthwise (as is the
American one), with a parachute attached and a rat leaping out of
one of the compartments. It describes a self-destroying reinforced
paper container – also similar to ones used by the Americans –
dropped by parachute which ignites after it has deposited its cargo
of rodents, destroying both container and parachute.

This article was published after germ warfare had started in
Korea, but before the Korean authorities knew it had started.
It is the perfect answer – from the criminals themselves – to
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MacArthur’s claims on behalf of the Japanese militarists, that the
latter never employed germ warfare. The only possible explanation
for the article is that it was intended to tell the Japanese people
that Japan still had a weapon suitable for her status in the world,
capable of winning wars.

Why did germ warfare carried out against a completely unsus-
pecting Korean and Chinese people fail? The Korean and Chinese
people were not quite unsuspecting and certainly not unprepared.
In fact germ warfare caught both North Korea and China in the
middle of vast sanitation campaigns which had been started sev-
eral years earlier and were conducted on an intensified scale each
year. The North Koreans even had some prior experience of germ
warfare. One of the tasks of the secret agents of Rhee Military
Intelligence, in the first part of 1950, was to infect water and food
supplies in the North with bacteria.

When the Americans retreated from North Korea in Decem-
ber 1950, the North Korean Ministry of Public Health announced
that they had infected four cities with smallpox – another disease
previously unknown in Korea. Epidemics broke out in Pyongyang,
Chongjin, Kuwon and Yongdok, in each case six or seven days after
American troops withdrew. The incubation period for smallpox is
ten days and the bacteria must have been spread a few days before
withdrawal. The bacteria were found to be of artificial culture – and
in this case less virulent than the natural variety. The four cities are
widely separated, but the epidemics broke out simultaneously and
no other centres were affected. The cities were not connected by the
retreat route, that is to say troops withdrawing from Chongjin, did
not pass through Pyongyang, Yongdok or Kuwon and vice-versa,
so the epidemic – even if started naturally – could not have been
transmitted by the troops. And in any case there were no outbreaks
in intermediate towns or villages.

A highly suspicious circumstance in connection with this is that
in March 1951, American press agencies reported that a special bac-
teriological research ship was anchored in Wonsan Harbour, where
a medical team headed by Brigadier-General Crawford Sams, chief
of the U.S. Army’s ‘Public Health and Welfare Section’ (the Japanese
also used high-sounding names like ‘Anti-Epidemic Organisa-
tion’ to camouflage their germ warfare organisations) carried out
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medical tests on prisoners picked up from the North Korean main-
land. Sams later told the American press that he ‘knew there would
be epidemics after we withdrew’ from North Korea. American
correspondents who wished to go on the Sams’ expedition were
refused permission and there was a great hue-and-cry at Tokyo
headquarters to discover how correspondents got wind of the mis-
sion. It was given the highest security classification used by the U.S.
Army – hardly necessary if Sams were going on a ‘humanitarian’
mission to try and halt epidemics in Korea.

In the smallpox epidemic, 3,523 people were infected of whom
358 died, mostly babies under 12 months. Due to the American
occupation babies born in that area had not been vaccinated –
American humanitarianism could not be stretched that far.

Primarily the Americans failed in germ warfare because they
were fighting against an entire people led by real People’s gov-
ernments. It was impossible for American fascist-military men-
tality to understand what this meant or to evaluate the changes
which had occurred under the People’s governments. There was
not even any way of the American authorities knowing what had
happened. The State Department had blown its brains out and
anyone who dared suggest that important reforms had taken place
was hounded out of public service as a ‘Red.’ American military
intelligence relied for information on Kuomintang landlords and
reactionary missionaries whose only interest was in bolstering the
idea that the entire Chinese people were sighing and panting for
American ‘liberation.’ The American militarists fell into the same
error as did Hitler by relying on reports from White Russian emi-
gres that the entire Soviet people were awaiting the Nazi liberators
with bouquets. There was no one to inform the American mili-
tarists that People’s China had carried out the greatest and most
successful anti-epidemic campaign that any nation had carried out
in history – in a little over two years, completely eradicating epi-
demic diseases which had been endemic for generations. Hundreds
of millions of people were inoculated every year. Plague, cholera,
smallpox, the recurrent scourges of Asian peoples, were completely
eliminated. And from the application of inoculations on a scale
never before known, the Chinese, with the aid of the most advanced
science of the Soviet Union, had accumulated rich experience to
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be placed at the disposal of the Korean people in their hour of
need.

At a time when medical teams were plodding on foot through
snow to that typhus-ridden mountain village in South Korea, vir-
tually the entire population of North Korea, including troops at the
front and Chinese Volunteers, had been inoculated against cholera,
plague, typhus, the typhoid group and against every type of disease
which it was known the Americans were disseminating. Literally
tons of serum were given first priority of transport from China. By
the end of March every person had been inoculated.

Every military unit, every town and village had its insect recon-
naissance and sanitation squads. Reports on germ and insect drop-
pings had first priority on all civilian and military communication
channels. All-out war was declared on rodents, flies, mosquitoes,
spiders and other disease carriers. The entire country – and later
when the Americans extended their operations the same applied
to north-east China – was mobilised to fight germ warfare. The
governments could count on the people, the people had complete
faith in the authorities. There was no panic, as the Americans had
counted on to spread the epidemics. If a case of plague was reported,
the house was isolated but the people stayed on to fight the rats
and fleas instead of spreading them in all directions by flight.
The people were mobilised and the finest scientists of Korea and
China were mobilised also. First-class modern laboratories were set
up in caves hewn out of the mountains. Among the 16 Chinese
bacteriologists who played a leading part in the fight were four
Research Fellows from the Department of Bacteriology, Harvard,
three from New York State University, two from the London
National Research Institute, and others from the Rockefeller Insti-
tute, Paris. All of them held science degrees from Western univer-
sities and their names are internationally known in their respective
fields. The two medical scientists in charge of anti-epidemic work
in Korea were both decorated by the American Government for
their work on the Anti-Typhus Commission in Burma in 1946.
(They returned their decorations after the Americans launched
germ warfare in Korea.)

After insect droppings one could see literally thousands of people
with improvised gloves and masks, tweezers of two sticks used like
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chop-sticks, slowly moving over the field, picking up insects and
dropping them into buckets to be burned in heaps. They were the
‘first-aid’ teams. Later would come truckloads of figures, cloaked
in white except for where their trousers were tucked into black,
knee-high rubber boots, equipped with anti-insect sprays.

Every house was equipped with D.D.T. sprays and fly-
swatters. Rat-holes in the ground and in walls were blocked up,
even holes in trees which might have provided breeding places
for mosquitoes were filled in with a kind of cement. Every propa-
ganda medium, from newspapers and films to the primitive wall
newspapers in the tiniest hamlet with their crude drawings of flies
and insects, rallied the people to fight against the microbe war.
Sanitation squads went from home to home, from office to office
to ensure that anti-germ warfare measures were being rigorously
applied. It was impossible to enter marketplaces, ride on buses or
trains unless one could provide an up-to-date inoculation certifi-
cate. Regular checkpoints were set up on every road in Korea, where
certificates were produced, the traveller and vehicle sprayed with
D.D.T., and the vehicle had to roll over a D.D.T.-soaked matting bed
to ensure the tyres were also disinfected. Trains coming from Korea
or the North-east were emptied of passengers at certain points, cer-
tificates produced, passengers and train sprayed. Goods trains were
shunted into special tunnels where an ingenious system of pipes
with holes in them quickly and effectively sprayed cargo and freight
cars.

In government offices – even in Peking – cadres were given a
certain quota of flies and mosquitoes to be destroyed each day – and
they had to produce the results in paper envelopes for inspection.
As a result visitors to Peking in the spring and summer of 1952
were amazed to find it a city without flies or mosquitoes. And
the same in every village and town in China and Korea. Garbage
piles – some of which had been added to for centuries – were
moved and the strictest control of all refuse enforced. In some
cases where cats and dogs were known to have picked up infected
rodents dropped from planes the entire cat and dog population of
villages and towns were destroyed.

Only in countries where government and people are entirely one
could such measures be taken. Such mass organisation and mass
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discipline are outside the comprehension of American militarists
and so their monstrous scheme failed. They did succeed in killing
innocent Korean and Chinese men, women and children, but they
did not succeed in their main plan of starting vast epidemics to
weaken the Korean–Chinese will to resist their aggression.

One point which has puzzled many people is why did the Amer-
icans follow the ‘old-fashioned’ Japanese methods instead of using
the highly-publicised push-button methods of aerosol, bacteria
suspended in air and disseminated in clouds of mist from high-
flying aircraft. Reams of newspaper articles had been written in the
United States boasting of the perfection of such methods.

According to the opinion of competent Western scientists who
investigated germ warfare, there are many technical objections to
the use of aerosol. In the first place, if it were as terribly effective
as the publicists claim it would not have been possible to keep the
matter secret and American prestige was dependent on it being kept
secret. Second, for spreading most diseases it is ineffective. It is fine
for the armchair strategists to sit back and look at administrative
charts showing how many pounds of plague and cholera bacteria is
necessary to infect a given number of square miles and to wipe out
a given number of people. But in practice it is a different matter.

(The world can be thankful for the infantile faith of American
militarists in their administrative charts.)

Bacteria are extraordinarily sensitive things. Plague bacteria die
within a few minutes of exposure to sunlight. For most diseases
spread by bacteria or rickettsia (plague, cholera, typhus, the typhoid
group, etc.), spraying in aerosol would be a waste of time. Unless the
mist happened to settle on its intended victims immediately, and
unless conditions of temperature and humidity were just right, the
bacteria would be useless. Certain types of sub-microscopic viruses
and toxins could be employed, but in Korea adequate protection
could not be given to American troops for virus and toxic diseases
for which no antidotes have yet been developed. Aerosol mists are
at the mercy of every wind which blows – and they could easily blow
back to South Korea or even Japan. (The Americans did try spray-
ing bacteria suspended in jelly, but this was done from low-flying
aircraft, with no possibility of dispersal beyond the area sprayed.)
Bacteria-carrying insects are a much more effective medium – and
complete protection could be given to American troops, as every
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type of disease employed had its known antidote – and Ameri-
can troops, as we know from the P.O.W.s, were given inoculations
against every disease employed.

Plague-carrying fleas can infect from human to rodent host and
back again for an indefinite number of generations. They are not
dependent on temperature or humidity – especially the acclima-
tised ones bred by American scientists. Anthrax-infected tarantulas
dropped by the Americans live to a ripe old age of several years,
including two years without food or drink, and even naturally bred
can withstand light frosts. For years they are capable of biting ani-
mals or humans and infecting them with anthrax. A type of fowl-
mite known to spread encephalitis transmits the disease through its
eggs for endless generations. Humans can be secondarily infected
by eating the poultry.

By using artificial means of producing bacteria, normally harm-
less insects can be turned into deadly disease carriers. By spreading
out a typhoid culture medium on glass slabs and letting millions of
midges wade about in it, the normally harmless midge is converted
into a deadly typhoid carrier. Flies and any other insect inhabiting
human dwellings can be used in the same way. The same thing with
the ptinid beetle, normally a harmless creature living in granaries
or any place where food is stored – converted by American scientists
into an anthrax carrier. Its life span is up to five years.

For the conditions and circumstances in North Korea, the
Japanese type of germ warfare was the only one that could have
been used. And there is ample evidence that at least one branch
of American germ warfare research was based on adaptation and
improvements of Japanese experience. That is not to say that
under other circumstances the Americans would hesitate to use
aerosol. There is good reason to believe that they did carry out an
experimental aerosol spraying of encephalitis over Mukden, but
at the time the International Commission of Scientists made their
investigation the evidence was not conclusive. They noted the sus-
picious circumstances, however, in the Annex of their Report.

That the Americans failed in their initial attempt to use germ
warfare in Korea and North-East China should not lead to any
complacency or relaxation of the fight to have germ warfare banned.
The conditions in Korea were peculiar ones with American troops
exposed to dangers if the aerosol method was used and America
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2: With Allied pressmen at Panmunjom, Korea, 1952. From left to right: Norman
McSwan – Reuters; unnamed INS correspondent; Wilfred Burchett; unnamed AP
correspondent. [Courtesy Norman McSwan]

fearful of world public opinion. The American germ warfare experts
have boasted that they have isolated the very essence of bacteria,
the botulins – a few ounces of which, they claim, could wipe out
the world’s population. Whether this is so or not, we do know
that America’s ‘best’ scientists – to their everlasting shame – are
working day and night to produce ever more virulent types of
bacteria, viruses and toxins and to develop more effective methods
than those used so far. Doubtless they are doing their best to rectify
the failure of the Korean experiment.

Humanity can only be safe from this scourge when America
and Japan, the only two world powers who refused to ratify the
1925 Geneva Protocols outlawing germ warfare, are brought into
line with the rest of the civilised world by banning germ warfare.
The death factories of the U.S. Army Special Projects division at
Aberdeen, Maryland, and Camp Detrick must be put out of opera-
tion and American scientists return to the honorable road of using
their talents to preserve life rather than destroy it.

[Chapter 17 of This Monstrous War (Joseph Waters, Melbourne,
1953), pp. 306–326.]
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Koje Unscreened [1953]

The prisoner of war issue was a major stumbling block during the ceasefire talks
in Korea, each side accusing the other of atrocities, presenting lists and counter-
lists of prisoners and trying to score propaganda points. Wilfred Burchett set
out to investigate the veracity of each side’s claims and thus, for instance,
established that the highest-ranking US POW in Korea, General William Dean,
who had been reported dead, was indeed alive and well. He also contrasted the
generally good conditions he had observed in North Korean and Chinese-run
POW camps with the reportedly appalling conditions and brutality in Allied
prisoner of war camps, though in writing about this he indulged in some
hyperbolic language he would later regret using.

Koje Island was South Korea’s most populous prison camp and became notori-
ous as the scene of riots between Communist and non-Communist POWs over
the issue of forced repatriation or ‘screening’. Their actions were brutally sup-
pressed by their American captors, and the story of that suppression is covered
here by Burchett with his colleague Alan Winnington. They wrote two books
together, Koje Unscreened and Plain Perfidy (see Chapter 8). The contents were
based largely on interviews with prisoners who had escaped from Koje Island,
and on other eyewitness accounts, rather than Burchett’s usual ‘on the spot’
reporting.

∗ ∗ ∗
. . . The order for ruthless and energetic action must be given at the
slightest indication of insubordination, especially in the case of Com-
munist fanatics. Insubordination, active or passive resistance, must be
broken immediately by force of arms (bayonets, butts and firearms). . .
Prisoners of war attempting to escape are to be fired on without previ-
ous challenge. . . The use of arms against prisoners of war is as a rule
legal . . .

69
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No these are not the words of Ridgway, Mark Clark, Van Fleet
or Boatner. Except for the change of one word, this was a quota-
tion used by Judge John J. Parker, a US member of the Nuremburg
tribunal, which helped to send to the gallows Keitel, Kaltenbrun-
ner and Jodl. Instead of the word ‘Bolshevist’ in the original, we
have substituted the word ‘Communist,’ to bring it into line with
dozens of similar statements made by ‘UN’ commanders in Korea.
It was an order issued on 8 September 1941, for the treatment of
Soviet prisoners, by General Reinecke, head of the prisoners of war
department of the Nazi High Command. The order was approved
by the above named generals and became key evidence in sending
them to the gallows.

Orders such as this were recognised as war crimes under inter-
national law in 1945–6 and punished as such. Since then the Charter
of the International Tribunal of Nuremburg has been accepted as
part of international law. And since that Tribunal sat, the Geneva
Convention has been adopted, after discussions lasting more than
four years.

The officers responsible for the massacres of Korean and Chinese
prisoners and for the policies that led to those massacres are not less
guilty than Keitel, Kaltenbrunner and Jodl. Under international law,
and under United States law, the American government is bound
to bring these men to judgment.

But in fact the slaughters and the orders for them did not arise
from the aberrations of American generals. They were geared to
a specific schedule of political manoeuvres and also fitted exactly
into the general policy of making ‘Asians fight Asians.’

By the time the Americans broke off the talks, they had publicly
announced that the prisoners had been divided into two groups
– the ‘anti-Communists’ said to be refusing to be repatriated and
the ‘diehard Communists,’ as all prisoners were called who insisted
on going home. But even after that forcible segregation and its
results on world opinion, the Americans were still not content to
let matters rest.

Two distinct pressures were still exerted on the prisoners with
unrelenting ferocity. The ‘diehard Communists’ were still being
‘screened’ and ‘re-screened’ in further efforts to force their ‘con-
version’. Identical pressure was being applied to the others to force
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them to take one more ‘final’ step – to join the armed forces of the
‘UN’ (Syngman Rhee’s army) and of Chiang Kai-shek. This pressure
was violently increased after the disastrous American manpower
losses in the October–November 1952 offensive on the Kumhua
front.

‘Voluntary repatriation’ had achieved its political aim of wreck-
ing the truce talks and the war could go on. But more cannon fodder
was needed and the best part of a potential ten divisions existed
among the prisoners of war.

During October, the Americans announced that the remaining
11,000 of the former 38,000 ‘reclassified civilians’ would be handed
over to Rhee for ‘release,’ which meant for press-ganging into the
Rhee army. This again displays American disregard for arithmetic.
They never admitted holding 44,000 but at one time said 7,000
of the 38,000 wanted to be repatriated. They now said the entire
38,000 were to be handed over to Rhee.

From the sort of excuses given for the continued killings and
woundings of prisoners during October, there can be no doubt that
the prisoners were still being ‘screened’ and were still not coming up
with the right answers. UP reported from Koje on October 13 that
seven prisoners were wounded while they ‘were being moved from
one compound to another.’ On the following day four prisoners in
one compound were wounded because ‘they protested against the
removal of one of their companions for questioning’ and 15 were
wounded in another compound for protesting against the removal
of four of their comrades ‘for questioning.’ A week later another
nine were wounded at Pusan on the mainland because they refused
to form work details due to their comrades having been taken away
‘in a routine transfer’ (it should be noted that using typical press-
gang tactics, one way the Americans tried to ‘capture’ prisoners for
‘screening’ was to grab work details while they were outside the
compound). Finally by killing and wounding 75 prisoners on Koje
because, as the ‘UN’ Communique said, ‘prisoners started drilling
in their compound,’ the Americans capped what their own figures
show was the bloodiest month of all.

The shocking total of prisoners killed and wounded during Octo-
ber was 506, according to American figures – an average of 16 every
day. All through November and December, the shootings went on,
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and it was notable that during this period there were several inci-
dents on Pongam Island where the attention of the executioners
seemed to be directed to the ‘civilian internees.’ Syngman Rhee
appeared to be having difficulty in persuading the last 11,000 to be
‘released’ to join his army. The ‘UN’ Command decided to disci-
pline these reluctant prisoners on Pongam in an effort to speed up
the recruiting campaign.

American troops killed 87 and wounded 115 Korean prisoners
on December 14, in the bloodiest massacre they had yet admitted.
Once more the excuse was that the prisoners had staged a mass
escape attempt, about which the ‘UN’ Command had been fore-
warned but had taken no action to prevent. Once more the troops
that did the shooting were inside the stockades and there were no
prisoners outside the compounds. No correspondents were on the
spot but from the reports they wrote later from Pongam it is per-
fectly clear that the ‘mass escape’ excuse was as false in this case as
it was in the case of Cheju.

In explaining the ‘mass escape attempt,’ the propaganda service
of the US State Department, USIS, on December 15, quoted the
‘UN’ Command as saying that the prisoners ‘organised drills and
demonstrations in each of the six compounds on Pongam in defi-
ance of lawful orders. The Communists then moved according to
plan, the Command said, to the top of a high terrace where they
hurled a shower of stones at ascending US troops.’

Was this high terrace a point from which prisoners could leap
in a mass escape attempt? It appears not. Just as it is clear, even
from the USIS report, that the prisoners, far from trying to escape,
retreated into the compound in front of the advancing troops and
answered rifle fire with stones.

For an eyewitness account of this ‘mass escape’ attempt, UP
correspondent Fred Painton on October 16, quoted the island com-
mander in charge of the blood-letting, Lieutenant Colonel Miller.
‘They were standing in rows four ranks deep with their arms linked,’
Miller said, according to Painton’s report. ‘They were singing and
swaying back and forth. After our first volley, the wounded were
held upright and kept on singing. Ones that were down were pulled
up by the arms . . . when my men tried to remove the dead and
wounded after the battle, the prisoners lay on the ground with
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locked arms. Our men had to force them apart.’ As on Cheju Island,
it seemed that the prisoners adopted curious procedure for a mass
escape.

Painton’s report goes on ‘. . . he (Miller) said the prisoners made
a “tremendous noise” by singing prohibited Communist songs,
cheering and chanting slogans. Miller, an expert on tactical prob-
lems, said the terrain was the reason the prisoners got such an edge
over their captors that bullets became necessary. The slope where
the prisoners have their compounds and barracks rose upward at
a 30-degree angle. It is terraced to allow construction of barracks
and other installations. Miller said “It was a tactical situation in
their favour. They were perched 15 feet higher than my troops with
their backs against the barracks’ walls . . .”’

And there we have it. Faced with troops advancing and firing
on them, the prisoners retreated until they could retreat no longer.
With their backs to the barracks’ walls, they linked arms and sang
until the bullets cut them down, just as the victims of the Nazi
gas chambers linked arms and sang until the gas choked off their
voices.

‘The Communists stood straight up,’ Miller said, ‘and made no
attempt to dodge the bullets fired from light machine-guns, shot
guns, carbines and rifles at less than 30 yards. Some tried to fight
hand-to-hand with the UN guards.’

What a picture of the depraved mentality of the American mili-
tary mind is given by this brief description! Miller had no idea that
the picture he was drawing was of the courage and proud dignity
of the prisoners faced with such Hitlerite barbarity.

The Pongam massacre took place because the Americans were
meeting resistance to their plan of turning over the remaining
11,000 ‘civilian internees’ to be impressed into the Rhee army.
According to American reports, this was the second large-scale
butchery of ‘civilian internees’. But the reports of the ICRC show
that this was by no means the whole story. Tucked away discreetly
in their French language bulletins, which never seem to find their
way into the press, the ICRC reported that four days after the pris-
oner lists were exchanged on 18 December 1951, almost 800 of
these ‘reclassified civilians’ were beaten up, six were killed and 41
wounded by rifle fire for protesting against being classified as ‘South
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Korean civilians’. They demanded their right to prisoner of war
treatment as loyal members of the Korean People’s Army.

The spokesman for the prisoners repeated these demands after
the incident when a representative of the ICRC went to investi-
gate. He reported that the incident was caused by ‘the application
of political coercion’ on the question of repatriation. How did it
happen?

The inmates of the compound had been lumped together
as ‘non-Communist South Korean civilians’. They protested so
strongly against this that the Camp Commandant told the ICRC
representative that ‘half the prisoners had changed their minds after
signing a declaration’. In order to ‘screen’ them – or force them to
change their minds back again – the Commandant sent in a team
of Rhee guards to interrogate them. The prisoners objected and the
guards withdrew. They returned with 95 ‘anti-Communist’ pris-
oners, according to the Commandant (according to the authors’
information they were members of Syngman Rhee’s fascist Anti-
Communist Youth League), who tried to enforce the ‘screening.’
They started by taking away 17 ‘agitators’ whom they regarded as
the prisoners’ leaders, to security headquarters, and they arrested
many others. They separated the other prisoners and one group
was taken to a special building where they were mercilessly beaten
with clubs and then forced to squat on the ground all night with
their hands clasped behind their necks. The rest were forced to
stretch out in their tents, face down to the icy ground, and remain
there all night, with guards patrolling to beat them if they moved.

Next morning they were lined up and orders were given to
start ‘screening’. When the prisoners still refused, the ROK guards
opened fire, killing six on the spot and wounding 41.

During his visit in mid-January, the ICRC delegate was assured
by the Camp Commandant that after this shooting, Compound
62 was regarded as an entirely ‘Communist’ compound and that
known ‘Communists’ from other compounds would be concen-
trated there.

What shines through every line of this report was that in this
compound, as in all others, a prisoner who demanded repatriation
was at once branded as a ‘diehard Communist,’ with all the brutal
treatment that entailed. But even after officially acknowledging
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that all the inmates of this compound wanted to be repatriated,
the Americans were again trying, within a month, to coerce these
prisoners by individual ‘screening’ and in the dead of night, to
‘change their minds’. For it was in this same Compound 62 that the
American ‘Wolfhounds’ attacked on February 18, killing 85 and
wounding 129.

That is the story according to the ICRC. But there are far more
revealing reports available from some of these ‘civilian internees’
who, after being press-ganged into the ROK army and sent to the
front, managed to cross the lines back to the Korean People’s Army.
One of these was Kim Sung Tae, from Compound 64, POW serial
number 94990. Kim had joined the KPA after Seoul fell in July 1950
and was captured by the Americans after the Inchon landing.

‘Our life was nothing but misery and torture from the first days
of our capture,’ Kim said. ‘We were beaten, starved, tortured and
made to work like slaves. We were treated worse than beasts. But
we managed to keep our flag flying in the compound and we swore
revenge. We kept our flag flying until June 1951, and then the
Americans demanded that we pull it down and run up the flag of
Syngman Rhee. Nobody could be found willing to do such a thing.
There were 7,000 prisoners in our compound and they were all loyal
to the KPA and the Fatherland. So the Americans sent in tanks and
troops with rifles and grenades and again demanded that we haul
down our flag. We refused so they opened fire on us. Fifteen of our
comrades were killed and I was among the 20 wounded.

‘After they had torn our flag to pieces, they put up the Rhee flag
and then our real misery began. We were forced to attend meetings,
sing Rhee songs and recite stupid, disloyal verses and slogans. We
were beaten on the soles of our feet with steel and bamboo rods for
not singing or shouting loud enough.

‘At the end of the year (after discussions had started on the
prisoner issue at Panmunjom – Authors) we were told that the
quickest way to go home was to sign a petition in our own blood
asking for “voluntary repatriation”. Otherwise they said we would
all be kept there. We were told that anyone who wanted to go
North could go if they signed the petition. But we were suspicious
of this and very few signed. And the more they tried to force us
the more suspicious we got,’ said Kim Sung Tae, a bronzed, stocky
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Korean lad with suffering bitten into every line of his honest young
face.

Then in February they massacred the comrades in Compound 62 near
ours and told us that we would get the same if we didn’t cooperate.
Eight days after the shooting, the Commandant of our compound,
Lieutenant Colonel Lim San Cho of the ROK army, came to us and
said that all who wanted to go North could do so. Everyone shouted
that they wanted to go, but nothing happened. In April he came again
and told us the same thing. This time he said that those who wanted
to go North should start moving out of the gates, but the guards were
waiting there and when the first ones stepped through, the guards
rushed at them, lashing out with their clubs and rifle butts.

Everybody stopped for a moment. The gates were slammed shut and
Colonel Lim shouted that everyone had made his choice and those
who had stayed in the compound had decided to stay in South Korea.
Those who had got out were dragged off and loaded into trucks. We
never saw them again.

In July 1952, the Americans started ‘releasing’ the first 27,000
of the ‘civilian internees’. They were handled in 17 batches and
Kim Sung Tae was in the sixteenth batch (he had been in hospi-
tal because of injuries originally received in the incident over the
flags. In hospital he and 200 others were automatically enrolled
in the ‘Comrades Association for Exterminating Communists’ and
were forced to take an oath to join the Rhee army and fight ‘the
Communists’).

‘My home was near Seoul,’ Kim continued, ‘and with the rest of
those in my batch who lived in that part, we were taken by train
to Seoul and escorted to the police station to register. An officer
there read out the copy of the oath I had been made to take in the
hospital and said I could return to my home only if I promised to
carry it out.’

Kim Sung Tae returned to his village and the day after he arrived,
a local policeman called and told him that he must register imme-
diately as a second-class reservist. The policeman called every day
until this was done.

‘As soon as I was registered, he kept coming back and telling me
I had two choices. I could enlist for the front or for the Labour
Corps,’ Kim said, adding that he chose the Labour Corps as the
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lesser of two evils. He soon found that the ‘Labour Corps’ was a
camouflage name for HID, a hush-hush outfit of American military
intelligence. Within less than a month after leaving Koje, Kim Sung
Tae was already at the front, after very brief training for intelligence
work.

A very similar story was told by Cha Kun Su, formerly of Com-
pound 65, POW serial number 16584. In his case an American
lieutenant colonel and an American priest had taken part in the
almost daily harangues, urging the compound inmates to change
sides. When he was ‘released,’ he was ordered to report for military
service or he would be regarded as a deserter and liable to be shot.
On the day he went to Seoul for physical examination, there were
more than 1,000 prisoners from Compound 65 going through the
process.

Many former inmates of the ‘civilian internee’ compounds have
told almost monotonously similar stories, although they were
released, press-ganged and captured at different times. They con-
firm everything known about these compounds from American
and ICRC sources. There is only one distinction – the prisoners are
able to tell what happens after they are handed over to Syngman
Rhee. From their evidence it is clear that the prisoners were given
the choice of being mown down in the compounds or being sent
to the front.

The same batch of ICRC reports which carry the details of the
brutality meted out to the ‘civilian internees’ reveals many other
massacres and incidents reported neither by the US Command nor
in the press. In particular it mentions the killing and wounding of
125 Koreans, including women, for celebrating their National Day,
15 August 1951. It confirms charges that American NCOs entered
women’s compounds committing rape, and other indignities such
as – on the pretext of searching for stolen property – forcing women
prisoners to strip nude. (Corporal Jollymore, the Canadian former
guard on Koje, described instances in which American guards com-
mitted rape in the women’s compound on Koje. He also states that
the women prisoners were in general reserved for officers, but other
ranks ‘with influence’ could also take part.)

As for the responsibility for all these crimes, the ICRC is obliged
to state that ‘these incidents were the result of serious prejudice on the
part of the detaining authority.’
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Having regard to the known bias of the ICRC in favour of
Americans, that must be considered about as grave a denuncia-
tion as the Committee could make, and certainly graver than any
it made against the Nazis.

[Chapter 11 of Wilfred Burchett and Alan Winnington, Koje
Unscreened (‘Published by the Authors’, Peking, 1953), pp. 129–
140.]
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The Ball-Point Pen Murders [1954]

Alan Winnington was a British journalist who became a reporter for the Daily
Worker in the 1940s. On travelling to the Far East in 1948, his reports, like
Burchett’s, became indispensable for anyone who wished to know what was
genuinely happening in Asia. Most notably, he was with the victorious Chinese
Communist Party leadership as the People’s Liberation Army entered Beijing
in 1949. On meeting Burchett, the two men became the only two Western
journalists reporting from Korea from the Northern side. In an extraordinary
parallel with Burchett’s experience with the Australian government, in 1954
the renewal of his British passport was refused. Like Burchett, he was said to be
a traitor, and accused of interrogation and torture of Allied POWs, and endured
abuse for reporting that germ warfare had been used against the Communists.
After Korea, Winnington spent some time in Peking, then made his base in
East Berlin where he settled in 1960.

Plain Perfidy describes some horrific cases of torture, mutilation and murder of
North Korean and Chinese prisoners at the hand of ROK (Republic of Korea)
and Kuomintang (Taiwan) agents, supervised by US Psychological Warfare
experts. Both this book and Koje Unscreened were dismissed as ‘Communist’
propaganda in some circles during the Cold War, but these abuses have since
been corroborated by other published accounts, and now seem disturbingly
plausible. On the other hand, evidence of atrocities against Allied POWs is
much scarcer; conditions for Allied prisoners were harsh early in the war, but
improved once the Chinese became involved.

∗ ∗ ∗
It was very awkward for the American Air Force. For three years
they had publicised their incessant bombing of the single road from
north to south under the charming title of ‘Operation Strangle’ and
now they had to face the possibility that the American and other
prisoners would travel down that road and provide living proof
that the air interdiction programme was indeed a ‘fizzle.’

79
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It was very awkward for the Psychological Warfare Section.
Letters to their homes, which the Army authorities had been so
unmannered as to open and read, showed that the vast majority of
American and British prisoners had nothing but good words to say
about their captors.

It was equally awkward for Eisenhower’s backroom advisers. The
Korean–Chinese offers to exchange prisoners and agree to have the
prisoner issue decided by neutrals had sent a wave of joy round
the world and made many more millions of people aware that the
Korean and Chinese desire for peace was genuine and that peace
was being prevented by Washington stubbornness.

Immediately it became plain that the sick and wounded prisoner
exchange agreement would be signed, the US Air Force developed
a frantic all-out air offensive to try to make the north-south road
impassable. Night after night aircraft were sent to attack towns and
villages along the route, with special concentration on the bridges.
Fighter-bombers flew along the route by day, bombing and rock-
eting bridges from low levels. Noting this strange increase of activ-
ity, a correspondent of the French Press Agency asked the reason
in Tokyo, and wrote on 9 April 1953, two days before the agree-
ment was signed: ‘Observers here today considered that continuous
bombing operations by the UN over North Korea were intended to
deal a heavy blow to Communist lines of communication before a
possible armistice was signed. The number of sorties flown by UN
planes yesterday was one-third larger than the average daily.’

While the American, British and other prisoners were collecting
at Pyoktong and having a series of hilarious farewell parties with
their colleagues and Chinese guards, Okinawa-based Superforts
were ranging the night skies pouring down hundreds of tons of
bombs to delay their arrival at Kaesong beyond the deadline and
thus conceal their ‘Strangle’ fiasco. As they bade farewell to their
friends, the returning ‘UN’ prisoners swore to do all in their power
to make Eisenhower keep his promise to end the Korean War and
get the other prisoners back. They said goodbye with genuine sor-
row at leaving so many friends, and set out in lorries, loaded with
provisions, fruit, beer and cigarettes, for the trip to Kaesong.

As they left, US reconnaissance planes swept the skies looking
for the red-flagged convoy, but after a two-day search were still
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admitting failure to locate it. This was another Air Force fizzle, and
as usual ‘Operation Strangle’ fizzled. The non-Korean prisoners
arrived in Kaesong three hours ahead of schedule, having been
spotted by American aircraft only at lunchtime on the last day. All
down the road, prisoners remarked on the recent bomb craters
dotting the rice paddies around bridges.

On April 12, the day following the signing of the agreement,
the Defence Department began a campaign to destroy in advance
anything the prisoners might say about their excellent treatment
as captives. In admitting that 29,000 POW letters had been opened
and ‘virtually all’ contained some statements reflecting well on
the Korean and Chinese authorities, the Defence chiefs disclosed
the real feelings of the American prisoners and their own fear. An
inner-office message to the chief of the UP Tokyo bureau said: ‘The
Army doesn’t want them spreading Communism at home, but is
well aware of the demand to get the boys home regardless of it.’
Here is already disclosed American intention to detain their own
POWs who might not say what Washington wanted.

Behind a Press ballyhoo about ‘Freedom Gate’ through which
the prisoners would step, ‘Freedom Village’ where they would
be processed, and ‘Freedom Airlift’ which would fly them home,
barbed wire cages were got ready and the Army prepared a ‘re-
orientation’ course and special planes to fly the prisoners to jails
camouflaged as ‘mental hospitals.’ There was much sinister talk
of mental sickness and psychiatric treatment, ‘brain-washing’ and
‘counter-brain-washing’, all the catchpenny phrases of the Psycho-
logical Warfare Division. This was a grotesque fraud to convince
the public that the prisoners were mentally sick and to keep any
prisoner who spoke well of the Koreans and Chinese out of sight
until he could be ‘re-oriented.’ It was clear that atrocity stories
would be required by the Army as the price for a prisoner’s return
to his family. The puppets of South Korea, unhampered by public
opinion as were the US Defence chiefs, announced that all the
returning South Korean sick and wounded would be isolated in
concentration camps for at least six months.

When the first American and British prisoners stepped out of
the Korean ambulances in the crisp April sunshine, there were
signs that the American propaganda machine was not geared for all
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possible situations. Perhaps the Americans believed their own pro-
paganda and expected to receive a similar collection of mutilated
ghosts to those they were delivering in the North. In that case, the
Press could be left to itself to wring the Stateside heartstrings. But
instead, the non-Korean and Rhee soldiers, warmly clad in quilted
clothes, stepped jauntily out, sunburned, ruddy, happy and laugh-
ing, shaking hands with their Chinese escorts, as fat and healthy
a group of sick and wounded as could be imagined. Although the
Korean–Chinese side had made the rule that any person with even a
minor leg disability had to have a stretcher, there were few stretcher
cases.

Waving and cheering happily to the pressmen, they stepped
through the ‘Freedom Gate’ into a tent, from which they emerged
a few minutes later, silent and thoughtful, like men who had sud-
denly been brought face to face with a reality they did not expect.
In that tent they had their first briefing as pawns of the American
psychological warfare experts.

Surprised, but like the prisoners not yet ‘oriented,’ the corre-
spondents at first wrote factual accounts of what they had seen.
Even with all the ‘processing’ to eliminate prisoners classified as
too ‘mentally ill’ to meet the Press, the Army could not find pris-
oners willing at short notice to tell flat lies.

Associated Press reported interviews with selected prisoners that
day, and said: ‘American soldiers returning from the Communist
prison camps told a story today of generally good treatment.’ AP
reported that prisoner Kenyon Wagner, praising his medical treat-
ment, said he had been given ‘the whole works.’ According to AP,
another prisoner, Corporal Theodore Jackson, spoke highly of the
treatment. ‘To my idea,’ he said, ‘they did fair, about the best they
could do, I think, with the medicines they had.’ AP was told by Pfc
William R. Brock, Jr., that there was no barbed wire round their
camps, they were issued with a quilt and blanket for each man, and
that their houses had floor heating. He had never seen a prisoner
ill-treated.

The returnees told of the complete religious freedom they had
in the camps for all types of religious creed. Football matches were
held all the time, with prizes given by the camp authorities. The
prisoners had their own barbers and were shaved every day. UP
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reported on the first day that a British prisoner, Arthur Hunt, said
that there was a daily sick call and all prisoners were inoculated
against various diseases. Albert Hawkins, a British prisoner, told
UP that when he left the camp the authorities had returned all his
personal belongings to him. ‘He said his feet have been “slightly
numb” for about six months, and the Chinese have been feeding
him vitamin pills,’ the UP reporter wrote.

This was coming out too much like ‘Communist propaganda.’ It
might even raise hopes of peace if allowed to continue. Something
had to be done to stop it, and something was done. United Press
Tokyo office received an urgent inner-office message from New
York:

NEED ONLY LIMITED COVERAGE ON RETURNING POWs EXCEPT
FOR TALES OF ATROCITIES AND SENSATIONS PAYETTE.

For newsmen covering the world’s biggest story of the day, such
a cable meant only one thing – at all costs get atrocity stories. The
order was obeyed. Atrocities, that was the thing! On one hand, any
prisoner who refused to join the atrocity campaign was clearly a
‘Red.’ On the other, an atrocity campaign was just what was needed
to divert public feeling away from peace.

Once United Press had started the atrocity campaign, the ‘rat
race’ was on. From that moment it was nothing but a scramble
for the bloodiest, most incredible, tear-jerking, headline-catching
lie that could be thought up and put into a prisoner’s mouth.
Behind it, the infamous Counter-Intelligence Corps (CIC) pulled
the strings. The returning prisoners were rushed to an interrogation
centre masquerading under the title of 121st Evacuation Hospital.
According to ‘UN’ pressmen, a ‘cloak of secrecy’ was flung round
the camp and all phone calls referred to the CIC. From inside
this atrocity factory, the CIC allowed fantastic inventions to leak
out, unimaginatively based on crimes committed by ‘UN’ troops in
Korea. From there, too, a few prisoners were allowed out to meet the
Press, where under batteries of Klieg lights and popping flashguns
they nervously answered ‘Yes’ or ‘No’ to loaded questions hurled
at them by scores of rabid press-wolves who sought mainly names
and addresses to lend a faint air of authenticity to already-written
sensations. Real journalists, of whom there were few enough at
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Panmunjom then, told the authors they were horrified at the way
in which the American pressmen would build an entire fabrication
on a single mumbled word given in answer to a series of loaded
questions. Not all American pressmen were willing to lend them-
selves to this palpable warmongering. State Department officials
complained to Columbia Broadcasting System that their man in
Panmunjom was not entering into the spirit of the atrocity cam-
paign. The CBS correspondent concerned told his office that he
was simply reporting what he saw and heard.

Writing of the ‘rat race’ in ‘Freedom Village,’ Munsan, Time
magazine’s correspondent said: ‘Somehow a headline-hunting
competition for “atrocity” stories had started. Most of the volu-
minous file of atrocity stories last week was highly exaggerated,
and the total impression was entirely false. Under Press interroga-
tion at Munsan, prisoners talked of cruelty only when pressed by
leading, insistent questions. Most of the prisoners said they had not
seen their comrades murdered or subjected to deliberate cruelty.
And when successive prisoners talked of deaths in the prison camps,
some newsmen piled statistic on to statistic of “atrocity deaths”
without checking how much they overlapped.’

Blandly cynical, Time puts it down to a ‘headline-hunting com-
petition’ that began ‘somehow.’ But everyone in Panmunjom knew
how it began. It was no coincidence that USIS, voice of the US State
Department, and UP led the field in peddling these fabrications.
Here was a dreadful example of press and radio manipulation by
a militarist junta in Washington to destroy the atmosphere of the
truce talks and head off the prospects of peace.

Medieval horrors based on strip-cartoon culture and suppos-
edly committed against American prisoners poured from the swift-
moving ball-point pens of more than one hundred scurrying US
pressmen. Thousands were journalistically killed and mutilated as
each scrambled for the next edition’s ‘splash.’ Although the British
Press failed to give a true picture of the exchange, on the whole it
refrained from scavenging for atrocities. Indeed, it would have been
hard for them to do so because it was already known that only a few
more than a thousand British prisoners had been declared missing
in Korea and that just below a thousand were listed as prisoners,
in good health. The US Command however made it a practice
to inflate their missing figures by including in them thousands of
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names of GIs they knew to be dead in action. This at once allowed
them to minimise their figures of killed-in-action for propaganda
purposes and also provided room for atrocity inventions.

One American prisoner who knew the whole story talked to
the authors a few hours before he was handed over. His story was
typical, but we select it because Captain M. Green, of Lawton,
Oklahoma, one of the few officers among the sick and wounded,
was captured only three weeks after the war began and went through
all the experiences of prisoner-of-war life. He was then forty-two,
old enough to judge for himself. Captain Green, captured near
Taejon, was marched north in two stages of three nights each to
Seoul (some American prisoners who marched by day had been
picked off by US fighter planes). He ate rice and fish, exactly the
same as his captors, and once during the six nights a pig was killed
for the group, which consisted of eighty men.

‘We got three meals a day,’ said Captain Green. ‘Sometimes the
planes were very active and we got two or even three meals in one.
We were hungry enough, but we couldn’t eat three meals in one. We
didn’t want to take it all. But the Korean sergeant made us. He had
his orders, I suppose. Three meals was so much rice and fish and
so we had to have it.’ From Seoul he went by train to Pyongyang
and later also by train to Manpo. ‘We rested by day, well away from
the railway tracks, and the only thing that scared us was being
strafed by our own aircraft. One badly wounded man died and we
left behind a few dysentery cases with drugs and guards. Fellows
got dysentery because they would not keep discipline. The Koreans
provided boiled water all along the route, but some fellows would
drink from the paddy fields.’ There were times when the food was
rough, said Green, but they always ate as well as or better than their
guards. ‘If different or better food wasn’t there, we couldn’t have
it. But it was enough to live on and conditions kept improving. In
my opinion there was no difference between treatment in Korean
and Chinese camps. They gave us what they could, and conditions
improved throughout.’ Green also praised the medical treatment,
the excellent sports facilities in the camps and the general care taken
of prisoners’ health and morale.

This sort of story available from any of the returning Americans
would have painted the real picture and set at rest the worried
hearts of parents whose sons still remained in the POW camps. But
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Washington policy was that all prisoners, their own and others,
were so much political capital. From their own returning men, in
whom they had never shown any previous interest, they wanted
only ‘atrocities and sensations’ to whip up pro-war hysteria among
a public long jaded by phoney ‘anti-Red’ horrors.

For those prisoners, the great majority, who refused to lend their
names to ‘atrocities or sensations,’ or who spoke well of the gener-
ous treatment of the Korean and Chinese authorities, there was the
reality of ‘Freedom’ Gate, Village and Airlift – a ‘cloak of secrecy’ and
a secret flight to the dreaded army mental home at Valley Forge.
‘Not all of the prisoners came home to banners and trumpets,’
wrote Newsweek. ‘One US-bound plane from Tokyo travelled in
nearly complete secrecy. Its passenger list was confidential . . . The
reason: some of the passengers, after “limited” screening in Tokyo,
had been tentatively listed as “victims of Communist propaganda”
– brainwashing . . . They would be given psychiatric and medical
treatment at the Valley Forge Army Hospital in Pennsylvania.’ The
patients were ‘burned up’ and so were the hospital staff, Newsweek
recorded, and stated the men were met with armed guards at the
airfield. Among them was Private Carl Kirchhausen, the first pris-
oner to be handed over in Panmunjom, and ballyhooed as the first
to reach ‘Freedom.’ What sort of ‘Freedom’ was also defined by
Associated Press in a cable from Bill Barnard. ‘In a sense they are
still “captives”,’ he wrote, but were ‘in fair condition . . . they are
held incommunicable in US Army hospitals.’ Barnard noted that
they were being interviewed ‘intensively’ by intelligence men and
even denied a 24 hours’ pass.

In an unusually revealing phrase, Time said: ‘For every man and
tired US soldier who walked or hobbled or was stretcher-borne
along the quick road home last week, there were stories to tell . . .

The price of a ticket along the quick road home was simply a story,
atrocity or sensation.’ [Emphasis added by WB.]

Reasons for this deceitful atrocity campaign were not hard to
find. For six months the Americans had tried to drag their allies
into a hotter war in Korea and into committing acts of war against
China. The pretext was ‘humanitarian tenderness’ toward Korean
and Chinese prisoners. In the end, the Koreans and Chinese had
brought them back to the conference table by means of their sincere
offer to exchange sick and wounded prisoners. In the exchange they
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had shown where real humanitarianism lay. Coupled with this, the
extreme reasonableness of Chou En-lai’s offer to reopen negotia-
tions to solve the overall prisoner issue brought warm welcomes
from every major capital of the world except Washington. Time
was needed to reshape American policy and find new stumbling
blocks. The atrocity campaign was whipped up out of nothing to
provide an excuse for holding off the resumption of talks which
Harrison had broken off six months earlier.

While General Mark Clark in Tokyo gained time by asking for
‘clarification’ of issues that needed settlement at the conference
table, Washington set loose a torrent of anti-truce propaganda.
‘Wary,’ ‘alert,’ ‘keep our powder dry’ occurred in hundreds of news
messages. Eisenhower’s administration tried to muddy the waters
by considering ‘the possibility of a future settlement of the Korean
War that would move the North–South Korean boundary some
80 miles north of the 38th Parallel.’ Republican Senate leader Taft
followed up by saying that a truce at the battle-line (which had
been already agreed) would not ‘really contribute to the peace of
the world . . .’ Van Fleet said that ‘only a crushing military victory
by the UN could bring a lasting peace in Korea.’

Nobody listened. And nobody listened to the atrocity tales except
a handful of cave-dwelling Senators who crept out of their holes to
demand an investigation, found no one listening and crept back. It
became apparent that, for the moment, the jig was up. In London,
Paris and Tokyo, correspondents were persistently asking why the
Americans refused to respond to the great effort which the Koreans
and Chinese had made to reopen the talks. ‘The 80 Press correspon-
dents who had rushed . . . from Tokyo, Hong Kong and even the
US to attend the resumed armistice talks are increasingly mystified
as to why the head of the UN delegation has not yet answered his
Communist colleagues’ letter on the subject,’ wrote AFP’s Max
Olivier on April 14.

At length Harrison answered, in a snarling note trying to set such
conditions for the resumption as would doom the talks to failure.

[Chapter 2 of Wilfred Burchett and Alan Winnington, Plain
Perfidy (Britain–China Friendship Association, London, 1954),
pp. 18–24.]
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South of the 17th Parallel [1955]

At the 1954 Geneva Conference, Vietnam was temporarily partitioned along
the 17th parallel. North of the 17th parallel was the Democratic Republic of
Vietnam, proclaimed in August 1945 by the Communist Ho Chi Minh. In the
South, the ultra-Catholic Ngo Dinh Diem, backed by the US, had replaced
France’s proxy ruler, Emperor Bao Dai. Following the Geneva Agreements,
internationally supervised elections were scheduled for July 1956 to unite the
country and elect a new government. In 1955, Burchett moved his base to
Hanoi to observe developments north of the provisional military demarcation
line in Vietnam and the implementation of the Geneva Accords.

In the Introduction to his book, Burchett states that North of the 17th
Parallel:

deals with the achievements of reconstruction, the legacy of colonialism,
the problem of moving the people’s administration from the jungle to take
over the cities and industrial centres, the immediate and long-range per-
spectives for economic progress. Application of the Geneva agreements and
the activities of the International Control Commission are analysed and the
situation south of the 17th parallel dealt with briefly. The book describes the
drama of land reform, the sweeping changes in the lives of the peasantry
and the new deal for the minority people.

It is especially directed against the professional line-freezers: those West-
ern politicians and diplomats who during the past ten years have concen-
trated their energies on creating situations favourable to drawing lines across
other people’s territories and then freezing them into semi-permanent polit-
ical boundaries. The book exposes the myth, so popular in certain circles,
that the drawing of a line to separate the combatants acted as a magic wand
to create two different Vietnams, two different peoples. It is shown that
for the Vietnam people, there is only one Vietnam just as there is only one
China, one Korea and one Germany.

∗ ∗ ∗
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Saigon at the end of 1954 was a seething cauldron in which
hissed and bubbled a witches’ brew of rival French and Ameri-
can imperialisms spiced with feudal warlordism and fascist despo-
tism. The vapours from this simmering brew obscured to a certain
extent what was really going on in this capital of ‘free’ Vietnam,
as the American psychological warfare experts hastened to call
South Vietnam after Ngo Dinh Diem was installed as supreme
dictator.

It was a city of gangsters and assassins, of shots, knife thrusts and
the strangler’s cord in the dark: a city where people spoke in whis-
pers and disappeared without leaving a trace. A mortally wounded
French imperialism struggled feebly here for breath, while hovering
vulture-like overhead, American imperialism waited the chance to
kill and pick clean the bones.

Fifty paces from the city’s most luxurious hotel, Vietnam families
lived in shelves on the waterfront piers, packed in like bolts of cloth
with not enough headroom to sit upright and just enough frontage
for two adults and a child to huddle together with water lapping
over the floorboards at high tide.

In the main street linking Saigon with its twin Cholon, a taxi-
rank and refreshment stalls outside, was what French troops called
the ‘meat-market’, a brothel for the use of the Expeditionary Corps
where between two and three hundred girls stood around, jammed
into an enclosed courtyard to be inspected by the customers.
African non-coms seated at the doorway handed out prophylactic
kits as the soldiers trooped in (a ‘superior’ mirror-lined estab-
lishment with two hundred girls had just been completed for the
anticipated influx of American personnel).Luxury limousines and
military trucks raced cheek by jowl down the main streets, killing
daily on the average slightly more than one Saigon citizen and
knocking down another twenty-three, of whom between three and
four were gravely injured. The French seemed conscious that the
sands were running out and it was necessary to do everything in
frantic haste.

Gaudy neon signs invited one to drink and dance from mid-
night to dawn, and the most expensive bars and restaurants had
grenade-proof grilles. Beautifully lit and decorated shopfronts in
Rue Catinat and Boulevard Gallieni displayed luxury articles from
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Paris, mountains of imported foods and wines, silks, nylons, radios,
refrigerators – but little which had any relation to Vietnamese needs
or purchasing power.

‘Free’ Vietnam, as one found by the blank columns in the first
newspaper one picked up on arrival at Saigon, was heavily cen-
sored, and even publishing the strictly censored news and articles
did not prevent papers being suppressed by the government at
the rate of two or three monthly. A few minutes after I arrived at
Saigon airfield aboard an International Commission plane in mid-
November 1954, black-painted bombers were roaring off the field
and after them paratroop-carrying transports. South of the 17th
parallel, people were still being killed in battle four months after
the ceasefire agreements were signed . . .

The streets were full of beggars. The Municipal Theatre oppo-
site the Continental Hotel – Saigon’s second-best – was filthy and
crammed with Catholic unfortunates from the North, who had
believed the fables of excommunication and certain death from
atom bombs if they remained in the North, and of lush rice-fields
and buffalo, fishing boats and nets awaiting them in the South.
Instead they found filth, hostility and beggary, an invitation to
stand in the ‘meat market’ for the young and pretty women, and
for the men, if they were young and strong, the choice between
a rifle and uniform in Diem’s army or a slave job in the rubber
plantations – beggary and starvation for the rest.

If one sat at a boulevard cafe for ten minutes, a score of young
beggars or street hawkers clustered around, mutely holding out
their hands or placing their pitiful wares on the table. They passed
in an interminable procession. It was one of the latter who clandes-
tinely sold me, at double the normal price, a copy of Time magazine.
Why clandestinely? Because there was a portrait of Ho Chi Minh on
the cover. Despite the slanderous, illiterate rigmarole about Presi-
dent Ho inside, the issue was banned by Ngo Dinh Diem. All copies
except a few already sold were seized from the news stands until the
scandal of suppressing Time, major propaganda organ of Diem’s
real masters, was so great that the US ambassador intervened to
have the ban lifted. All copies were then sold out in a few hours.
Few regular European customers got any, but for days following
the lifting of the ban one saw Vietnamese in Saigon streets with
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President Ho’s portrait under their arms – protected by the magic
word ‘Time’.

General Lawton Collins had arrived in Saigon as special United
States ambassador. Designated by the American press as General
‘Lightnin’ Joe’ Collins, he was a special ambassador because he had
the ‘special’ task of transforming ‘free’ Vietnam into an American
military base and making it safe for American investments. His
predecessor Donald Heath (previously declared persona non grata
in Bulgaria for his flagrant interference in that country’s internal
affairs), had been withdrawn from Saigon because he had recom-
mended the removal from office of Ngo Dinh Diem, regarded by
Heath as incompetent to implement American plans.

Collins held a press conference two weeks after his arrival in
which he somewhat brutally informed the foreign and Vietnam
press, that Diem was the one and only figure in South Vietnam’s
political life that Collins and the American government was pre-
pared to support, and that despite French objections (and the
Geneva Agreements), the USA was going to take over the train-
ing and equipping of the South Vietnam army. There were some
remarkable features about this conference. ‘Lightnin’ Joe’ Collins
spoke as the assured master in his own house. Although the major-
ity of journalists present were Vietnamese, the conference was con-
ducted in English with no translation.

A Vietnamese correspondent who put two variations of the ques-
tion as to whether the USA would be prepared to support a gov-
ernment that was nationalist, anti-Communist but not headed by
Diem, was rudely silenced: ‘Now you’ve had enough to say, young
fella’. When the General was asked what he thought of Vietnam, he
put his thumbs together and said, ‘Waal, I’ve always had the great-
est admiration for the Vietnam people and their culture. Now . . .

er, . . . take the ruins of Angkor Wat for instance – one of the great
monuments of civilisation . . .’ ‘Lightnin’ Joe’ of course was getting
the rooms of his house mixed up in confusing South Vietnam with
another object of US interference – Cambodia.

Collins’ forthright announcement that the American Stars and
Stripes were going to replace the French Tricouleur [sic] in South
Vietnam greatly inspired American investors. During the month
that followed his press conference, carpetbaggers arrived with every
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plane. Businesses and real estate began to change hands at a rapid
rate. The sellers were French, the buyers Americans. The latter paid
two years’ rent on flats and houses and never questioned the figure –
their piastres were all obtained on the black market.

The Collins’ plan which inspired so much confidence in Ameri-
can investors, was to implant Diem solidly as an American puppet
on the basis of what was known as the Philippines’ experience.
Diem was not a popular figure – that everybody knew, including
the personnel of the American Embassy. It was not necessary that
he be popular, only that he be a dictator, capable of implement-
ing US policies. And if he were shaky as a dictator, then by God,
the USA and General Collins would make him solid, unshakeable
and irremovable. General ‘Lightnin’ Joe’ Collins after a lightning-
quick look at the situation evolved his plan. He had arrived with
pre-fabricated ideas, formed by newspaper reports from politically
illiterate American journalists and agents of the American mil-
itary and political intelligence apparatus. The latter were scared
to reveal anything resembling the truth, in case they should later
become targets for McCarthy and other ‘un-American activities’
committees. The example of witch hunts against colleagues who
ten years previously had sent reasonably objective reports on the
situation in Kuomintang China was still too fresh in the minds of
US State Department personnel to permit any real home-truths
being reported back to Washington from Vietnam or anywhere
else. So, for General Collins, it was a military problem of ‘cleaning
up the Reds the way we did in the Philippines,’ and building solid
props and stout wires for the chosen puppet, Ngo Dinh Diem.

South Vietnam should be made really ‘free’ by cleaning it up,
province by province from south to north, from all ‘Vietminh’
elements. As the ‘Vietminh’ were cleaned out, a new pro-Diem
administration would be installed. A certain amount of land would
be divided up, some schools, shops and cinemas built, enough to
keep the people quiet. And in case the people did not like this, por-
tions of Diem’s new Collins-created military repressive machinery
would be left behind in each province to maintain ‘order.’ By the
time the country was cleaned up to the 17th parallel, with Ameri-
can nylon stockings, soaps, powdered eggs, comic strips and tech-
nicolour films keeping the people quiet, nobody would dream of
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wanting unification with the North. And if they were so stupid
as still to want it, then by God, the machinery would be there to
stop them. American efficiency would take over from French mud-
dling and make the colony a paying proposition. With such a stable
base and the United States training and equipping the new army,
the US psychological warfare department softening up the North
with radio broadcasts and hosts of infiltrated agents, ‘free’ Viet-
nam would soon be in a position to clean up the North as well.
No need for any elections to unify the country. It should be uni-
fied in a way guaranteeing ‘democracy, Christianity and individual
freedom’.

If an adviser dared mention possible difficulties with other ele-
ments apart from the ‘Vietminh’ – the armed religious-political
sects, for instance – Collins had an answer to that also. There are
three sects. Give Diem a fourth, a Catholic super-sect with an armed
force bigger than all the rest put together, trained and equipped by
the US. Purge the army of all pro-French elements, and create a new
pro-American machine. Diem is a Catholic in a Buddhist country
hostile to Catholicism. Bring the Catholics down from the North by
every possible means and put them into a Diem-American uniform.
Kick the French and the pro-French out of military and adminis-
trative positions. Be a little rough with them. Make an example of
a few and frighten the rest. If – and it is unlikely – anyone whis-
pered that ‘cleaning up’ the Vietminh was a violation of the ‘no
reprisals’ clause of the Geneva Agreement, Collins undoubtedly
replied ‘To hell with the Geneva Agreement. That’s not our affair.
We never signed it. Diem never signed it. What have we got to worry
about?’

It was another of those diabolical plans, like the Hoa My con-
centration camp, that must have looked clear and feasible to the
machine-like mind of the former US army chief of staff, General
Lawton Collins, whose studies of Vietnamese history had not
gone beyond the Angkor Wat ruins in Cambodia. But it did not
work. Collins found it was not so easy to slip from feudalism to
a streamlined fascism in one step, especially after an important
proportion of the population had some experience of democracy
in the resistance areas. A machine could be created. Repression
could be – and was – intensified. Assassination committees started



94 Rebel Journalism

work. But Collins kept tripping over bits of machinery created
by previous imperialist adventurers in Vietnam. There were the
religious-political sects armed by the French against the Thais, by
the Japanese against the French, by the French against the resistance.
There were sect leaders who in return for the support of one side or
the other had been armed and given virtually autonomous regions
where they ruled supreme, collected head-taxes from the popu-
lation under their control, transit taxes from anyone who passed
through their domains and customs taxes on goods that entered
and left their areas. Diem’s authority – despite Collins’ plan – could
not be exercised in these areas, without major military operations.
And Collins’ orders to purge the army resulted in the multiplication
of minor warlords in the form of officers, who rather than await
the assassin’s knife or the purge order, broke away with units up
to battalion size and carved out small fiefs for themselves, defying
Diem’s attempts to liquidate them.

On top of all this, over three million of South Vietnam’s pop-
ulation, one third of the total, had been used to the democratic
administration of the resistance areas. Two million of them had
been in a solidly liberated area ever since the August 1945 uprising.
Diem could assassinate or remove the chairman of a village or dis-
trict council, but the people demanded elections for a replacement.
At first Diem agreed but his candidates were always defeated. After
that elections were suppressed and Diem nominated replacements,
but real authority remained with those trusted by the people during
the resistance days.

Within two months of his arrival, Collins was already throwing
up his hands in despair. Despite the knocking together of a Diem
military machine, despite the anti-guerilla ‘experts’ imported from
the Philippines, including a sinister Colonel Lansdale of the US psy-
chological warfare department, the real problem of making Diem’s
authority function and Diem and America acceptable to the peo-
ple of South Vietnam remained unsolved. By the end of December
1954, Collins was in despair. American investors were having sec-
ond thoughts and the tempo of their purchases had dropped con-
siderably. Members of the multitudinous American diplomatic,
military, psychological warfare, economic and propaganda agen-
cies in Saigon were blaming the French for their difficulties, the
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French were chuckling and saying openly: ‘You were going to
show us how to run the show. Now look at the mess you’re in.’
Collins returned to Washington and recommended the removal
of Diem. But this was just what the powerful pro-Cardinal Spell-
mann clique in the State Department were determined to oppose
at all costs. Diem must stay, and Collins was sent back again with
orders to ensure the puppet’s stability (Collins’ renewed insistence
three months later that the task was impossible, and Diem must be
replaced, led instead to Collins being sacked like his predecessor,
Donald Heath).

American experiments in grafting a streamlined fascist dicta-
torship on to the shaky feudal structure of South Vietnam were
paid for by the blood of thousands of former resistance work-
ers in South Vietnam. In Saigon-Cholon in May 1955 hundreds
of innocent civilians, including women and children, were indis-
criminately slaughtered as Franco-American rivalry broke out in
armed clashes between the American trained and equipped troops
of Diem and the French supported troops of the Binh Xuyen sect.
The Americans were determined to enforce Diem’s effective dicta-
torship, at least over Saigon-Cholon. Hundreds more were slaugh-
tered as Collins’ policy of reprisals against former members of the
resistance forces was applied. One of the first cases of this sort to
be brought to the notice of the International Commission after the
arrival of Collins was an incident at Binh Thanh, on the Mekong
River in Long Xuyen province. A Commission team arrived there
on 8 December 1954. They had been notified that a short time pre-
viousIy seventy-four villagers had been arrested on the pretext that
they had supported the resistance. Twenty-four of them were said
to have been executed, after which their bodies had been burned
and the ashes thrown into the Mekong River.

Lodged by the French in a motorboat anchored offshore in the
Mekong River, it was very difficult for the Commission team to
make contact with the population. The village was full of Diem
troops, with machine-gun posts mounted at every crossroads, guns
pointing towards the houses. With the team constantly surrounded
by Diem’s soldiers it was not surprising that most villagers were
afraid to answer any questions. But by the end of the first day’s
activities, seven had come forward and confirmed that there had
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been mass arrests and executions. They stated also that people had
been threatened with death if they testified before the Commission.

Next morning the bodies of two of the seven witnesses were
found, including an old woman who had been beheaded and dis-
embowelled. The others, it was found, had been arrested, including
a mother with two children who had approached the commission
about the arrest of her husband. A boy of 17 had also been detained
because he was found with a letter addressed to the Commission
in his pocket.

While the team members aboard the motorboat were discussing
what to do next, a canoe paddled by three men appeared out of the
mists. The occupants asked if their security could be guaranteed if
they came alongside. A French liaison officer gave the assurance,
and the three men said they had come on behalf of some other
villagers who wanted to approach the Commission but were afraid
of reprisals. Assurances were given and the three men disappeared
again into the mists. An hour later a flotilla of no less than ninety-
five small sampans bore down the river with almost five hundred
peasants aboard. They had been hiding in the rice-fields for over
a week because of the massacres in Binh Thanh village and were
frightened to return as long as it was in the hands of Diem’s troops.
They confirmed with minute details the story of the arrests, mas-
sacres and disposal of the bodies.

All the Commission’s inspection team could do in such cases was
to make notes and an eventual report to the chief delegates, with a
subsequent note from the latter to the French High Command. The
Binh Thanh incident was typical of many others investigated and
verified by teams of the International Commission in the South . . .

One could occasionally find a reflection of the endless massacres
and assassinations even in the heavily censored Saigon press. Thus
Tien Chuong [The Bell] in its issue of 13 December 1954, com-
mented:

This atmosphere of insecurity must be done away with. The cannon
of war are silenced. In theory the people should be able to enjoy the
blessings of peace and security. But in the countryside tragic incidents
occur very often . . . in the course of which the peasants must always
pay with their lives and belongings. The number of such incidents
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reported in the papers does not at all correspond to the real truth.
Because many of the events take place far from Saigon, they often go
unreported. In the city itself, the same insecurity reigns. Armed hold-
ups, blackmail and cases of rape are reported daily and are becoming
more and more frequent. This must cease . . .

And Tin Moi [New Information] on the same day, commenting
on the fact that tens of thousands of peasants had fled from the
countryside to the comparative calm of Saigon during the war, and
still could find no security in their villages, wrote:

It is urgent to help the return of our peasants to the countryside so
they can get back to the land and step up food production. After nine
years of bitter war, during which they came to seek a more peaceful life
in the cities, our peasants are now happy to return to their ricefields.
Unfortunately the first hopes and enthusiasms of many of them have
been dashed to the ground. They have found it very difficult to restart
their life in the villages. There are thousands of unexpected difficulties
which they cannot overcome alone. They need to have their personal
security assured, a little capital to help them at least buy a few imple-
ments, some seed, a buffalo, something to eat until the first harvest is
reaped. Above all they need security permitting them to live and work
in peace . . .

Instead of the incidents and massacres ceasing, as Tien Chuong
and Tin Moi demanded, they increased, and it was the newspapers
that criticised events which soon had to cease publication. Up to the
end of July 1955 – that is the first twelve months of peace – according
to incomplete figures forwarded by Vo Nguyen Giap to the Inter-
national Commission, there had been over three thousand cases of
reprisals against former resistance supporters in South Vietnam,
resulting in over six thousand killed, wounded and missing and
more than twenty-five thousand arrested. Added to these dread-
ful figures are an estimated seven thousand killed and twice that
number wounded in the three months starting May 1955, when
Diem’s ‘National’ army attacked the Binh Xuyen sect and subse-
quently the Hoa Hao forces of Tran Van Soai and Ba Cut.

Reprisals, massacres, assassinations, a civil war designed to elim-
inate minor dictators and establish Diem as the sole, supreme
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dictator – this was one side of the face of ‘free’ Vietnam, as it
emerged under American tutelage and the Collins’ plan. The other
side was the total suppression of anything remotely resembling the
democratic liberties provided for under Article 14c of the Geneva
Agreements. Any activity in opposition to the government, in sup-
port of the Geneva Agreements, was regarded as treason. Political
parties in opposition to Diem were banned and their leaders assas-
sinated or arrested. This included even leaders of parties like the
reactionary Dai Viet (Greater Vietnam Party), which by early 1955
was forced into armed opposition to Diem. Newspapers operated
under a drastic censorship and publishing only censored material
was no guarantee against having the paper closed down for two or
three months or permanently without any reason. All the commit-
tee members of the Saigon-Cholon Peace Movement, formed to
struggle for implementation of the Geneva Agreements and which
included Saigon’s best known intellectuals, were arrested. Amongst
the main proofs of their ‘treasonable’ activities was their publication
of the statutes and rules of the Movement and the text of the Geneva
Agreements. Due to strong pressure of public opinion, the fact that
every magistrate but one in Saigon refused to try the accused, and
International Commission interest in the case, the members were
never brought to trial – but were exiled from Saigon in forced
residence.

Likewise arrested were members of a committee coordinat-
ing over two hundred organisations in Saigon-Cholon including
religious bodies, trade unions, professional and sports associa-
tions, women’s and youth organisations, almost every organised
body in the twin cities, set up to aid the victims of the fighting
between Diem’s forces and the Binh Xuyen in May 1955. Over
two thousand Saigon-Cholon homes had been destroyed and forty
thousand people made homeless. The committee organised
volunteer Sunday working parties in which tens of thousands of
people took part, clearing away debris and helping rebuild the
homes. But such ‘subversive’ social activities could not be tolerated.
It was disbanded by Diem police action and its leading members
arrested.

Special press regulations were issued in February 1955 warning
against the use of the words ‘democracy, independence and liberty.’
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The performance of folk songs and dances was banned on the
grounds that they were ‘Vietminh’ inspired. Listening to Radio
Hanoi was also forbidden. An item published by the official South
Vietnam news agency on 24 August 1955 illustrates the quality of
‘freedom’ in ‘free Vietnam.’

‘For some time’, reported a Vietnam Presse bulletin, ‘the police
have been on the track of a Vietminh propaganda organisation in
favour of elections in 1956. Their method was to try and persuade
people to listen in to Radio Hanoi and to arrange special meetings
amongst “friends” for this purpose . . . After lengthy enquiries,
the agents were recently surprised in a bar at one of their secret
meetings. The owner was taken to the police station and the clos-
ing of the establishment immediately ordered.’ It is one of hun-
dreds of such examples proving that advocating unity or adher-
ence to the Geneva Agreements was a punishable crime in ‘free’
Vietnam.

Democracy and freedom in their most elemental forms were
trampled underfoot. And there was no one to turn to for relief.
Those who presented petitions to the International Commission for
the release of relatives wrongfully arrested were themselves arrested
or simply disappeared. In scores of cases they were assassinated. The
Diem police arrested people at the very gates of the International
Commission’s Saigon Secretariat, at 141 Rue de Champagne. A for-
mer Minister of Justice, a wealthy lawyer, was arrested and interro-
gated on three separate occasions solely because his car had once
been seen outside the Saigon Secretariat.

All this was done in the name of preserving liberty and democ-
racy in ‘free’ Vietnam. In an age when the US psychological warfare
department and other organs have all but killed noble words like
democracy, liberty and freedom, it was still a shock to many people
that ‘free’ Vietnam, the regime south of the 17th parallel, could
be commended openly by the US State Department for refusing
to discuss elections with the government of the DRVN because
the latter was ‘totalitarian’ and there was no ‘freedom or democ-
racy’ in the North. True ‘freedom’ existed only in the South. In
fact, the form of the regime of Ngo Dinh Diem is that of the most
rigid, personal, totalitarian dictatorship that exists anywhere in the
world today. American arms, dollars and ‘know-how’ are being
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employed to the maximum to give it the content of a modern,
streamlined fascist State. In ‘free’ Vietnam there are not even any
of the trappings and camouflage of democracy with which Amer-
ican imperialism decorated its puppet Syngman Rhee regime in
South Korea. The Americans it is true put pressure on Diem to
hold at least some sort of elections, to set up a National Assembly
and create a facade of legality for his regime. With their expe-
rience of faking elections in South Korea and other places, the
American advisers assured Diem he would have nothing to fear.
Diem promised to do this and several times announced the date by
which elections in the South would take place. But he is afraid to
take the risk, even with the modern organs of repression now put
in his hands by the Americans. After setting a date for February,
then August and finally for December 1955, in the end he told the
Americans that it was impossible. The danger of defeat was too
great.

The only elected government and the only National Assem-
bly in all of Vietnam is the National Assembly of the DRVN,
the government headed by President and Prime Minister Ho Chi
Minh . . .

It only remains to add one last quote from the Time correspon-
dents’ story – and with Time’s connections with the State Depart-
ment and the upper crust of the Republican party, no journalist
was better qualified to describe the intimate Diem–American rela-
tions at Saigon. The article illustrates who are the real masters in
‘free’ Vietnam, who the real instigators of the massacres and ago-
nies of the South Vietnamese people. Describing Diem as he faced
a typical crisis (it was the period when Collins was convinced of
the incompetence of Diem, but pro-Cardinal Spellmann zealots
in the various American missions at Saigon, including General
O’Daniel, in charge of training and equipping Diem’s troops, were
urging the puppet premier to liquidate his opponents by armed
action) the Saigon Time correspondent reported: ‘An odd proces-
sion passed in and out of the palace doors for hours on end to deal
with the crisis – three of the man’s brothers, one in the cloth of
a Roman Catholic Bishop, his beautiful politics-minded sister-in-
law; US diplomats and US military officers in mufti, eye-rubbing
ministers of state summoned from their sleep for emergency con-
sultations . . . Through US influence he finally won . . . US aid and
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advice gradually began to take hold . . .’ The article might well have
been headed ‘Profile of a Puppet’.

This then is the man presented by the Americans themselves as
the champion of ‘Free’ Vietnam. With a final piece of advice, the
Time article urges Diem to steer clear of general elections as ‘neither
mathematically nor politically is “free” Vietnam remotely ready for
the contest . . .’

Small wonder that this foreign-imposed despot dictator was uni-
versally hated and despised in the South, that all eyes and ears were
turned towards the North, and that people counted the days till
elections should be held to unify the country as stipulated under
the Geneva Agreements.

My last contact in the South, where the government of ‘free’
Vietnam had withdrawn my facilities to cable stories critical of
the regime and had refused to grant me further visas to report
the activities of the International Commission, was with a certain
Mr Hoang Van Co, director of ‘Vietnam Presse’, the official news
agency and as such, chief mouthpiece of the Diem regime. Like
all other informed people, including American officials in Saigon,
he did not bother to deny that ninety per cent of people in the
South looked towards the government of President Ho Chi Minh
for their salvation. ‘This is because people in the South don’t know
Communism as yet’, he explained. ‘They still have their illusions
about it. It is our duty to protect them from the harsh realities’.
His formula for ‘protecting’ the people, of course, was to refuse to
allow them to decide for themselves by free elections what sort of
government they wanted.

And how did he see developments if there were no elections?
Did he believe a people that had fought so heroically for nine years
would sit with bowed heads and folded arms because a foreign-
imposed despot said their country was to remain divided?

‘We’ll fight to the last against elections but the Vietminh will
probably take over anyway,’ replied this astounding cynic who was
typical of the collaborators Diem had gathered around him, ‘and
as for me – when that happens I’ll be well away in Paris or New
York.’

How would the ‘Vietminh’ take over? ‘Infiltration,’ he said,
adding darkly, ‘They are here already. They are everywhere. Take
my office. I can trust no one. Everything of importance I have to
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do personally. If I continue the way I’m working now, in another
six months I’ll have tuberculosis.’ When I pointed out that in the
North many cadres, by their sacrifices during the resistance war,
were in fact stricken with tuberculosis, he shrugged his shoulders
and said, ‘Not for me.’

I asked him why ‘Vietnam Presse’ distributed so many supple-
mentary articles taken from the world press, attacking the Soviet
Union.

‘The Americans insist that we attack Communism’, he replied.
‘USIS (United States Information Service) sends us many articles
attacking the Vietminh and China but we can’t even distribute
them. No one would publish them. But BIS (British Information
Service) is cleverer. They know the Soviet Union is much further
away and they send us articles attacking the Soviet Union which we
can distribute. Even then most editors won’t publish them but at
least this keeps the Americans happy because they see our agency
does its best to fight the Communists.’

When I expressed skepticism that with all the machinery in their
hands they were not able to assure the publication of anti-Vietminh
articles he said ‘Editors fear physical liquidation.’ This was of course
nonsense, but I found that the circulation of newspapers which
attacked the government of President Ho quickly fell away to noth-
ing and the only way of maintaining a high circulation in Saigon
was to find some way, no matter how camouflaged, of attacking
Diem and his regime. This was usually done by exposing the cor-
ruption and the shocking conditions under which the majority of
the population was living. Thus Buoi Sang [Morning] wrote in its
issue of 26 August 1955:

It needs volumes to describe how the poor are living in this city, with
the sky as their mosquito net and the ground as their sleeping mat.
They litter the pavements, huddle under the arches of the bridges and
in nooks and crannies of the market places. They are people who have
toiled all their lives but are homeless and have neither anything to eat
nor anything to wear . . . Able-bodied persons have become beggars,
many young girls find no other outlet but prostitution.

Anh Sang [Light] takes up the same theme with a despatch on
30 August 1955:
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3: President Ho Chi Minh, Hanoi, 1966

The weather is already sweltering, the stench of filth unbearable.
There is one smell in particular, stinking and rancid. Shrunken chil-
dren, their bodies covered with dirt and filth, sweat streaming down
their temples, are raking away with their fingers at rubbish heaps,
plunging in their hands. Occasionally they pull out a broken bot-
tle or a twisted can. Young women brush the dirt off old bread-
crusts or tuck sticky condensed milk tins into bags hanging from their
hips. The sun beats down, hotter and hotter. The flies swarm in the
clouds . . .
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It was impossible during two visits I paid to Saigon to find any-
one, even in the upper ranks of those paid by Diem and the Amer-
icans to popularise the regime, who had any faith in the dictator
or the regime they served. Among the broadest sections of the
population on the other hand, one found a unanimous desire to
end the dictatorship and unify the country by democratic means.
One found also among the ordinary people a rather touching faith
that the great powers who had negotiated the Geneva Agreements
would ensure fulfilment of the provisions for unification by free,
general elections. It was this belief that enabled them to endure
with stoicism and discipline, the terrors of the American-imposed
Diem dictatorship.

[From Chapter 13 of North of the 17th Parallel (‘Published by the
Author’, Hanoi, 1955), pp. 283–309.]
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Front-line Village [1959]

At the 1954 Geneva conference to end the conflicts in Korea and Indochina the
world suddenly discovered that Indochina was in fact three distinct countries
inhabited by people of different races and cultures, each with its own individual
language and writing. Though Burchett wrote much more about Vietnam, he
produced two books about Cambodia and Laos, Mekong Upstream and The
Second Indochina War. The former, written in 1957, combines Burchett’s eye
for the exotic with his political insights.

His Introduction states that ‘the main purpose of this book is to introduce
Cambodia and Laos, their people and their leaders, to those who, like the
author, only recently discovered them, but who sympathise entirely with their
aspirations to build up a new life in peace and free from outside interference
or threats of interference. The book is the fruit of three visits to Cambodia and
Laos, during which the author was an eyewitness to the vigorous way in which
the peoples of these countries – each in their own way – resisted the attempts
to reshackle them with the fetters of colonialism.’

∗ ∗ ∗
By the time we had reached the outskirts of the village, women were
seated at their weaving frames under the houses or at their spinning
wheels on the platforms which project from all Lao Lum homes.
The track climbed steeply. Where the terraced fields ended abruptly
in a wall of undergrowth, sliced only by the foaming stream, we
were already hundreds of feet above the valley floor. Soon the valley
was entirely blotted out and there was left only a shallow green tun-
nel through the jungle, occasionally opening out into magnificent
natural gothic archways. Lined with noble pillars of iron woods,
oil trees and other jungle giants, they were laced together with
broad-leaved creepers.

105
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It was a day similar to many others. Often we managed in a
dawn-to-dusk march to clamber up and down only one of the
ridges which separated the valleys. Sometimes we managed two or
even three. On this day, as our guide had planned, by half an hour
before sunset we had slithered down from the jungle on an abrupt
rocky path into a broad valley. Our destination for the night lay
ahead of us – a bamboo and thatch village, houses high up on piles
and surrounded by banana and areca palms. The stream which
had been a leaping, foaming fury a few hours before now lay in
placid, sunfilled pools into which naked children were jumping and
splashing. A few score paces upstream, fishermen were standing on
rocks intently regarding the water and now and again throwing a
weighted net and leaping in after it to secure the fish. On platforms
flooded with sunlight at the end of the thatched homes, women
were twirling their spinning wheels and in the last moments of the
day, their men sat with them, contentedly puffing at bubble pipes.
As our convoy crossed the swaying bamboo bridges spanning the
stream and bringing us among their houses, the men and women
abandoned their pipes and spinning wheels to gather around and
welcome us . . .

When I asked about living conditions, the villagers were silent;
but after a pause, they nudged one of their number into speaking.
He was Pham Sik, a small, round-headed man with deep furrows
across his forehead and a back bent with hard work. He looked
much older than his thirty years.

‘Before I tell you about our life now,’ he said, ‘I will tell you how
it was before.’

In this part of the country, each village had a nai ban (chief). Under
him were two thao khoun. One of the thao khoun neither paid taxes
nor did he go on corvee. The other paid taxes but did not go on
corvee. They were nominated by the tasseng (sub-district chief who
was appointed by the French). The nai ban had three times as much
land as the rest of us. The thao khoun had twice as much. We had to
work the land for the nai ban. He did nothing except collect taxes and
bring us in for corvee. We paid 120 piastres (then about twenty-five
shillings) for every member of the family as head tax, 70 piastres for
the paddy-field, 30 for the jungle patch, 5 piastres for each alcohol jar
and 3 for each of the children who did not drink.


